Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

LBL Publications

Title

Climate Impact of Primary Plastic Production

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6cc1g99q

Authors

Karali, Nihan Khanna, Nina Shah, Nihar

Publication Date

2024-04-12

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed



Sustainable Energy and Environmental Systems Energy Analysis and Environment Impacts Division Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

Climate Impact of Primary Plastic Production

Nihan Karali, Nina Khanna, Nihar Shah

April 2024



Disclaimer

This document was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. While this document is believed to contain correct information, neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor the Regents of the University of California, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by its trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or the Regents of the University of California. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof, or the Regents of the University of California.

Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory is an equal opportunity employer.

Copyright Notice

This manuscript has been authored by an author at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231 with the U.S. Department of Energy. The U.S. Government retains, and the publisher, by accepting the article for publication, acknowledges that the U.S. Government retains a non-exclusive, paid-up, irrevocable, world-wide license to publish or reproduce the published form of this manuscript, or allow others to do so, for U.S. Government purposes.

Acknowledgements

The work described in this study was conducted at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory and supported by Resources Legacy Fund (through Bloomberg Philanthropies Beyond Petrochemicals Campaign) and the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

The authors thank the following experts for reviewing this report. Any remaining errors or omissions are our own.

Alex Lekov	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
Jibran Zuberi	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
Sarah Nordahl	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
Thomas Hendrickson	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
Andres Del Castillo	Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)
Daniela Duran	Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)
Dennis Clare	Institute for Energy and Climate Strategies
Fanran Meng	Carbon Clarity in the Global Petrochemical Supply
	Chain (C-THRU)
Joe Cresko	U.S. Department of Energy (DOE)
Neil Tangri	Global Alliance for Incinerator Alternatives (GAIA)
Steven Feit	Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)
Tim Grabiel	Environmental Investigation Agency (EIA)

Table of Contents

Ackno	owledgements	. 1
Abstra	nct	. 1
Execu	tive summary	. 1
1.	Introduction	. 1
2.	Methodology	. 5
	2.1. Polyethylene	. 8
	2.1.1. Low-Density Polyethylene	. 8
	2.1.2. Linear Low-Density Polyethylene	11
	2.1.3. High-Density Polyethylene	14
	2.2. Polypropylene	17
	2.3. Polyethylene Terephthalate	20
	2.4. Polyvinyl chloride	24
	2.5. Polystyrene, Styrene Acrylonitrile, and Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene	28
	2.6. Polyurethane	34
3.	Production processes and technologies	39
	3.1. Product shaping processes	39
	3.1.1. Blow molding	39
	3.1.2. Injection molding	40
	3.1.3. Film extrusion	40
	3.1.4. Other extrusion	40
	3.1.5. Fiber	40
	3.1.6. Thermoforming	41
	3.2. Polymerization processes	41
	3.3. Monomer production processes	42
	3.3.1. Monomers	42
	3.3.2. Production of monomers	43
	3.4. Hydrocarbon refining and processing	46
	3.4.1. Energy consumption and GHG emissions from petroleum refineries and natural gas	
	processing facilities	48
	3.4.2. Benzene, toluene and p-xylene production	49
	3.5. Other chemicals production (non-hydrocarbon)	51
	3.5.1. Methanol production	51
	3.5.2. Ammonia	52
	3.6. Extraction and mining (of fossil fuels)	52
4.	Scenarios	53
5.	Results	55
	5.1. Global GHG emissions from primary plastic production	55
	5.2. Detailed GHG emission results for individual polymers	62
6.	Conclusion	72

References	
SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDICES	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	

Table of Figures

Figure ES- 1. Distribution of global plastic production by plastic polymer in 20192
Figure ES- 2. GHG emissions from primary plastic production by plastic polymer type in 20194
Figure ES- 3. GHG emissions shares of plastic production stages in 20195
Figure ES- 4. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019 and 2050 under BAU No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios
Figure 1. Distribution of global plastic production by polymer and application type in 2019
Figure 2. Production stages of the plastics value chain
Figure 3. Production stages of primary plastics with material details.
Figure 4. LDPE production value chain and material flow chart9
Figure 5. Share of different manufacturing processes used for LDPE products in this analysis10
Figure 6. LLDPE production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 7. Share of different manufacturing processes used for LLDPE products in this analysis
Figure 8. HDPE production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 9. Share of different manufacturing processes used for HDPE products in this analysis
Figure 10. PP production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 11. Share of different manufacturing processes used for PP products in this analysis
Figure 12. PET production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 13. Share of different manufacturing processes assumed for PET products in this analysis
Figure 14. PVC production value chain and material flow chart25
Figure 15. Share of of different types used for PVC products in this analysis
Figure 16. PS production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 17. SAN&ABS production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 18. Share of different types of PS products in this analysis
Figure 19. PU production value chain and material flow chart
Figure 20. Share of different types of PU products
Figure 21. Distribution of global propylene production by production process type in 2019
Figure 22. Shares of petroleum refining emissions by source
Figure 23. Projections for plastic demand growth
Figure 24. a) GHG emissions from primary plastic production by polymer type in 2019, b) GHG emission intensity of primary plastic polymers by polymer type
Figure 25. GHG emissions shares of plastic production stages in 2019
Figure 26. GHG emissions from global production of primary plastics, compared to global production of iron and steel and cement sectors
Figure 27. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019 and 2050 under BAU No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios
Figure 28. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019-2050 under BAU with decarbonized grid scenarios, compared to BAU with constant power grid scenarios
Figure 29. GHG emissions from LDPE, LLDPE, HDPE, PP, PET, PVC, PS, SAN&ABS, and PU production between 2020 and 2050 with production stage details
Figure 30. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global LDPE production in 2019

Figure 31. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global LLDPE production in 2019	65
Figure 32. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global HDPE production in 2019	65
Figure 33. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PP production in 2019	. 66
Figure 34. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PET production in 2019	. 68
Figure 35. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PVC production in 2019	. 69
Figure 36. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PS production in 2019	.70
Figure 37. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global SAN and ABS production in 2019	.71
Figure 38. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PU production in 2019.	.72
Figure A.1. Distribution of global finished plastic products in 2019, by polymer and application type	.92
Figure A.2. Plastic demand between 2019 and 2050 per polymer type, assumed in the 2.5% annual growth scenario.	.97
Figure A.3. CO2 intensity of electricity generation between 2019 and 2050 under decarbonized grid assumed in this analysis	98

Table of Tables

Table ES- 1. BAU scenarios used in this report
Table ES- 2. Cumulative GHG emissions from global primary plastic production and associated carbon budget impact by 2050 under No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios
Table 1. Nine key plastic polymer types commonly used1
Table 2. Chlorine production energy consumption by production type
Table 3. Styrene production energy consumption by production type 33
Table 4. Material inputs for different types of PU polymers assumed in this analysis
Table 5. Input requirement, energy consumption, and production share of PO and EO production processes, assumed in this analysis 37
Table 6. Distribution of global ethylene production by process and input raw material type assumed in this analysis 42
Table 7. Process yields, energy consumption, and fugitive emissions from light naphtha and ethane-based steam cracking
Table 8. Energy consumption of MTO and MTP processes assumed in this analysis
Table 9. Mass shares of crude oil refinery outputs used in plastic production, based on calibration47
Table 10. Mass shares of natural gas processing and fractionation outputs used in plastic production, based on calibration
Table 11. Energy consumption (GJ/tonne product) of petroleum refinery and natural gas processing plant processes
Table 12. Benzene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes 50
Table 13. Toluene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes
Table 14. P-xylene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes
Table 15. BAU scenarios used in this report
Table 16. Cumulative GHG emissions from global primary plastic production and associated carbonbudget impact by 2050 under No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios.59
Table 17. Comparative analysis of the GHG emissions from the global plastic production in different studies with similar scope
Table 18. Sensitivity of results to key parameters, GHG emissions from the global primary plastic production
Table 19. Total GHG emissions from propylene production per production route in 2019
Table A.1. Energy intensity of different product shaping processes assumed for plastic products in this analysis. 92
Table A.2. Shares of fuels used in manufacturing of finished plastic products by manufacturing type, assumed in this analysis 94
Table A.3. Energy intensity of polymerization processes assumed for plastic polymers in this analysis94
Table A.4. Type of fuels used in polymerization by polymer type, assumed in this analysis (UPDATE).94
Table A.5. Type of fuels used in VCM and chlorine production, assumed in this analysis95
Table A.6. Process yields, energy consumption, and fugitive emissions from other light hydrocarbons and distillate fuel oils-based steam cracking
Table A.7. Shares of fuels used in steam cracking process, assumed in this analysis

Table A.8. Type of fuels used in petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in this analysis
Table A.9. Distribution of GHG emissions from global petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in the analysis 96
Table A.10. Methanol production conversion efficiency by feedstock assumed in this analysis
Table A.11. Emission factors by fuel type assumed in this analysis 96
Table A.12. Details of global LDPE production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019
Table A.13. Details of global LLDPE production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019
Table A.14. Details of global HDPE production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019
Table A.15. Details of global PP production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019 101
Table A.16. Details of global PET production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019 102
Table A.17. Details of global PVC production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019
Table A.18. Details of global PS production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019 104
Table A.19. Details of global SAN and ABS production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019 104
Table A.20. Details of global PU production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019 105
Table A.21. Comparison of energy demand of our analysis with literature 108

Climate Impact of Primary Plastic Production

Nihan Karali, Nina Khanna, Nihar Shah

Sustainable Energy and Environmental Systems Department Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

Abstract

Plastics show the strongest production growth of all bulk materials over the last decade. The industry's current growth trajectory is exponential and plastic production is expected to double or triple by 2050. The rapidly increasing production of plastics and the continued reliance on fossil fuels for production, have contributed to numerous environmental problems and health harms. As a result, plastic pollution has become an increasing threat to natural ecosystems, human health and climate. However, there is a lack of granularity on the contribution of the primary plastics specifically to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and their impact on the remaining global carbon budget needed to stay below a 1.5°C or 2°C global average temperature rise. In this report, we explore the contribution of primary plastic production to climate change disaggregated by polymer and technology. To this end, we have developed comprehensive bottom-up modeling of GHG emissions from global primary plastic production, with a special focus on polymer value chains. We have analyzed the results under various growth scenarios in the context of carbon budgets compatible with a 1.5° C global trajectory. Modeling includes the material flows of all production stages, processes and technologies used in primary plastic production value chains, including from the extraction of fossil fuels required for production to shaping the final product. We specifically focus on nine major types of fossil fuelbased plastic polymers that are produced and consumed in large quantities: three types of polyethylene (PE) – low-density (LDPE), linear low-density (LLDPE), and high-density (HDPE) - as well as polypropylene (PP); polyethylene terephthalate (PET); polyvinyl chloride (PVC); polystyrene (PS) and other key styrene-based plastics such as styrene acrylonitrile (SAN) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), and polyurethane (PU). Together these account for about 80% of plastics production.

Our estimates show that global production of primary plastics generated about 2.24 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (GtCO₂e) in 2019, representing 5.3% of total global GHG emissions (excluding, agriculture and LULUCF (Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry)). Emissions from primary plastic production are generated from the combustion of fossil fuels for process heat and electricity and from other non-combustion processes. Approximately 22%, 21%, and 15% of emissions related to primary plastic production in 2019 come from all PEs together, PET, and PP, respectively. Other key plastics, i.e., PVC, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU are responsible for around 23% of global emissions from plastic production. Most (~75%) GHG emissions from primary plastic production occur from the steps prior to polymerization. Under a conservative growth scenario (2.5%/yr), GHG emissions from primary plastic production would more than double to 4.75 GtCO₂e by 2050, accounting for 21-26% of the remaining global carbon budget to keep average temperature increases below 1.5°C. At 4%/yr growth, emissions from primary plastic production would increase more than three times to 6.78 GtCO₂e, accounting for 25-31% of the remaining global carbon budget for limiting global warming to 1.5°C.

Such detailed modeling of individual primary plastic polymers, where production value chain stages are fully taken into account, can provide a sound technically neutral and scientific foundation to inform the global plastic treaty and enable stronger coordination with other global treaties on climate change (e.g., United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)). ¹ Such modeling is also critical to understand the climate impacts of proposed mitigation measures under the treaty, as most of these are either polymer-specific or would have different implications per polymer.

¹ UNEP/EA.5/Res.14. entitled "End plastic pollution: towards an international legally binding instrument" – also referred to as the global plastics treaty.

Executive summary

Annual global production and demand for plastics, including elastomers and fibers, reached about 460 million metric tonnes (Mt) in 2019, having experienced an average annual growth rate of 3.6% since 2000 [1]. The rapidly increasing production of plastics and the continued reliance on fossil fuels for feedstocks (i.e., raw materials) and process energy (i.e., energy required for process heat and electricity), have contributed to numerous environmental problems and health harms [2,3]. As a result, plastic pollution has become an increasing threat to natural ecosystems, human health and climate. In recognition of this, 175 nations endorsed resolution 5/14 at the fifth Session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) in March 2022 to end plastic pollution with the aim of developing an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) by 2024 – also referred to as the global plastics treaty.²

However, while resolution 5/14 acknowledges the impacts of plastic production on the triple planetary crisis of climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution, proposed efforts to reduce plastic pollution do not yet include any explicit consideration of climate impacts. At the same time, there is limited recognition of the significant contributions of plastic production to climate change in the UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) climate negotiations. The recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Assessment Report made it clear that without an immediate reduction of GHG emissions, the mean global temperature is likely to increase by more than 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels by 2050 with severe consequences across the planet [4]. Avoiding devastating climate change requires rapid actions in every sector on a global scale, including plastic production [5]. This starts with a more granular understanding of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from primary plastic production.

This report presents an analysis that estimates the GHG emissions from primary plastic production and highlights its significant impact on climate change. It provides a science-based, technically neutral, and transparent foundation to inform negotiations on the development of a global plastic treaty and under the UNFCCC framework. We have developed comprehensive bottom-up modeling of GHG emissions from global primary plastic production, with a special focus on plastic polymer value chains, including all production stages (from extraction of fossil fuels to shaping of the final product), processes and technologies used in polymer production value chains. ³ In addition to carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions, our modeling also accounts for non-CO₂ emissions such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and fluorinated gases. Such detailed modeling of individual plastic polymers, where production value chain stages are fully considered, provides more granular and accurate estimates of GHG emissions from global primary plastic production. Such modeling is critical to informing the global plastics treaty since most mitigation strategies emphasized in the treaty process are either polymer-specific or would

² See UNEP/EA.5/Res.14. entitled "End plastic pollution: towards an international legally binding instrument" for more information.

³ This study focuses only on primary plastics produced from fossil fuel-based feedstocks, and excludes bio-based and recycled plastic production. Bio-based plastic and recycled plastic constitute 1% and 6.3% of total plastic production, respectively [1,6]. However, current investments in expanded primary plastic production facilities are consistent with historical growth trends [7]. In this study, "primary plastics" refers to the synthetic plastics in primary forms, also known as virgin plastics. In addition, the modelling and results provided in this study do not go beyond plastic production and do not evaluate GHG emission impact from the use and end-of-life stages.

have different implications per polymer, and can further enable better coordination with other global treaties on climate change (e.g., UNFCCC).

We specifically focus on modeling nine major types of plastic polymers that are produced and consumed in large quantities: three types of polyethylene (PE) – low-density (LDPE), linear low-density (LLDPE), and high-density (HDPE) – ; polypropylene (PP); polyethylene terephthalate (PET); polyvinyl chloride (PVC); polystyrene (PS) and other key styrene-based plastics such as styrene acrylonitrile (SAN) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), and polyurethane (PU) — which collectively account for almost 80% of the current plastic demand (Figure ES-1) [1].



Figure ES-1. Distribution of global plastic production by plastic polymer in 2019.

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane. PET in the chart includes polyester fibers in addition to films and other PET products used for packaging such as PET bottles. PP in chart includes PP fibers in addition to other PP use cases. "Other plastics" include other plastic types such as polyamide, acrylic, and rest of the synthetic fibers, polycarbonate, elastomers other than PU, etc.

The plastic industry's current growth trajectory is exponential and plastic production is expected to double or triple by 2050 [7]. In this report, we explore the total GHG emissions and carbon budget impact from 2019 through 2050 under three main business-as-usual (BAU) scenarios based on three sets of plastic production growth assumptions and assuming the power grid remains constant. The scenarios reflect continuing the current trends in production and recycling, and assume the current primary plastic production technology portfolio, recycling rate, and the global power sector remain unchanged during the modeling period. To assess the potential impact of electric grid decarbonization, three additional scenarios showing BAU with a decarbonized power grid were used (see Table ES-1 for details). These scenarios do not necessarily present likely projections; instead, they are designed to demonstrate the potential

GHG emissions impact of primary plastic production if the current production structure and consumption trends stay unchanged.

Table	ES-	1.	BAU	scenarios	used	in	this	report
-------	-----	----	-----	-----------	------	----	------	--------

	Annual production growth (1)	Global CO ₂ emission intensity of electricity generation ⁽²⁾
BAU with constant power grid scenarios:		
BAU: No growth	No growth	
BAU: 2.5% growth	2.5% per year	Constant at current levels between 2022 and 2050
BAU: 4% growth	4% per year	
BAU with decarbonized power grid scenario	os:	
BAU with decarbonized grid: No growth	No growth	Decarbonized grid between 2022 and
BAU with decarbonized grid: 2.5% growth	2.5% per year	2050 in response to stated power sector-
BAU with decarbonized grid: 4% growth	4% per year	IEA [

Notes: (1) In this analysis, we do not model plastic production growth, but instead scale our GHG emissions analysis based on two different demand growth projections from two different sources (OECD [1] and NASEM [8] reports). The OECD outlook provides individual growth trajectories ranging from 2-2.8% per plastic polymer, with an average growth of 2.5% in total plastic demand between 2019 and 2050. The NASEM report estimates the annual growth of total plastic demand without any polymer details. Please see the main report for the details of the polymer specific production growth rates. (2) Global CO₂ emission intensity of electricity generation is based on average global grid CO₂ emission intensity factors from IEA World Energy Outlook [9]. BAU = Business-As-Usual.

Key findings

Plastic production significantly impacts the climate. Our estimates show that GHG emissions from plastic production (from extraction of fossil fuels to shaping of the final product) could amount to the equivalent of 2.24 GtCO₂e in 2019, representing 5.3% of total global GHG emissions (excluding agriculture and land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF)).⁴ In comparison, the global aviation sector generated 0.6 GtCO₂ of CO₂ emissions in 2019, while the global transport sector, including aviation, generated a total of 8.3 GtCO₂ in 2019 [11]. By polymer type, approximately 22%, 21%, and 15% of emissions related to plastic production in 2019 come from all PEs together, PET, and PP, respectively (Figure ES-2). Other key plastics, i.e., PVC, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU are together responsible for around 23% of global emissions from plastic production. This result is based on global production volumes and differentiated emission intensities of specific processes included in the production value chain for each of the nine major plastic types.

⁴ GHG emissions across the plastic polymer value chains are quantified as CO₂-equivalents (CO₂e) using 100-year Global Warming Potential (GWP-100) values from IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) [4]. Global GHG emissions (excl., agriculture and land use change) was 42.4 GtCO2e in 2019 [10].



Figure ES- 2. GHG emissions from primary plastic production by plastic polymer type in 2019.

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane.

Another important aspect is the contribution of production stages to total GHG emissions from primary plastic production. We find that most (~75%) emissions from plastic production occur from the steps prior to polymerization (Figure ES-3). Emissions stem primarily from the production of monomers, hydrocarbons, and non-hydrocarbon chemicals. More than a quarter (26%) of emissions are generated during monomer making (e.g., ethylene, propylene, purified terephthalic acid (PTA), vinyl chloride monomer (VCM), and styrene). Slightly more (29%) are generated from the refining of hydrocarbons (e.g., naphtha, ethane, toluene, and p-xylene) and production of other non-hydrocarbon chemicals (e.g., methanol, ammonia, and chlorine), while 20% of emissions come from the extraction of fossil fuels needed for feedstock and process energy demand of plastic production.

Primary plastic production



Figure ES- 3. GHG emissions shares of plastic production stages in 2019.

Notes: In this analysis, "Extraction and/or mining" refers to fossil fuel (i.e., crude oil, natural gas, and coal) extraction and/or mining step. "Hydrocarbon production" refers to refining and processing of fossil fuels for hydrocarbons (e.g., naphtha and ethane) used for the production of monomers. "Other chemicals production" refers to production of non-hydrocarbon materials (e.g., acetic acid, formaldehyde, and chlorine) used for the production of some monomers. "Monomer production" refers to the production of monomers (e.g., ethylene and propylene), which are the building blocks of polymers. "Polymerization" describes the process by which monomers are chemically combined to form larger molecules called polymers (e.g., polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP)). "Product shaping" refers to the stage where polymers are processed and transformed into final products.

Figure ES-4 shows our estimates of GHG emissions from global plastic between 2019 and 2050 under the three main BAU scenarios with a constant power grid. Our estimates show that

- GHG emissions from primary plastic production could more than double by 2050, to 4.75 GtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; or almost triple by 2050, to 6.78 GtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr.
- Under these two growth scenarios, cumulative GHG emissions from primary plastic production could amount to 106-126.6 GtCO₂e between 2019 and 2050, equivalent to 21-25% of the remaining carbon budget that offers a 50% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold (Table ES-2).⁵
- Primary plastics' share of the carbon budget increases to 26-31% when considering a smaller carbon budget that offers a 67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold (Table ES-2).
- If production levels remained constant from 2025 onward (i.e., No growth), primary plastic production would still account for 15% and 19% of these carbon budgets, respectively.

Under the BAU scenarios with decarbonized electric grid, GHG emissions drop to about 3.59 GtCO₂e and 5.13 GtCO₂e in 2050 under 2.5%/yr and 4%/yr plastic production growth, respectively. While the decarbonized grid would lead to 25% less GHG emissions in 2050, GHG emissions from primary plastic production remain high. Nonetheless, cumulative GHG emissions from primary plastic production could still account for 17-21% and 22-26% of the remaining carbon budget that offers a 50% and 67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold,

⁵ The remaining carbon budget is the net amount of carbon dioxide (CO_2) humans can still emit while keeping global warming below a given limit with a given probability, taking into account the effect of other anthropogenic climate forcers [4].



respectively (Table ES-2). In addition, under a constant plastic production scenario with decarbonized grid, primary plastic production could still account for 13% and 16% of these carbon budgets, respectively.

Figure ES- 4. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019 and 2050 under BAU No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios.

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane. Please refer to the main text for BAU with decarbonized grid scenario results.

Table ES- 2. Cumulative GHG emissions from global primary plastic production and associated carbon budget impact by 2050 under No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios.

	Cumulative GHG emissions between 2019 and 2050 (GtCO ₂ e)	50% chance of staying below the 1.5°C temperature increase by 2050	67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C temperature increase by 2050	
	BAU with	constant power grid thro	ugh 2050	
BAU: No growth	77.4	15%	19%	
BAU: 2.5% growth	106.0	21%	26%	
BAU: 4% growth	126.6	25%	31%	
	BAU with decarbonized power grid through 2050			
BAU with decarbonized grid: No growth	66.1	13%	16%	

BAU with decarbonized grid: 2.5% growth	88.7	17%	22%
BAU with decarbonized grid: 4% growth	105.0	21%	26%

Notes: Current central estimate of the remaining carbon budget from 2020 onwards for limiting warming to $1.5^{\circ}C$ by 2050 with a probability of 50% has been assessed as 500 GtCO₂e, and for limiting warming to $1.5^{\circ}C$ by 2050 with a probability of 67% has been assessed as 400 GtCO₂e [4]. In the table, carbon budget shares are estimated to with the cumulative emission from global primary plastic production between 2020 and 2050.

In addition, plastic production currently relies heavily on fossil fuels.⁶ We estimate that global plastic production today accounts for around 12% of total demand for oil and 8.5% of total demand for natural gas. As much as 70% of this fossil fuel input is consumed as feedstock – the raw material inputs that are used as building blocks of the final plastic products – with the rest consumed as process energy, for generating heat and electricity.⁷ Coal is also used in plastic production as a feedstock through methanol-based olefin, such as ethylene and propylene, but it has a much smaller share than oil and natural gas. This indicates that even with a broader portfolio of energy system decarbonization efforts towards net zero emission commitments, future primary plastic production may still be heavily dependent on fossil fuels for feedstock.

The global plastic treaty presents a historic opportunity to tackle the plastic pollution and also provide a level playing field to design upstream and downstream policies and measures to address GHG emissions from the primary plastic production globally and at scale. In achieving the overall 1.5°C goal, it is vital to set targets for the growing plastics industry that are coordinated and scalable in the context of a broader national, regional, or international political process.

In addition, most plastic pollution mitigation strategies emphasized in the treaty process thus far (e.g., production reduction, elimination of problematic polymers, and recycling) could have different climate change indications, and should be rigorously investigated from a climate perspective before a firm conclusion can be drawn about their climate impact. For example, climate impact of production reduction would vary depending on what (i.e., polymer and/or application) and how (e.g., elimination of non-essential use of plastics without an alternative, reuse, recycling, and application of alternative materials) the production is reduced. Eliminating non-essential use of plastics without alternatives, such as microbeads in cleaning products, could lead to a reduction in global GHG emissions due to a reduction in primary plastic production volume. However, the net GHG impact could be different if primary plastic production is reduced by using alternative materials or recycling. For instance, mechanical recycling can lead to GHG emissions reductions but is not applicable to all plastic polymer types. It is mostly used for PET and PE products [1], but collection, contamination, and sorting are challenges that can significantly lower the recycling efficiency [12]. In addition, the quality of the polymer often degrades with repeated recycling, so the final product may not provide the same functionality, limiting recycling to a few cycles. [12]. Some chemical recycling processes use chemical

⁶ Nearly 99% of primary plastic polymers are made from fossil-based feedstock [1].

⁷ Fossil fuel input calculations (1) are based on final energy consumption and do not include fossil fuels combusted for electricity generation, (2) do not cover fossil fuels consumed during the extraction and mining stage. GHG emissions from the "extraction and mining" stage is based on global GHG emissions intensity, not energy intensity. Please see main text for modeling of the "extraction and/or mining" stage.

processes to recover the petrochemical components in plastics, e.g., monomers and hydrocarbons, and some processes convert plastics to fuels. In order for these products to be converted back into plastic polymers, they must go through additional production stages that increase their carbon footprint. Additionally, current chemical recycling methods can require higher energy inputs than mechanical recycling [13]. Similarly, certain alternative materials to plastics can increase overall GHG emissions when produced through conventional (rather than decarbonized) processes. Alternative materials used also need to be recyclable in a sustainable and climate-friendly manner. Designing products with reuse, repair and remanufacturing in mind is another important consideration to reduce climate impacts.

There is a need to design strategies with system-wide thinking to ensure that any set of solutions is circular, sustainable, and responsible and do not pose health risks. These demand and supplyside strategies need to consider implications from plastics pollution beyond climate to address environmental and health problems related to plastic from global and local perspectives. Synergistic actions between global treaties are necessary to maximize the beneficial impacts of global negotiations to end the multifaceted challenges presented by plastics and climate change.

For future work, we plan to expand our modeling framework to include recycling methods and the production of alternative materials to plastic in order to evaluate the climate impact of various mitigation strategies that may include these actions. We also plan to extend the modelling from global scale to incorporate regional details as the improved geographic granularity could help better inform the setting of region or national goals and actions.

References

[1] OECD (2022) Global Plastics Outlook: Policy Scenarios to 2060.

[2] Geyer R., Jambeck, J.R., Law, K.R. (2017) Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci. Adv. 3, e1700782. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.1700782

[3] Solomon, C.G., Salas, R.N. (2024) Health Effects of Fossil Fuel–Derived Endocrine Disruptors. Fossil-Fuel Pollution and Climate Change. N Engl J Med. 390:922-33. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra2300476

[4] IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2022) Climate Change 2022 Mitigation of Climate Change Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

[5] IRP (2020). Resource Efficiency and Climate Change: Material Efficiency Strategies for a Low-Carbon Future. Hertwich, E., Lifset, R., Pauliuk, S., Heeren, N. A report of the International Resource Panel. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.

[6] Rosenboom, JG., Langer, R. & Traverso, G. (2022) Bioplastics for a circular economy. Nat Rev Mater 7, 117–137 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-021-00407-8</u>

[7] Bauer, F., Tilsted, J.P., Pfister, S., Oberschelp, C., Kulionis, V. (2023) Mapping GHG emissions and prospects for renewable energy in the chemical industry, Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering, Volume 39, 100881, ISSN 2211-3398, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2022.100881</u>

[8] NASEM (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine) (2022) Reckoning with the U.S. Role in Global Ocean Plastic Waste. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/26132</u>

[9] IEA (2023b) World Energy Outlook 2023. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/86ede39e-4436-42d7-ba2a-edf61467e070/WorldEnergyOutlook2023.pdf</u>

[10] WRI (World Resources Institute) (2022) World Greenhouse Gas Emissions: 2019. Available from: www.wri.org/data/world-greenhouse-gas-emissions-2019

[11] IEA (2024b) Transport. Available from: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport

[12] Schyns, Z.O.G., Shaver, M.P. (2021) Mechanical Recycling of Packaging Plastics: A Review. Macromol. Rapid Commun.2021, 42, 2000415. Special Issue: Polymers for a Sustainable Future.

[13] Rahimi, A., García, J. (2017) Chemical recycling of waste plastics for new materials production. Nat Rev Chem 1, 0046. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-017-0046

1. Introduction

Plastics, a suite of synthetic polymers mostly made from fossil fuel-based feedstocks (i.e., raw materials), have become widespread in modern life since the plastics industry emerged in the mid-20th century. With appealing characteristics –including versatility, durability, flexibility, and low production cost – plastics have evolved to fill a wide range of everyday end-use application such as packaging, construction, and other consumer products. As a result, global plastic production has grown at an average of nearly 9% per year since 1950, far exceeding any other industry [1,2].

Annual global production for plastics, including elastomers and fibers, reached about 460 million metric tonnes (Mt) in 2019, having experienced an average annual growth rate of 3.6% since 2000 [3]. Nine major types of plastics are produced and consumed in large quantities (see Table 1 for details). These include three types of polyethylene (PE) – low-density (LDPE), linear low-density (LLDPE), and high-density (HDPE) –; polypropylene (PP); polyethylene terephthalate (PET); polyvinyl chloride (PVC); polystyrene (PS) and other key styrene-based plastics such as styrene acrylonitrile (SAN) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), and polyurethane (PU) — which collectively account for almost 80% of the current plastic demand [3]. Packaging, construction, and transportation sectors are the top three end-uses for plastic products, accounting for about 31%, 16%, and 14% of total demand in 2019 [3]. Most packaging applications have short lifetimes of less than a year [4]. Construction and transportation products last longer. The average period for infrastructure and buildings is close to 40 years, and for vehicles it is between 15 and 30 years [4,5]. Segment-specific demand patterns may differ at particular points in time (e.g., when the Covid-19 pandemic impacted packaging). Figure 1 shows the shares of plastic polymers and main application of plastic products in 2019.

Plastic	Abbreviation	Type ⁽¹⁾	Key end uses
Low-Density Polyethylene	LDPE	Thermoplastic	Packaging, consumer products, and construction
Linear Low-Density Polyethylene	LLDPE	Thermoplastic	Packaging, consumer products, and construction
High-Density Polyethylene	HDPE	Thermoplastic	Packaging, consumer products, and construction
Polypropylene	PP	Thermoplastic	Packaging, consumer products, and construction
Polyethylene terephthalate	PET	Thermoplastic	Packaging and textile
Polyvinyl chloride	PVC	Thermoplastic	Construction
Polystyrene	PS	Thermoplastic	Packaging, consumer products, and construction
Styrene Acrylonitrile and Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene	SAN and ABS	Thermoplastic	Consumer products, construction, and electrical and electronic equipment
Polyurethane	PU	Thermoset	Consumer products, construction, and vehicles

Table	1.	Nine	kev	plastic	polymer	types	commonly	used
				Pussie	p o g mo	JPVD		

Notes: (1) Based on the characteristics of the final plastic polymers, plastics are grouped into two primary families: "thermoplastics" and "thermosets" [2]. Thermoplastics are the plastic polymers that soften to show fluid behavior



when heated [6]. Thermoset plastic polymers react to become permanently rigid when heated or mixed with a catalyst [6].

Figure 1. Distribution of global plastic production by polymer and application type in 2019.

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane.

PET in the chart includes polyester fibers in addition to films and other PET products used for packaging such as PET bottles. PP in chart includes PP fibers in addition to other PP use cases. "Other plastics" include other plastic types such as polyamide, acrylic, acetate, and rest of the fibers, polycarbonate, etc. "Transportation" includes cars, ships, airplanes, and so on. See Appendix Figure A.1. for polymer specific use case information. Source: [3]

Nearly 99% of primary plastic polymers are made from fossil-based feedstock (i.e., crude oil, natural gas, and coal) [7]. There has been a regional shift of plastic production over recent decades, with growth in the Middle East (doubled output), China (quadrupled output), and Southeast Asia since 2000 [8]. China has become the world's largest producer of plastics, accounting for nearly one-third of global production. This geographic shift has also led to growth in coal-based feedstock production in China (through methanol-based olefin production) and crude oil-based feedstock production in Europe, primarily naphtha, whereas natural gas condensates or natural gas liquids (NGL), primarily ethane, have underlain expansion in the Middle East and developments in North America [8]. Production of plastics is projected to continue rising. Estimates indicate that plastic production will grow between 2.5% and 4% annually through 2050 [3,9]. Global production of plastics could therefore reach roughly 1,000 to 1,400 Mt by 2050, a 2 to 3-fold increase from 2019 levels [3,9].

The rapidly increasing production of plastics and the continued reliance on fossil fuels for feedstocks (i.e., raw materials) and process energy (i.e., energy required for process heat and electricity), have contributed to numerous environmental problems and health harms [10-16]. These include pollution and health risks by exposure to chemicals of concern such as phthalates, bisphenols, endocrine-disrupting and carcinogenic chemicals, and "forever chemicals" (Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAs)) used in production of primary plastic polymers; plastic particle pollution (particularly in the marine environment) and related biodiversity loss; and

climate change. As a result, plastic pollution has become an increasing threat to natural ecosystems, human health and climate. In recognition of this, 175 nations endorsed resolution 5/14 at the fifth Session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) in March 2022 to end plastic pollution with the aim of developing an international legally binding instrument (ILBI) by 2024 – also referred to as the global plastics treaty.¹ The resolution established an Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) to draft the agreement reflecting diverse actions to address problems related to the full lifecycle of plastics. However, while resolution 5/14 acknowledges the impacts of plastic production on the triple planetary crisis of climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution, proposed efforts to reduce plastic pollution do not yet include any explicit consideration of climate impacts. At the same time, there is limited recognition of the significant contributions of plastic production to climate change in the UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) climate negotiations.

Specifically, there is a lack of granularity on the contribution of the plastics lifecycle to total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and implications for the remaining global carbon budget for meeting international climate goals.² This is due to several issues. First, the emissions contribution of different production stages (see Figure 2) by plastic polymer type, from the extraction of fossil fuels through the shaping of the final plastic product, are poorly understood and communicated. Second, only a few analyses in recent literature attempt to estimate GHG emissions from the global plastics industry [3,5,17-22]. Systems boundaries in some of these studies are either too limited (from polymerization onward; see Figure 2) or the contribution of different production steps per plastic polymer type is incomplete or not communicated transparently. Third, the simplified representation of co-products and by-products in the production process and the lack of polymer-specific emission intensity values cause significant underestimation of GHG emissions from the plastics value chain. In addition, multiple processes are used to produce the same plastic polymer, with significant variations in process energy demand and yields. The type of process used depends on the production location and the availability and economics of required hydrocarbons. Thus, an average emission intensity that is indicative of plastic polymer production in a particular region will not be representative of other regions. For example, ethane-based steam cracking in the U.S. versus naphtha-based steam cracking in Europe will have very different emission intensity levels despite producing the same monomers (e.g., ethylene and propylene) and polymers (e.g., PE, PP, and PET). There is also a lack of detailed, transparent process and production data in some literature that masks which intermediate products are and are not included in the analysis. Consequently, methodological differences and a lack of transparency obscure the true climate impact of plastic production.

In addition to fossil-based feedstock, the plastics industry also consumes fossil fuels – oil, natural gas, and coal – for energy needed in production processes. The majority of processes used throughout plastic production (i.e., from the extraction of fossil fuels through the shaping of the final plastic product) are extremely energy- and GHG emission-intensive, requiring high operational temperatures and large amounts of power [8]. GHG emissions, primarily carbon

¹ See UNEP/EA.5/Res.14. entitled "End plastic pollution: towards an international legally binding instrument" for more information.

 $^{^{2}}$ The remaining carbon budget (RCB) is the net amount of carbon dioxide (CO₂) humans can still emit while keeping global warming below a given limit with a given probability, taking into account the effect of other anthropogenic climate forcers [23].

dioxide (CO₂), are generated during the extraction, mining, and/or processing of fossil fuels needed for feedstock and fuel energy, and during plastic production through fossil fuel combustion for process heat and electricity use. In addition to energy-related emissions, some stages (e.g., crude oil and natural gas extraction) and some processes (e.g., steam and catalytic cracking of hydrocarbons) are associated with high amounts of process GHG emissions, including CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and fluorinated gases.



Figure 2. Production stages of the plastics value chain.

Notes: Polymerization or monomer production and polymerization are sometimes referred to as resin production.

The recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Assessment Report made it clear that without an immediate reduction of GHG emissions, the mean global temperature is likely to increase by more than 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels by 2050 with severe consequences across the planet [23]. Avoiding devastating climate change requires rapid actions in every sector on a global scale, including plastic production. This starts with a more granular understanding of GHG emissions from plastic polymer production.

This report presents an analysis that estimates the GHG emissions from primary plastic production and highlights its significant impact on climate change. It provides a science-based, technically neutral, and transparent foundation to inform negotiations on the development of a global plastic treaty and under the UNFCCC framework. We have developed comprehensive bottom-up modeling of GHG emissions from global primary plastic production, with a special focus on plastic polymer value chains, including all production stages (from extraction of fossil fuels to shaping of the final product), processes and technologies used in polymer production value chains. In addition to CO₂ emissions, our modeling also accounts for non-CO₂ emissions such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and fluorinated gases. Such detailed modeling of individual plastic polymers, where production value chain stages are fully considered, provides more granular and accurate estimates of GHG emissions from global primary plastic production. Such modeling is critical to informing the global plastics treaty since most mitigation strategies emphasized in the treaty process are either polymer-specific or would have different implications per polymer, and can further enable better coordination with other global treaties on climate change (e.g., UNFCCC).

We specifically focus on modeling nine key plastic polymers that are produced and consumed in large quantities: three types of polyethylene (PE) – low-density (LDPE), linear low-density

(LLDPE), and high-density (HDPE) – ; polypropylene (PP); polyethylene terephthalate (PET); polyvinyl chloride (PVC); polystyrene (PS) and other key styrene-based plastics such as styrene acrylonitrile (SAN) and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), and polyurethane (PU) — which collectively account for almost 80% of the current plastic demand [3]. This study focuses only on primary plastics produced from fossil fuel-based feedstocks, and excludes bio-based and recycled plastic production.³ Bio-based plastic and recycled plastic constitute 1% and 6.3% of total plastic production, respectively [3,24]. However, current investments in expanded primary plastic production facilities are consistent with historical growth trends [8].

The modelling and results provided in this study do not go beyond plastic production and do not evaluate GHG emission impact from the use and end-of-life stages. Previous research indicated that end-of-life management measures such as incineration and waste-to-energy would have additional climate impact [3,17,25]. Both of these practices also generate toxic air pollution that is harmful to human health due to the chemicals released [14], and could be particularly harmful to often-adjacent communities. In addition, significant further work is needed to advance our understanding of the GHG impact of plastics in "use" (e.g., some applications in the food and transportation sectors). We also do not evaluate the broader portfolio of clean technologies and their potential impact on future emissions; rather, we provide a picture of the magnitude of the climate problem related to plastic production under the assumption that the current production structure remains unchanged.

2. Methodology

This section defines the details of the bottom-up energy and emissions system modeling of the production processes and technologies used to produce various types of primary plastics in order to assess the climate impact of primary plastic production. Production of each plastic polymer type has been modeled separately. The modeling is a detailed system modelling of process and technology relations. It tracks the flows and production of input and output materials among processes and technologies. Every process technology is also defined with energy intensity of production and production-related GHG emissions.

The primary production of plastics has six key steps (Figure 3): (1) Extraction and/or mining, (2) hydrocarbon refining and processing, (3) other chemicals (non-hydrocarbon) production, (4) monomer production, (5) polymerization, and (6) product shaping. Each step has distinct characteristics, from the production equipment and technology type to fuel consumption and emissions. Almost all plastics are made from fossil fuel feedstocks, namely crude oil, natural gas, and coal. Extraction and/or mining step includes extraction, hydraulic fracturing, mining, and other processes involved in the extraction of fossil fuels. The fossil fuel feedstocks are then refined or processed into various hydrocarbons used for the production of monomers. Some hydrocarbons (e.g., heavy naphtha) are further processed to generate aromatics (i.e., benzene, toluene, and xylene, or "BTX") that are later used in production of some primary plastics. Some monomers also require other non-hydrocarbon chemicals (e.g., chlorine, formaldehyde, etc.) in their production. Next, monomers are chemically combined to create larger molecules called polymers via the polymerization process. Polymerization or polymerization and monomer production are sometimes referred to as resin production. Polymer pellets, flakes, powders and/or

³ In this study, "primary plastics" refers to the synthetic plastics in primary forms, also known as virgin plastics.

liquids are processed and shaped into finished products for various end-use applications (e.g., packaging, fibers, pipes, tubes, etc.) at the final stage.

This analysis focuses primarily on the energy consumption and GHG emissions associated with the production of primary plastics polymers. It does not include the production of additives to plastic polymer solutions that enhance the features of the final plastic products (e.g., Ultraviolet (UV) stabilizers, colors, etc.). We also do not model the production of catalysts that are used in some processes in small amounts. Additionally, when used alone in this report, "polymer" refers only to synthetic and fossil-fuel based primary plastic polymers and does not represent natural, semi-synthetic, or recycled polymers. Figure 3 shows all materials included in this analysis for the production of the nine plastic polymers discussed in this report.

 Coal Crude oil Natural gas 	Light Naphtha Heavy Naphtha Ethane Propane Butene Butene LPG HCTO VGO P-xylene Toluene Pygas	Methanol Ammonia Acetic acid Chlorine Nitric acid Phosgene Formaldehyde Ethylene dichloride Aniline CO Hydrogen peroxide	Ethylene Propylene Butadiene PTA EG VCM Styrene Acrylonitrile MDI TDI Benzene Ethylbenzene	LDPE polymer LLDPE polymer HDPE polymer PP polymer PET polymer PVC polymer PS polymer ABS polymer SAN polymer PU polymer Polyol	 LDPE LLDPE HDPE PP PET PVC PS SAN ABS PU
Extraxtion and/or mining	Hydrocarbon refining and	Other chemicals production	EO, PO LAO Monomer production	Polymerization	Product shaping

Figure 3. Production stages of primary plastics with material details.

Notes: A hydrocarbon is an organic compound consisting entirely of hydrogen and carbon. Ethylene dichloride (EDC) is a chlorinated hydrocarbon, in which chlorine substituted for hydrogen. Since EDC does not contain hydrogen and is not always a direct refinery output, it is considered under the "Other chemicals production" step in this analysis. Similarly, although benzene is a trimer, a chemical compound comprising three monomer units, it is considered under "Monomer production" in this analysis.

ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, CO = carbon monoxide, EG = ethylene glycol, EO = ethylene oxide, HCTO = hydrocracker tail oil, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, LAO = linear alpha olefins, LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, MDI = methylene diphenyl diisocyanate, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PO = propylene oxide, Polyol = polyolefins, PP = polypropylene, PS = polystyrene, PTA = purified terephthalic acid, PU = polyurethane, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, P-xylene = paraxylene, Pygas = pyrolysis gasoline, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, TDI = toluene diisocyanate, VCM = vinyl chloride monomer, VGO = vacuum gas oil.

Material flow analysis (MFA) has been used to study many different types of materials in the literature to track the flows and production of input and output materials in industrial production systems, including plastics [26-29]. Most early MFAs of plastics evaluated plastics as a single class of materials without distinguishing between individual polymers [30]. Several other studies addressed individual polymers including PE, PP, PET, PVC, PS, ABS, and PU [30-35]. However, most studies are dedicated to specific regions, production types or routes, and process

technologies. In addition, most processes used in the production value chain of primary plastics generate multiple products. In some MFA literature, some important products have been considered only as by-products of other production streams, such as the production of propylene and pyrolysis gasoline (pygas) during the steam cracking process targeting ethylene production, or the production of propylene or BTX along with gasoline in the fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) and catalytic reforming units of refineries [36-41]. In addition, some monomers (e.g., ethylene) are used in the production of multiple polymers, and some hydrocarbons (e.g., naphtha) are used in the production of multiple monomers.

The practice of allocating energy consumption and emissions to inputs and outputs across multiple product lines, known as "coproduct allocation," can be done based on different criteria. In the literature, multiple allocation methods are used for coproduct allocation: mass, stoichiometric, elemental, reaction enthalpy, and economic allocation [42]. The literature agrees that no single allocation method is superior. In this analysis, we track materials by mass and apply a *mass allocation criterion* when modeling material output from production systems with multi-output products. The ratio of the mass of the coproduct over the total mass output was used from the total outputs of the process. With this allocation, we can associate GHG emissions to the products based on production volume, not sale, energy content, or other characteristics.

In addition to fossil fuel feedstock, the primary plastics industry consumes fossil fuels for energy needed in production processes. Process energy is used to generate the heat, pressure, and electricity required for production.

The sources of GHG emissions from plastic production can be divided into direct emissions (i.e., emissions from production processes – (1) energy related emissions from combustion of fossil fuels for process heat and pressure, (2) non-energy related process emissions) and indirect emissions (i.e., electricity use). In addition to energy-related emissions, some stages (e.g., crude oil and natural gas extraction) and some processes (e.g., steam and catalytic cracking of hydrocarbons) are associated with high amounts of process GHG emissions, including CO₂ and non-CO₂ emissions, such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and fluorinated gases. In this analysis, GHG emissions across the plastics value chain are quantified as CO₂-equivalents (CO₂e) using 100-year Global Warming Potential (GWP-100) values from IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) [23].

This study uses a combination of relevant literature data, process modeling, and validation by industry experts to generate its material flows and associated process energy consumption and GHG emissions results. Peer-reviewed studies are the first choice for data selection. Where data is unavailable (e.g., mass and energy intensity), as is the case for some processes, data is validated with inputs from industry experts and market research reports, and publicly available statistics. All data used in the modeling and analysis are transparently displayed in the main text or in the accompanying Supplementary Appendices.

In the below sub-sections, we present the overall production details, material flows, energy intensity, and emissions data related to production of for nine key plastic polymer types: LDPE, LLDPE, HDPE, PP, PET, PVC, PS, SAN&ABS, and PU. Section 3 then defines the basic processes and technologies used commonly in the production of primary plastics.

2.1. Polyethylene

PE is a thermoplastic polymer that is widely used in products from different market segments such as packaging, construction, electrical and electronic equipment, consumer products, and vehicle technical parts [43]. PE can be classified into several different types based on the structure of their molecular chains. More common types on the market are LDPE, LLDPE, and HDPE.

2.1.1. Low-Density Polyethylene

Figure 4 shows the production flow chart of LDPE, including input/output relationships and process technology details. Crude oil, natural gas, and coal are key feedstocks to refineries and processing units for conversion into hydrocarbon products such as light naphtha, ethane, LPG (liquid petroleum gas), VGO (vacuum gas oil), and HCTO (hydrocracking tail oil); while not represented in the figure, they are also energy inputs into process/technology units, alongside electricity. This is relevant for all plastic types, not just for LDPE. Globally, most ethylene is produced by the steam cracking of light naphtha and ethane (see Section 3.3 for details of ethylene production). LDPE, like all PE, is produced by the polymerization of ethylene.



Figure 4. LDPE production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = hydrogen, LDPE = low-density polyethylene.

• Product shaping: LDPE plastic products

LDPE products are generally shaped into finished products via four main manufacturing processes: blow molding, injection molding, film extrusion, and other types of extrusion (e.g., profile) (Figure 5). Film extrusion is the most common manufacturing process used to convert LDPE products, accounting for over 70% of global LDPE production. It also requires the least energy among product shaping processes. Section 3.1 provides more details on the production processes used to shape LDPE products, while Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis. We assume a production ratio of 1.01 tonnes polymer input per tonne of finished product to account for polymer loss during the conversion/shaping of plastic products. This is relevant for all plastic products included in this study.



Figure 5. Share of different manufacturing processes used for LDPE products in this analysis.

Notes: "Others" could include processes such as rotational molding and other thermoforming methods. Source: [44-46]

• Polymerization: LDPE polymer

The LDPE polymer is produced by the free-radical polymerization of ethylene at high temperatures (80-300°C) and high pressures (150-350 MPa) [47].¹ Free-radical polymerization is a type of chain-growth polymerization in which the polymer is formed by successive additions of building blocks to a propagating radical chain; this can occur under bulk, solution, emulsion, suspension (slurry), and high temperature/pressure conditions [48]. Polymerization requires a high amount of electric power, and the energy intensity of this process ranges from 2.9 to 9 gigajoule (GJ) per tonne of LDPE in the literature [49-55]. This wide range could be attributed to the reactor type (i.e., tubular vs autoclave) and varying levels of technology efficiency in the market, as well as desired polymer characteristics (e.g., strength, flexibility, etc.). Section 3.2 provides more details on the process used for free-radical polymerization, while Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis.

In this study, we assume that the unit energy consumption of LDPE polymerization is 5.2 GJ per tonne. We also assume a production ratio of 1.02 kg ethylene per kg LDPE polymer, based on Russo et al. [49] and EC [56].

¹ MPa stands for "MegaPascal".

• <u>Monomer production:</u> Ethylene

Ethylene is the only monomer used for LDPE production. Please see Section 3.3 for details about ethylene production processes (i.e., steam cracking and MTO).

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Light naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, and HCTO

Light naphtha, ethane, gas mix (of LPG, propane, and butane, henceforth called "gas mix"), VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in the steam cracking of ethylene.² Please see Section 3.4 for production details.

• <u>Other chemical compounds production:</u> Methanol

Methanol is used in the MTO process to synthesize ethylene. Please see Section 3.5.1 for details of methanol production processes, based on different feedstocks.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of LDPE plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.1.2. Linear Low-Density Polyethylene

LLDPE is a substantially linear polymer of PE, with significant numbers of short branches, and is commonly made by the copolymerization of ethylene with longer-chain alpha-olefins [43]. Figure 6 shows the production flow chart of LLDPE with input/output products and process technology details. The hydrocarbons and methanol are used as input materials to produce the monomer ethylene and the comonomer "linear alpha-olefin" (LAO), which is later converted to the LLDPE polymer via the polymerization process.

² LPG is also a mix of propane and butene.



Figure 6. LLDPE production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, LAO = linear alpha-olefins, H2 = hydrogen, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene.

• Product shaping: LLDPE products

LLDPE is generally shaped into final products via film extrusion and molding (Figure 7). As in LDPE, film extrusion is the most common manufacturing type, accounting for 70% of global LLDPE production. Section 3.1 provides more details on the production process used to shape LLDPE products, while Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 contain energy consumption data used in this analysis.



Figure 7. Share of different manufacturing processes used for LLDPE products in this analysis.

Notes: "Others" could include processes such as blow molding, other types of extrusion, and mixing. Source: [44-46, 57,58]

• Polymerization: LLDPE polymers

LLDPE is a linear PE produced in a low-pressure process. It is manufactured via the copolymerization of ethylene and LAO comonomers [59,60]. Concentration of the LAO comonomer in the polymerization process changes the density of the resin [56]. While the concentration of comonomers incorporated in LLDPE can be as low as 3%, the global average is between 8% and 10% [61,62]. In our analysis, we assume comonomers' share in LLDPE production is 9%, based on calibration data in 2019.¹

Three main low-pressure technologies are used in LLDPE polymerization: solution, gas-stage, and suspension (slurry) processes [64]. Globally, 21% and 75% of LLDPE is produced via solution and gas-stage processes, respectively [65]. The rest (4%) is from the slurry process. Section 3.2 provides more details on these polymerization processes. According to the literature, the energy intensity of the solution and suspension processes ranges between 2.7 and 3 GJ per tonne of LLDPE, while the gas-stage process has a higher energy consumption range of 3.8 to 4.1 GJ per tonne [49-51]. In this study, for LLDPE polymerization, we assume a weighted-average unit energy consumption of 3.3 GJ per tonne of LLDPE. We also assume a production ratio of 1.02 tonnes of ethylene per tonne of LLDPE polymer, based on Russo et al. [49] and EC [56]. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used per polymer type for polymerization.

¹ In 2020, global production of linear alpha olefins (LAOs) was estimated at around 5.76 Mt, of which about 65% was used for PE comonomers [63].

• <u>Monomer production:</u> Ethylene and LAOs

Ethylene is the main monomer used for LLDPE production, along with the comonomers LAOs. Ethylene is also the preferred input material in the production of LAOs. LAOs are also used for HDPE production, but in lesser amounts. Please see Section 3.3 for details about the ethylene and LAO production processes.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Light naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, and HCTO

Light naphtha, ethane, gas mix, VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in the steam cracking of ethylene. Please see Section 3.4 for details about the production of light hydrocarbons used in the steam cracking of ethylene.

• Other chemical compounds production: Methanol

Methanol is used in the MTO process to synthesize ethylene. Please see Section 3.5.1 for details about methanol production processes using different feedstock.

• <u>Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels:</u> Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of LLDPE plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.1.3. High-Density Polyethylene

HDPE is produced in low-pressure reactors and has a very linear structure with few short chain branches [66]. Similar to LLDPE, LAOs are used as comonomers in the production, but to a lesser degree [61]. HDPE plastic is used in a wide variety of applications, including plastic bottles, milk jugs, shampoo bottles, bleach bottles, cutting boards, and piping. Figure 8 shows the production flow chart of HDPE with input/output products and process technology details. Hydrocarbons and methanol are used as input materials to produce the monomer ethylene and comonomer LAO, which is later converted to the HDPE polymer via the polymerization process.



Figure 8. HDPE production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, LAO = linear alpha-olefins, H2 = hydrogen, HDPE = high-density polyethylene.
• <u>Product shaping</u>: HDPE products

The most important technologies used for processing HDPE pellets into finished products are extrusion, injection, and blow molding, with extrusion being the most common (Figure 9). Film extrusion and blow molding accounted for 28% and 25% of global HDPE production in 2019, respectively. Section 3.1 provides more details on the production process used to shape HDPE products, while Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis.



Figure 9. Share of different manufacturing processes used for HDPE products in this analysis.

Notes: "Other extrusion" could include profile and sheet extrusion. "Others" could include compression molding. Source: [45,46,67,68]

• Polymerization: HDPE polymer

HDPE is produced using similar processes to LLDPE, namely solution, gas-stage, and suspension (slurry) processes [61]. Both are manufactured via the copolymerization of ethylene and a LAO comonomer at low pressure based on different catalyst systems [59,60]. The average level of comonomer content used in HDPE production is between 0.5% and 3% [61]. In our analysis, it is assumed that comonomers' share in HDPE production is 1.5%, based on calibration data in 2019.¹

Globally, 60% and 25% of HDPE are produced via solution and gas-stage processes, respectively [65]. The rest (10%) is from the slurry process. Section 3.2 provides more detail on these polymerization processes. According to the literature, the energy intensity of the solution, gas-stage, and suspension processes ranges between 2.3 and 5.4 GJ per tonne of HDPE [49,51-56]. In this study, we assume the weighted average unit energy consumption of HDPE polymerization is 3.25 GJ per tonne HDPE. We also assume a production ratio of 1.03 kg ethylene per kg HDPE polymer based on Russo et al. [49], EC [56] and Rangel [69]. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used per polymer type for polymerization.

• Monomer production: Ethylene, LAOs

Ethylene is the main monomer used for HDPE production, along with the comonomers LAOs. Ethylene is also the preferred input material in the production of LAOs. Please see Section 3.3 for details about the ethylene and LAO production processes.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Light naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, HCTO

Light naphtha, ethane, gas mix, VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in the steam cracking of ethylene. Please see Section 3.4 for details about the production of light hydrocarbons used in the steam cracking of ethylene.

• <u>Other chemical compounds production:</u> Methanol

Methanol is used in the MTO process to synthesize ethylene. Please see Section 3.5.1 for details about methanol production processes using different feedstock.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of HDPE plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.2. Polypropylene

PP is used in numerous applications across different market segments including household items, automotive components, packaging, textiles, and others [56,70]. Figure 10 shows the production flow chart of PP, with input/output relationships and process technology details. PP is produced by the polymerization of propylene. Globally, most propylene is produced by the steam cracking of hydrocarbons and by fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) units in petroleum refineries. Propylene can also be produced via new processes such as propane dehydrogenation (PDH), MTO, or methanol to propylene (MTP), and other processes such as Metathesis and Superflex see Section 3.3 for details).



Figure 10. PP production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, MTP = methanol-to-propylene, FCC = fluid catalytic cracking, PDH = propane dehydrogenation, H2 = hydrogen, PP = polypropylene.

• Product shaping: PP products

PP products are generally shaped into finished products via four processing types: blow molding, injection molding, extrusion, and fiber production (Figure 11). Injection molding is the most common process used to convert PP products, accounting for almost 40% of global PP production. Section 3.1 provides more details on the production process used to shape plastic products, while Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis.



Figure 11. Share of different manufacturing processes used for PP products in this analysis.

Notes: Fiber production is mostly based on monofilament extrusion. Source: [45,46,71-73].

• Polymerization: PP polymer

The polymerization of PP is similar to PE, in that the propylene monomer is subjected to heat and pressure in the presence of a catalyst system. Polymerization is achieved at a relatively low temperature (60-80°C) and low pressure (3-4 Mpa) [74]. Five processes commonly used for PP polymerization are solution, suspension (slurry), gas stage, bulk (or liquid PP), and hybrid (bulk plus gas stage) polymerization [59]. According to recent literature, the energy intensity of PP polymerization processes ranges between 2.4 and 4.9 GJ per tonne of PP [51,53,75,76]. In this study, for PP polymerization, we assume an average unit energy consumption of 3.7 GJ per tonne PP. We also assume a production ratio of 1.02 tonnes ethylene per tonne PP polymer based on Russo et al. [49]. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used per polymer type for polymerization.

• Monomer production: Propylene

In most production routes, propylene is the main monomer used for PP production. However, new production processes can also require other monomers. For example, Metathesis and Superflex require a mixture of ethylene and butene comonomers to convert to propylene. Please see Section 3.3 for details about propylene production processes, steam cracking, FCC, MTO/MTP, PDH, and others.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Light naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, HCTO

Light naphtha, ethane, gas mix (and separately, propane), VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in the production of propylene. See Section 3.4 for details about different propylene production technologies.

• <u>Other chemical compounds production:</u> Methanol

Methanol is used in MTO and MTP processes to synthesize propylene. See Section 3.5.1 for details about methanol production processes using different feedstock.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of PP plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.3. Polyethylene Terephthalate

PET is the most common plastic of the polyester family and is used in fibers. Figure 12 shows flow chart of PET with input/output products and process technology details. PET is a condensation polymer produced by the esterification of ethylene glycol (EG) with purified terephthalic acid (PTA) or dimethyl terephthalate (DMT) [55]. Globally almost all PET (>98 %) is produced from PTA [55]. Therefore, in this report, we focus on PTA based PET production. The monomers of PET, PTA and EG, are polymerized in the liquid stage to produce amorphous PET. This form of the polymer is suitable for the production of fibers and film [77]. Most bottle-grade PET is slightly modified through the addition of small amounts of an appropriate comonomer, such as isophthalic acid, during polymerization [78].



Figure 12. PET production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = hydrogen, Pygas = pyrolysis gasoline, EG = ethylene glycol, PTA = purified terephthalic acid, PET = Polyethylene terephthalate.

• Product Shaping: PET products

PET products are generally shaped into final products via blow molding, injection molding, extrusion, and fiber production (Figure 13). 67% of PET production in 2019 was for fibers. Section 3.1 provides more details on the production process used to shape fibers and films. The polymer pellets from solid state polymerization go through blow molding, injection molding, or extrusion processes to be shaped. Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 provide the energy consumption data used in this analysis.



Figure 13. Share of different manufacturing processes assumed for PET products in this analysis. Source: [3,44,69]

• Polymerization: PET polymer

The polymerization reaction is operated under pressures of 2.7-5.3 kiloPascal (kPa) and at 270° to 290°C for stable (low-viscosity) PET, and 1.3-2.7 kPa and 280° to 300°C for industrial filament PET [79]. When very high molecular weights are desired, as is the case for bottle-grade PET resins, the polymerization may be carried out in an additional stage: solid-state polymerization (SSP). Solid-state polymerization of PET is carried out by heating the low molecular weight prepolymer at temperatures below its melting point but above its glass transition temperature [80]. SSP is a key step that is frequently used after melt-polymerization for the purpose of enhancing the mechanical and rheological properties of polymers before injection and blow molding or extruding.

The energy intensity of the PET polymerization process is around 3.5 GJ per tonne [49]. SSP can add an additional energy consumption of 0.2-0.5 GJ per tonne PET [81]. Based on this, in this study, we assume the unit energy consumption of PET polymerization is 3.5 GJ/tonne, plus 0.4 GJ/tonne of additional energy for the products that require SPP (which is ~30% of total PET production). We also assume a production ratio of 0.85 kg PTA and 0.35 kg EG per kg PET polymer during the production based on Russo et al. [49]. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used per polymer type for polymerization.

• Monomer production: PTA, EG, ethylene

Purified Terephthalic Acid:

PTA is one of the main monomers used for PET plastic production. PTA is produced by the catalytic liquid stage oxidation of p-xylene in acetic acid, in the presence of air [79]. The acetic

acid recovery system is one of the most energy-consuming units in the PTA production process [82]. The energy intensity of PTA plants is estimated to range from 5.3 to 9.7 GJ per tonne PTA [51,82,83]. In this study, we assume that average unit energy consumption of PTA production is 7.4 GJ per tonne PTA. About 0.8 kg p-xylene is used to produce a tonne of PTA [49,84].

Ethylene glycol:

EG is produced through a highly energy-intensive, two-step process in integrated chemical plants that are operated under high temperatures and pressures [85]. In this process, ethylene is first oxidized by oxygen on a silver-based catalyst to form ethylene oxide, followed by a hydrolysis reaction of ethylene oxide to ethylene glycol catalyzed by strong acid. The overall product yield is below 65% for this process due to the inevitable overoxidation of ethylene in the first step [49,85]. The energy consumption of the process ranges between 5.9 and 6.1 GJ per tonne [49,51]. We assume that 0.6 kg ethylene is used to produce a tonne of EG [49] and that the energy consumption is 6 GJ per tonne EG.

Ethylene:

See Section 3.3 for details about ethylene production processes, i.e., steam cracking and MTO.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, HCTO, pyrolysis gasoline, p-xylene, toluene

Naphtha (both light and heavy), ethane, gas mix, VGO, HCTO, pyrolysis gasoline (pygas), p-xylene, and toluene are the hydrocarbons used in the production of PET.

• <u>Other chemical compounds production:</u> Acetic acid and methanol

Acetic acid:

Acetic acid is a chemical reagent used primarily in the production of PTA. In the literature, the acetic acid to PTA ratio ranges between 0.04 and 0.09 tonne acetic acid per tonne PTA [86-88]. Based on market calibration, we assume that about 0.05 tonne of acetic acid is required to produce 1 tonne of PTA.¹

Almost 75% of acetic acid production is from the carbonylation of the methanol process [93]. According to the literature, the feed molar ratio of acetic acid to methanol varies from 1:1 to 1:4 in the carbonylation of the methanol process [94]. In this study, we assume the ratio is 1:2, i.e., 2 tonnes of methanol are required to produce 1 tonne of acetic acid. The process consumes about 2.2 GJ energy per tonne acetic acid [93].

Methanol:

Methanol is used for acetic acid and ethylene production (from MTO). See Section 3.5.1 for details about methanol production processes using different feedstocks.

¹ Total acetic acid production was 16.3 Mt in 2019 [89]. According to statistics, about 20% of this was used for PTA production [90-92].

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of PET plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.4. Polyvinyl chloride

PVC can be found in an extremely wide range of applications, such as construction products like window frames, pipes, and facade elements, or as products for mechanical or electrical engineering like cable insulation. PVC also has applications in food packaging and consumer goods.

Figure 14 shows the production flow chart of PVC with input/output relations and process technology details. PVC is manufactured by the polymerization of vinyl chloride monomer (VCM). The hydrocarbons are used as input feedstocks to produce monomer ethylene, which is later converted to ethylene dichloride (EDC) in a chemical reaction with chlorine. EDC is then used to produce VCM.



Figure 14. PVC production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = hydrogen, EDC = ethylene dichloride, VCM = vinyl chloride monomer, NaCl = sodium chloride, PVC = Polyvinyl chloride.

• Product Shaping: PVC products

PVC is widely used in construction, civil engineering material, and many consumer products. The majority of PVC resin is processed for the pipe, fittings, profiles, and tubing markets. Pipes and fittings products accounted for 45% of global PVC production in 2019 (Figure 15). Most pipes and tubes are manufactured by extrusion of raw material PVC resin. Fittings are a product of injection molding. See Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 for the energy consumption data used in this analysis.



Figure 15. Share of of different types used for PVC products in this analysis. Source: [95-97]

• Polymerization: PVC polymer

PVC is manufactured by the polymerization of VCM [49,56]. Pressure in the reactor usually ranges from 0.4 to 1.2 Mpa and the reaction temperature is between 35-70°C [98]. During the polymerization reaction, as little as 65% of the VCM is converted into PVC [49]. Other literature gives a range of an 85-97% conversion rate [98]. In this analysis, we assume a conversation rate of 92% (i.e., 1.1 kg VCM per kg PVC polymer).

Three processes are commonly used for the production of PVC: (1) suspension polymerization, (2) emulsion polymerization, and (3) bulk polymerization [53]. See Section 3.2 for a technical description of the polymerization processes. Suspension PVC is used for most rigid PVC applications such as pipes, profiles, building materials, and hard foils. It is also plasticized and used for most flexible applications such as cable insulation, soft foils, and medical products [59]. Emulsion PVC is primarily used for coating applications such as PVC-coated fabrics. Bulk PVC is used for specific types of hard sheets and bottles. Suspension PVC accounts for more than 80% of PVC production [98,99]. The production share of emulsion and bulk PVC is approximately 10% and 5%, respectively. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis.

CFC (Chlorofluorocarbon)-11 is released during VCM polymerization [98]. This potent gas causes ozone depletion and has climate change impacts. Based on Plastics Europe [98], we assume that 0.008 and 0.005 kg CO₂e/tonne PVC polymer are emitted from suspension and emulsion polymerization processes, respectively.

• Monomer production: VCM, ethylene

Vinyl chloride monomer:

The most common method of VCM production, accounting for over 95% of worldwide production, is by thermal cracking of EDC [49,100]. In this process, EDC is synthesized by the reaction of chlorine with ethylene over a catalyst. EDC is then thermally cracked at 425-550°C to produce VCM and hydrogen chloride. [101]. Hydrogen chloride can be recovered and recycled into the cracking process via reaction with oxygen and ethylene over a copper catalyst to make more EDC. The energy consumption of the process in the literature ranges between 2.5 and 7.5 GJ per tonne VCM [49,102]. For this study, we assume that energy consumption is 5 GJ per tonne VCM, with an additional energy consumption of 5 GJ per tonne EDC. Refer to Appendix Table A.5 for fuel consumption details.

In addition, 0.5 kg ethylene/kg EDC and 0.6 kg chlorine/kg EDC are used during the production of EDC, based on Russo et al. [49] and Pascault et al. [102]. Similar to PVC production, CFC-11 is also released during VCM production [98]. Based on Plastics Europe [98], we assume that 0.007 kg CO₂e per tonne VCM is emitted during VCM production.

In addition, exposure to VCM is toxic and a well-established animal and human carcinogen [103].

Ethylene:

See Section 3.3 for details about ethylene production processes, i.e., steam cracking and MTO.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Light naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, and HCTO

Light naphtha, ethane, gas mix, VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in the production of PVC. See Section 3.4 for details about the production of these hydrocarbons.

• Other chemical compounds production: Chlorine, methanol

Chlorine:

Chlorine is the key non-hydrocarbon chemical used for EDC production, along with ethylene. Total global production of chlorine reached over 84 million tons in 2019 [104]. Chlorine and its co-product, caustic soda (sodium hydroxide), are manufactured in electrochemical cells and are among the most energy-intensive industrial operations [105]. Commercially, three main production technologies are to produce chlorine [106]:

- Membrane technology, which represented more than half (59%) of global production in 2018;
- Mercury process, which accounted for 29%;
- And diaphragm process, which accounted for about 12%.

Table 2 summarizes the energy consumption of the chlorine production processes from the literature, along with our assumptions.

	Literature range	This study
Membrane	9.3-10 GJ/tonne chlorine	
Mercury	12.8-13.3 GJ/tonne chlorine	
Diaphragm	9.7-17 GJ/tonne chlorine	
Average	9.3-12.8 GJ/tonne chlorine	11.1 GJ/tonne chlorine

 Table 2. Chlorine production energy consumption by production type

Source: [49,54,104,107,108]

Methanol:

Methanol is used for ethylene production (from MTO). See Section 3.5.1 for details about methanol production processes using different feedstocks.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of PVC plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.5. Polystyrene, Styrene Acrylonitrile, and Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene

PS is an amorphous thermoplastic made from the monomer styrene [109].¹ PS can be classified into several different types. The common forms of PS are general purpose polystyrene (GPPS), high impact polystyrene (HIPS), expanded polystyrene (EPS), and extruded polystyrene (XPS) [110]. GPPS and HIPS are rigid PS plastics, while EPS and XPS are foams. GPPS and HIPS are used in many applications such as food and non-food packaging, disposable cups and cutlery, furniture, toys, and consumer goods, as well as electronics and appliances [98]. The major applications of EPS and XPS foams are in the construction industry, as thermal insulation for walls, cavities, roofs, floors, cellars and foundations, and lightweight packaging.

Figures 16 and 17 show the production of PS with input/output relations and process technology details. PS is produced by polymerization of a styrene monomer. While SAN and ABS are not considered PS polymers, they are common thermoplastic polymers that are also based on a styrene monomer. SAN is a co-polymer plastic consisting of styrene and acrylonitrile in the polymer chain. ABS is made of three monomers: acrylonitrile, butadiene, and styrene.

¹ Amorphous polymers don't have a melting point — they have a glass transition temperature, or Tg {99}.



Figure 16. PS production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = hydrogen, GPPS = general purpose polystyrene, HIPS = high impact polystyrene, EPS = expanded polystyrene, XPS = extruded polystyrene, PS = polystyrene. Please note that expansion gases such as pentane, HCFC, and HFC that are used in the production of EPS and XPS in very small amounts are not presented in the chart.



Figure 17. SAN&ABS production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = Hydrogen, SAN = Styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = Acrylonitrile butadiene styrene.

• Product Shaping: PS, SAN and ABS products

PS can be used in an extremely wide range of applications. GPPS is an unmodified PS. HIPS is known as "toughened PS" or "rubber-modified PS." The mechanical characteristics of PS are improved via adding rubbers (i.e. polybutadiene). EPS and XPS contain a pentane or other blowing agent (as expansion gas) dissolved within the polystyrene.

GPPS and HIPS products together accounted for about 55% of global PS production in 2017, while foam PS products accounted for almost 35% (Figure 18). Most GPPS products are commonly manufactured by injection molding or extrusion of raw material PS resin [56]. HIPS is converted to products by injection molding, extrusion, and thermoforming [56]. EPS products are molded or cut into specific shapes and sizes, whereas XPS is an extruded sheet.

In contrast, ABS is commonly used in the automotive sector, home appliances, electronics, construction, transportation industries, and others. It is also the most common polymer used in 3D printing. Like most other thermoplastics, ABS products can be injection molded, blow molded, and extruded. SAN is commonly referred to as ABS without the butadiene. It has less impact strength and toughness than ABS.

Appendix Tables A.1 and A.2 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis for PS, SAN, and ABS products.



Figure 18. Share of different types of PS products in this analysis.

Notes: Others include film PS products such as OPS, a stretched XPS. Source: [45,46,111,1112]

• Polymerization: PS, SAN and ABS products

PS polymers can be produced by bulk, solution, suspension, or emulsion polymerization of monomer styrene. Refer to Section 3.2 for a technical description of the polymerization processes.

GPPS is an unmodified polystyrene. Polymerization temperatures are between 110° and 180°C [56]. The styrene monomer conversion reaches 60-90 % of solid PS product [56]. The HIPS polymerization process is very similar to the GPPS process. The main difference is the addition of a rubber-like polybutadiene (a.k.a. butadiene rubbers) during polymerization. A typical rubber

content in commercial HIPS is about 5-15%, typically about 8% [56,113]. In this study, we assume 8% polybutadiene content in HIPS (in mass %). Polybutadiene is a synthetic rubber formed from the polymerization of the monomer 1,3-butadiene with an average conversion rate of 95% (butadiene to polybutadiene) [114].

Suspension polymerization is the most widely used process for large-volume production of EPS [53]. Polymerization temperatures are between 65° and 140°C, and styrene monomer conversions are reported to reach over 95 % for EPS products [49,56,115]. In this study, we assume that the styrene to EPS conversion rate is 97%. Pentane, a mixture of normal and isopentane, is added as a blowing agent during the course of polymerization [56]. On the other hand, XPS is manufactured by the extrusion of PS resin into boards in the presence of blowing agents (e.g., HFCs and HCFCs) [116].

ABS is a product of the systematic polymerization of monomers, acrylonitrile, butadiene, and styrene [117]. Proportions can vary from 15% to 35% acrylonitrile, 5% to 30% butadiene and 30% to 65% styrene [49,98,118]. In this study, it is assumed that the acrylonitrile, butadiene rubber (polybutadiene), and styrene content of global ABS production are 23%, 20%, and 49%, respectively, based on calibration data.¹ SAN, the predecessor of ABS, includes polymerization of two monomers, acrylonitrile (~25%) and styrene (~75%) [98].

Polybutadiene comes from polymerization of butadiene. About 1.05 tonnes of butadiene is required to make 1 tonne of polybutadiene [121]. Not much literature exists on the energy consumption of polybutadiene production. Two resources provide significantly different energy intensities: 12.8 GJ per tonne polybutadiene [49] and 25.9 GJ per tonne polybutadiene [121]. We assume that the energy intensity of polybutadiene production is 19.4 GJ per tonne polybutadiene. Appendix Tables A.3 and A.4 contain the energy consumption data used in this analysis.

In addition, methane (CH₄) is released during PS, SAN, and ABS production. Based on Hansen et al. [113], we assume that 0.07 kg CO₂e per tonne PS/SAN/ABS is emitted during production.

• Monomer production: Styrene, acrylonitrile, propylene, benzene, toluene, ethylene, pygas

Styrene:

Styrene is the main monomer that is used to make PS, SAN, and ABS. Around 85% of styrene is produced by the dehydrogenation of ethylbenzene using steam at 580-630°C [122]. In this process, ethylbenzene is treated with oxygen to form the ethylbenzene hydroperoxide. In addition, the production of styrene from pygas is also performed on a limited scale. Styrene is also co-produced commercially in a process known as POSM (styrene monomer/propylene oxide). Styrene can also be produced from other feedstocks such as butadiene and toluene [123]. However, both butadiene and toluene-based styrene productions are not commercially available yet [123]. In the absence of additional information on other production types, we assume that pygas and POSM together produce about 15% of styrene.

Table 3 summarizes energy consumption of the styrene production processes from the literature, along with our assumptions.

¹ About one-third of global acrylonitrile production is for ABS [119,120].

Styrene production	Literature range	This study
Dehydrogenation of EB (incl. EB production)	8.3-10.3 GJ/tonne styrene	
POSM	16.8 GJ/tonne styrene	
Pygas	8.3 GJ/tonne styrene	
Average	N/A	9.6 GJ/tonne styrene

Source: [50,124]

In addition, about 0.5 kg ethylene/kg styrene and 1.1 kg benzene/kg styrene are used during the production of styrene based on Russo et al. [49] and Hansen et al. [113].

In addition, elevated risks of cancer were found among workers with higher exposure to styrene [125].

Acrylonitrile:

Acrylonitrile is used for SAN and ABS production and is produced by the reaction of propylene with ammonia and oxygen over a temperature of 400-510°C and a pressure of 150-300 kPa [126]. The propylene conversion is 90-98% [49,127,128]. 0.7-1.5 GJ of energy are required for the production of 1 tonne of acrylonitrile by the ammoxidation process [126]. In this analysis, we assume the energy intensity of the process is 1.1 GJ electricity per tonne acrylonitrile. In addition, 1.04 kg propylene/kg acrylonitrile and 0.8 kg ammonia/kg acrylonitrile are used during the production of acrylonitrile, based on Morales-Mora et al. [126], Trangwachirachai and Lin [127], and Sampson [128].

Propylene, ethylene, benzene, pygas, and toluene:

Propylene is used for the production of acrylonitrile. Benzene and ethylene are used for ethylbenzene/styrene production. Toluene is used for benzene production via transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene. Pygas is used as a feedstock for aromatic extraction of benzene from a pyrolytic cracking process called "pygas cut." See Section 3.3 and 5.4.4 for details about the ethylene, benzene, and toluene production processes.

• Other chemical compounds production: Ammonia, methanol

Ammonia:

Ammonia is consumed for acrylonitrile (for SAN and ABS). See Section 3.4.5 for details about ammonia production processes.

Methanol:

Methanol is used for ethylene production (from MTO). See Section 3.5.1 for details about the methanol production processes using different feedstocks.

• <u>Hydrocarbon production:</u> Toluene, naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, and HCTO

Toluene, light and heavy naphtha, ethane, gas mix, VGO, and HCTO are the hydrocarbons used in production of PS, SAN, and ABS. See Section 3.4 for details about the production of these hydrocarbons.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of PS, SAN, and ABS plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

2.6. Polyurethane

PUs are thermosets, which is a special group of polymeric materials that are in many ways different from most other plastic types. Thermoset polymers react to become permanently rigid when heated or mixed with a catalyst [6]. PUs can be produced in various forms, e.g., foams and elastomers, and used in a variety of markets, such as paints, liquid coatings, elastomers, insulators, elastic fibers, foams, and integral skins [27, 129].

Figure 19 shows the production flow chart of PU with input/output products and process technology details. PU polymers are typically produced through the reaction of a diisocyanate with a polyolefin (polyol). Toluene diisocyanate (TDI) and methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) are organic isocyanates that are used as key inputs to the industrial-scale production of PUs [98].



Figure 19. PU production value chain and material flow chart.

Notes: ADU = atmospheric distillation unit, VDU = vacuum distillation unit, Gas mix = a mix of LPG, propane, and butene, LPG = liquid petroleum gas, AGO = atmospheric gas oil, VGO = vacuum gas oil, SMR = steam methane reformer, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, H2 = hydrogen, EO = ethylene oxide, PO = propylene oxide, CO = carbon monoxide, TDI = toluene diisocyanate, MDI = methylene diphenyl diisocyanate, Polyol = polyolefins, NaCl = sodium chloride, PU = polyurethane. Please note that other production processes of propylene, e.g., FCC and PDH are not presented in the chart due to space limitations, but included in the modeling and analysis.

• Product Shaping: PU products

PUs can be grouped into several different classes based on their desired properties: foams, elastomers, binders, coating, adhesives, sealants, and others [129]. As illustrated in Figure 20, the principal consumption of PUs is in the form of foams. The main types of PU foams are flexible foams and rigid foams, but other classifications can also be attributed to PU foams, such as flexible PU slabs, flexible molded foams, reaction injection molding (RIM), carpet backing, or two-component formulations [128].



Figure 20. Share of different types of PU products.

Notes: "Others" could include binders, adhesives and sealings, coatings, and so on. Source: [27,128,129]

• Polymerization: PU and polyol polymers

A PU polymer comprises long chains of polyols and diisocyanates (i.e., TDI and MDI) linked by urethane bonds and short diol chain extenders [130]. Polymerization occurs via a condensation reaction of diisocyanate and polyol to form a crosslinked PU. TDI is commonly used in the production of flexible PU foams, elastomers, coatings, adhesives and sealants [27,98]. In contrast, MDI is used in the production of rigid PU foams and elastomers (in the form of pure MDI) [27,98]. Polyols can be either polyether polyols or polyester polyols [27].

Table 4 summarizes the chemical material input per tonne of PU polymer assumed in this analysis. It is also assumed that 1.5 GJ of electricity is consumed for the production of a tonne of PU polymer, based on Russo et al. [49] and Plastics Europe [98].

	Input/PU polymer
Rigid foam	0.6 tonne MDI/tonne rigid foam
	0.4 tonne polyol/tonne rigid foam (40% polyether; 60% polyester)
Flexible foam	0.1 tonne TDI/tonne flexible foam
	0.7 tonne polyol/tonne flexible foam (100% polyether)
	0.1 tonne MDI/tonne flexible foam
Elastomer	0.2 tonne pure MDI/tonne elastomer
	0.01 tonne TDI/tonne elastomer

Table 4. Material inputs for different types of PU polymers assumed in this analysis

	0.4 tonne polyol/tonne Elastomer (55% polyether, 45% polyester)	
	0.5 tonne MDI/tonne other PUs	
Others	0.3 tonne polyol/tonne Other PUs (70% polyether, 30% polyester)	
	0.2 tonne pure MDI/tonne other PUs	
	0.1 tonne TDI/tonne other PUs	

Source: [27,49,98]

Polyols:

Ethylene oxide (EO) and more commonly propylene oxide (PO) are used in the production of polyols. On global average, approximately 0.8 tonnes of PO per tonne of polyol and 0.1 tonnes of EO per tonne of polyol are used in polyol production [47,131]. In addition, polyol production uses about 17.7 GJ per tonne of thermal energy and 0.15 GJ per tonne of electricity [49].

Various processes can be used to produce POs; some of these are more energy intensive than others. The variation in EO production is less. Table 5 summarizes the assumptions for input requirement, energy consumption, and global production shares for different production processes used for PO and EO production in this analysis.

Table 5. Input requirement, energy consumption,	and production share of PO and	l EO production processes,
assumed in this analysis		

Production process	Input/output	Energy consumption	Global production share
РО			
Chlarabudin far DO	0.8 tonne propylene/tonne PO	31 7 G l/tonne PO	35%
	1.1 tonne chlorine/tonne PO	ST.7 GS/tonne TO	
Hydro peroxidation for PO	0.4 tonne propylene/tonne PO	28.6 G.I/tonne PO	8%
	0.9 tonne hydrogen peroxide/tonne PO		
SMPO for PO	0.8 tonne ethylbenzene /tonne PO	16.8 GJ/tonne PO	40%
Other processes for PO	0.79 tonne other products (e.g., cumene) /tonne PO	33.1 GJ/tonne PO	17%
EO			
All processes for EO	0.8 tonne ethylene/tonne EO	10 GJ/tonne EO	100%

Notes: PO = *propylene oxide, EO* = *ethylene oxide, SMPO* = *Styrene monomer/propylene oxide. Source:* [51,98,132]

• Monomer production: MDI, TDI, ethylene, propylene, ethylbenzene

Toluene diisocyanate:

TDI is produced in three steps: (1) nitration of toluene for DNT, (2) dinitrotoluene (DNT) hydrogenation to toluenediamine (TDA), and (3) phosgenation of TDA for TDI. The nitration of toluene to DNT is achieved by the reaction of toluene with nitric acid and a catalyst [133]. TDA is produced via a catalytic reduction of DNT under hydrogen pressure (hydrogenation). TDA is treated with phosgene (i.e., carbonyl chloride) under controlled temperature and pressure conditions to produce TDI. TDI production, excluding phosgene production, requires an energy consumption of about 11 GJ per tonne [133]. Production of 1 tonne of TDI also requires about 0.3 tonne toluene, 0.6 tonne nitric acid, and 1 tonne phosgene [133-136].

Methylene diphenyl diisocyanate:

MDI is made from the reaction of aniline and formaldehyde using an acidic catalyst such as hydrochloric acid and then treated with phosgene. Production of 1 tonne of MDI requires about 0.5 tonne aniline, 0.2 tonne formaldehyde, and 0.6 tonne phosgene [133-136]. MDI production requires an energy consumption of about 4.2 GJ/tonne [49,98,137].

Ethylene, propylene, and ethylbenzene:

Ethylene and propylene are used for EO and PO production. Ethylene is also used for ethylbenzene production, together with benzene. The energy intensity of ethylbenzene production is assumed to be 3.5 GJ per tonne of ethylbenzene [99]. See Section 3.3 for details about the ethylene and propylene production processes.

• Hydrocarbon production: Naphtha, ethane, "gas mix", VGO, HCTO, toluene, and benzene

Naphtha (both light and heavy), ethane, gas mix, VGO, HCTO, toluene, and benzene are the hydrocarbons used in the production of PU. See Section 3.4 for details about the production of these hydrocarbons.

• <u>Other chemical compounds production:</u> Phosgene, formaldehyde, nitric acid, aniline, ammonia, chlorine, methanol, CO,

Phosgene:

Phosgene is manufactured from a reaction of carbon monoxide (CO) and chlorine gas in the presence of a catalyst [134]. The PU industry consumes almost 85% of total phosgene production [134,136]. Consumption of phosgene for MDI and TDI accounted for 55% and 27%, respectively, of total demand in 2021 [136]. Production of 1 tonne of phosgene requires about 0.4-0.5 GJ of energy [137]. About 15% of this energy demand is from electricity [137].

Formaldehyde:

Formaldehyde is produced industrially by the catalytic oxidation of methanol in a conversion zone maintained at a temperature within a range of 450° to 700°C [138]. Production of 1 tonne of formaldehyde requires about 0.9 tonne methanol and 7.5 GJ energy [139-141].

Aniline, nitric acid and nitrobenzene production:

Aniline is formed by the hydrogenation of nitrobenzene in the presence of a copper-chromium or copper-silica catalyst, or by vapor stage ammonolysis of phenol and ammonia. Nearly all nitric acid is manufactured by the high-temperature catalytic oxidation of ammonia [142]. The liquid ammonia is evaporated, superheated, and sent with compressed air to a convertor containing catalysts. Nitrobenzene is manufactured commercially by the direct nitration of benzene.

Ammonia:

See Section 3.4.5 for details about ammonia production processes.

Methanol:

See Section 3.5.2 for details about the methanol production processes using different feedstocks.

CO:

CO is produced on an industrial scale by the partial oxidation of hydrocarbon gases from natural gas or by the gasification of coal and coke.

• Extraction and/or mining of fossil fuels: Crude oil, natural gas, and coal

Modeling of GHG emissions related to the extraction, fracking, and mining of crude oil, natural gas, and coal for the feedstock and fuel energy needs of PU plastic production is defined in Section 3.6.

3. Production processes and technologies

In this section, we summarize some of the basic processes and technologies used commonly in the production of primary plastics. These are the processes and technologies that are used in the production of more than one polymer. Processes that are specific only to the production of a particular polymer are described in the relevant subsections in Section 2.

3.1. Product shaping processes

A range of processing technologies are used to convert raw polymers into the final finished product. This section defines the most common manufacturing processes used to shape polymer pellets into finished plastic products. These processes consume varying quantities of energy, but typically in the range of 3-22 GJ per tonne of finished plastic product. The amount of energy consumption is fundamentally influenced by the type and complexity of the process and the polymer, as well as the type and specification of the machines and devices used (e.g., hydraulic vs. all-electric injection molding). For polymers with a wider range of energy intensities in the literature, we use the weighted average. Table A.1 in the Appendix lists the energy intensities assumed for the different product-shaping processes for each plastic polymer analyzed in this study.

3.1.1. Blow molding

Blow molding of plastics is a manufacturing process for the forming of a hollow object by inflating or blowing a thermoplastic molten tube in the shape of a mold cavity. The material then is cooled until it reverts to a solid finished part. The polymers commonly used in blow molding processes include LDPE, HDPE, and PP. Examples of products would include various types of

bottles, containers, cans, hoses, and planters. The typical energy intensity of the blow molding process ranges from 5 to 9.4 GJ per tonne for different plastic polymers in the literature [143-146].

3.1.2. Injection molding

Injection molding forces melted polymer into a mold under high pressure [147]. Similar to blow molding, the material is cooled until it reverts to a solid, then the mold is opened and the finished part is extracted. The most common plastic polymers used for injection molding are: all types of PE, PP, PVC, and PS. This method has produced solid parts such as electronic housings, bottle caps, containers, computers, television components, outdoor furniture, agricultural products, toys, and machinery components, among others. Injection molding is one of the most energy-intensive processes, with a process load of between 4.8 and 13 GJ per tonne, depending on hydraulic, all-electric, or hybrid injection [143,144,148,149]. About 55% of injection molding machines are hydraulic, 35% are all-electric, and 10% are hybrid [148,149].

3.1.3. Film extrusion

In this process, the polymer is melted in an extruder and the hot melt is pumped through a die to form a thin-walled tube which is simultaneously axially drawn and radially expanded [47]. Typical plastic polymers used in extrusion include but are not limited to all types of PEs, PP, PET, PS, and PVC. Polymer films are typically used in packaging such as shrink, stretch, barrier films, and frozen food packaging, and shopping bags. Typical energy demand during processing ranges between 1.6 and 9.6 GJ per tonne in the literature [143,144,148,149].

3.1.4. Other extrusion

Other extrusion processes, such as profile extrusion, have significantly higher energy intensity ratings and temperatures that often reach 200°C [145]. The molten plastic moves into and through a die which is responsible for giving the molten plastic its profile (shape). After cooling, the product is cut to length, spooled, or coiled and produces a distinctive plastic channel, such as profile or tube. The energy demand of other extrusion processes varies over a large range, depending on the process and polymer, and is listed as 5.5 to 21.6 GJ per tonne in the literature [143,148,149].

3.1.5. Fiber

Plastic fibers are plastics that have been spun into fibers or filaments and used to make fabrics, string, ropes, cables, and even optical fibers [150]. Some of the most recognizable plastic fibers are polyester (i.e., PET), nylon (i.e., polyamid (PA)), PVC, acrylic, and spandex (based on PU), although there are many more.

Synthetic fibers are produced through a process of spinning, where a polymeric liquid is extruded through fine holes called spinnerets. This is commonly called "monofilament extrusion." Typical energy demand during processing is about 6.3 GJ per tonne, depending on the polymer [143,151].

3.1.6. Thermoforming

Thermoforming is a plastic manufacturing process that involves heating a plastic sheet and forming it using a mold to specific shapes. The shaped plastic then gets cooled down and trimmed to result in the finished part. Thermoforming is applied to many types of plastics, such as PET, PES, PVC, ABS, and PS. Typical energy demand during processing is about 4.8 to 22 GJ per tonne, depending on the polymer [148,149].

3.2. Polymerization processes

Polymerization is the process used to create polymers from monomers. The plastic polymers are then used to make various kinds of plastic products. During polymerization, monomers (smaller molecules) are chemically combined to create larger molecules (or "a macromolecule") [152]. Hundreds of such macromolecules collectively form a polymer. There are two basic types of polymerization, chain-growth (or addition) and step-growth (or condensation) polymerization [152]. In chain-growth polymerization, a chain reaction adds new monomer units to the growing polymer molecule one at a time through double or triple bonds in the monomer. Some examples of polymers formed via chain-growth polymerization are PE, PP, PVC, and PS. On the other hand, condensation polymerization is a process that involves repeated condensation reactions between tri-functional or bi-functional monomers. Some examples of polymerization are PET and PU.

Generally, the reaction of monomers to polymers may be carried out by one of the following processes [56]:

- <u>Suspension (Slurry) polymerization</u>: In suspension polymerization, the chemical reaction takes place in droplets that are in suspension in a solvent. Typical products made by suspension processes are PE, PP, PVC, PS (HIPS and EPS), and others.
- <u>Bulk polymerization</u>: In bulk polymerization, the polymer is produced in a reactor where only the monomer and a small amount of an initiator are present. Typical products made by bulk processes are PE, PP, PVC, PS, PET (including polyester fibers), and others.
- <u>Emulsion polymerization</u>: In emulsion polymerization, the chemical reaction takes place in droplets that are in suspension in a solvent, as with suspension polymerization, but are also in emulsion structures called micelles, as well as in the solvent. Typical products made by emulsion processes are PS, SAN, ABS, PVC, and others.
- <u>Gas stage polymerization</u>: In gas stage polymerization, the monomer is introduced in the gaseous stage and put in contact with a catalyst deposited on a solid structure. Currently, gas stage processes are only applied to the polyolefins PE and PP.
- <u>Solution polymerization</u>: In solution polymerization, the chemical reaction takes place in a solution of the monomer in a solvent. Typical products made by solution processes are PS, PE, and others.
- Polymerization of PU occurs via a condensation reaction of diisocyanate and polyol to form a crosslinked PU.

Please note that some co-facilities may perform the first round of forming (e.g. extrusion) to create pellets and/or filaments before sending them to plastic product shaping facilities. The energy intensity levels used for polymerization in this analysis (see relevant subsections in Section 2 for details) could not fully reflect the emissions associated with this first round of

forming. Such facilities would have additional GHG emissions associated with the first round of forming.

3.3. Monomer production processes

Ethylene, propylene, butadiene, benzene (which is actually a trimer)¹⁷, LAOs, PTA, EG, ethylbenzene, styrene, VCM, acrylonitrile, MDI, TDI, PO, and EO are the main monomers used in the production of primary plastic polymers discussed in this report. While some of these monomers are only used production of one specific polymer and in this case are defined in their associated subsections in Section 2, some are used in production of multiple polymers. In this section, we define the monomers used in production of multiple polymers, namely ethylene, LAOs, and propylene. This section also defines the processes commonly used to produce them.

3.3.1. Monomers

• <u>Ethylene</u>

Ethylene is a common monomer that is used as an input to produce all polymers analyzed in this report, i.e., LDPE, LLDPE, HDPE, PP, PET, PVC, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU. Almost 90% of the ethylene is used for production of plastic polymers [153,154]. It is predominantly produced by steam cracking of hydrocarbons (i.e., light naphtha, ethane, VGO, HCTO, and other light hydrocarbon LPG gas mixes, e.g., propane and butane). A small share of ethylene is produced via MTO process. Currently, MTO accounts for around 3.5% of global ethylene production [155].

Global steam cracking of light naphtha and ethane accounted for roughly 40-45% and 30-35% of ethylene production in 2015, respectively [41,156]. The remaining 20-30% of ethylene production came from the steam cracking of VGO, HCTO, and other light hydrocarbon gas mixes, as well as the MTO process. In 2023, it is reported that about 36% of ethylene production came from steam cracking of naphtha and about 39% from steam cracking of ethane [155]. Table 6 provides details of the global ethylene production process shares assumed in this analysis.

Production process and input material type	Global production share (%)
Steam cracking of light naphtha	36%
Steam cracking of ethane	39%
Steam cracking of gas mix (e.g., LPG, propane, butane)	16%
Steam cracking of HCTO	0.5%
Steam cracking of VGO	5%
Coal-based methanol-to-olefin (CMTO)	2%
Methanol-to-olefin (MTO) (other than coal)	1.5%

Table 6. Distribution of global ethylene production by process and input raw material type assumed in this analysis

Notes: LPG = Liquid petroleum gas, VGO = vacuum gas oil, HCTO = hydrocracking tail oil, MTO = methanol-to-olefin, CMTO = . coal-based methanol-to-olefin.

¹⁷ Trimer is a polymer comprising three monomer units.

Source: [36,155,157,158]

Linear alpha-olefins

Most linear alpha-olefins, such as 1-butene, 1-hexene, 1-octene, are commercially produced either through ethylene oligomerization or Fisher–Tropsch synthesis/catalytic cracking [159]. Oligomerization of ethylene to LAOs is performed in a bubble column reactor at temperatures between 50°C and 100°C [160]. In this analysis, energy intensity of this process is assumed to be 2 GJ per tonne of alpha-olefins. It is also assumed that 0.35 tonnes of ethylene is required for 1 ton of LAO [160].

Propylene

Propylene is produced in three commercial grades: refinery grade, chemical grade, and polymer grade (which is used to produce polypropylene). More than 80% of polymer grade propylene in the market is produced by steam cracking process and fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) units in petroleum refineries (see Figure 21). However, due to the low yields of propylene from these processes (as defined below in subsections 3.3.2), new production processes such as propane dehydrogenation (PDH), MTO or MTP, and metathesis and superflex processes have been developed or are being developed.



Figure 21. Distribution of global propylene production by production process type in 2019.

Notes: FCC = *fluid catalytic cracking, PDH* = *Propane Dehydrogenation, MTP* = *methanol-to-propylene, MTO* = *methanol-to-olefin. Source:* [161-163]

3.3.2. Production of monomers

<u>Steam cracking</u>

Steam cracking is a process in which gaseous or liquid hydrocarbons – such as light naphtha, ethane, distillate fuel oils (e.g., VGO, HCTO), and other light gas mixtures (e.g., LPG, propane, butane) – are broken down into smaller hydrocarbons with steam and then briefly heated in a furnace. Typically, the reaction temperature is very hot (around 850°C). It is the principal industrial method for producing olefins, such as ethylene and propylene [164]. The type of hydrocarbon used as raw material generally depends on geography and cost and availability of the feedstock.

Steam cracking produces a range of other high value chemicals (HVCs) such as butadiene, benzene, and toluene next to ethylene and propylene, as well as gases such as hydrogen and CH4. Steam cracking of different hydrocarbons produces different product yield ratings. For example, the ethylene yield of light naphtha steam cracking ranges between 27-34%, while the ethane steam cracking yield is much higher, at 80-86% (see Table 7).

The energy intensity of steam cracking processes has been studied extensively in the recent literature. Because steam cracking mostly targets ethylene production, most studies present energy intensity as the energy consumed per tonne of ethylene production (i.e., GJ/tonne ethylene) (e.g., [38],[39],[41],[54],[165],[166]). With this approach, other outputs are assumed as by-products of ethylene production. Some studies present energy intensity as the energy consumed per tonne of HVC (i.e., GJ/tonne HVC) (e.g., [37],[41],[49],[51],[54]). In this study, we follow the latter approach and use the mass allocation method to distribute the energy consumption and emissions generated over the different outputs from the steam cracking process.

A high level of uncertainty surrounds co-produced gases. Most facilities repurpose these gases internally for heat demand, while some use them to convert to electricity in gas-fired captive power plants. There is also a literature discussing fugitive CH₄ emissions during the steam cracking processes [41,167]. Most literature on energy consumption includes the negative energy from internal repurposing of co-produced gases for heat demand in their final energy intensity numbers [36-38,41,49,51,54,165,166]. The energy consumption levels presented in Table 7 capture this discount, so our baseline projections are based on discounted energy consumption. However, in this analysis we do not specifically assume that H2 and CH4 are used for electricity generation purposes due to uncertainty in the data. We consider that the citation used for the average global CO₂ emission intensity of electricity generation will reflect their impact. Appendix Tables A.6 and A.7 contain the yields from other hydrocarbons and shares of fuels used in this analysis.

Light Naphtha-based steam cracking		
	Literature range	This study
Ethylene (Yield (%))	27.3-34.1%	30.4%
Propylene (Yield (%))	12.3%-17.5%	15.9%
Butadiene (Yield (%))	3.6%-8.7%	4.9%
Benzene (Yield (%))	4.2%-13.3%	7%
Toluene (Yield (%))	1.6%-4.6%	3.2%
Xylene (Yield (%))	1.3-2.6%	1.4%
Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC)	16.5-22 GJ/tonne HVC	18.4 GJ/tonne HVC
Fugitive CH4 emissions (tCO2e/t HVC)	0.04 tCO2e/t HVC	0.04 tCO2e/t HVC
Ethane-based steam cracking		
	Literature range	This study
Ethylene (Yield (%))	79.6-86%	82.4%
Propylene (Yield (%))	1-2%	1.6%

Table 7. Process yields, energy consumption, and fugitive emissions from light naphtha and ethane-based steam cracking

Butadiene (Yield (%))	1-2.3%	1.2%
Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC)	14.5-19 GJ/tonne HVC	17 GJ/tonne HVC
Fugitive CH4 emissions (tCO2e./t HVC)	0.1-0.2 tCO2e/t HVC	0.2 tCO ₂ e/t HVC

Notes: Yields are on mass basis. The yield levels used in this study are based on the literature average. The table does not present yield for pygas from naphtha cracking, but the yields from aromatic compounds from it. There is also a negligible amount (\sim 1-2%) of BTX production from ethane cracking, which we do not apply in this analysis. Please see Appendix Table A.6 for other hydrocarbon-based steam cracking data. HVC = High value chemical. Source: [38-41,49,54,114,158,165-172]

Fluid catalytic cracking

FCC is one of the most commonly used processes in refineries, in which heavy feedstocks such as VGO or residual oil are cracked into propylene and other lighter products (e.g., gasoline). Even though its propylene yields suffer [173,174], traditional FCC became popular in propylene production due to its economics compared to steam cracking [169]. In the last decade or so, there has been an increasing interest in maximizing propylene yield of FCC units [33,159,167-169]. FCC unit has the ability to produce high yields under selected operating conditions. For example, high propylene FCC units can produce approximately10% propylene yield and high selectivity FCC units can produce 15-25% propylene yield compared to about 6% propylene yield in traditional FCC units [173,174].

FCC operates around 550°C and does not require extreme cooling for the separation of propylene from LPG [49]. Therefore, the energy consumption of producing propylene from FCC is much lower than that of steam cracking [51,175]. According to the literature, producing 1 tonne of propylene via FCC requires around 8.5-11 GJ of final energy per tonne of propylene [51,176-178], depending on the achieved yield. In this study, we assumed a global average of 13% yield and an energy consumption of 9.3 GJ per tonne of propylene for the FCC process.

Methanol-to-olefins

The MTO process is used to convert methanol to olefins (i.e., ethylene and propylene). This process is known as non-petroleum-based olefin production since the methanol used in the process is synthesized from carbon-rich feedstocks, such as natural gas, coal or coke gas, hydrogen, and a catalyst [179].¹⁸ The olefin yield of the MTO process is about 40% [180-182]. In this study, we assume the ethylene and propylene yields of the MTO process are 15% and 25%, respectively, based on Jasper and El-Halwagi [182].

In addition to MTO, MTP is used in the production of propylene. The differences between the MTO and MTP processes lie in the degree of propylene selectivity and the type of catalyst used for each process [182]. As a result, propylene yields from these processes are different. According to Jasper and El-Halwagi [182], the propylene yield of MTP is over 30%.

For MTO technologies, the average unit energy consumption is in the range of 5 to 8 GJ per tonne of ethylene and propylene mixture [51]. The MTP process requires about 7.6 to 13.2 GJ per tonne of propylene. Methanol production requires an additional 14 to 24 GJ per tonne of

¹⁸ Hydrogen can also be produced through electrolysis. In that case, it would not be a carbon-rich production.

methanol, depending on the feedstock used (see Section 3.5.1). Appendix Table A.7 provides further technical background on fuel use.

Table 8. Energy consumption of MTO and MTP processes assumed in this analysis

Production processes	This study
МТО	6.3 GJ/tonne olefin
MTP	12.3 GJ/tonne propylene

Note: In this table, olefin in MTO stands for a mixture of ethylene and propylene.

Vented and fugitive CH₄ emissions from the MTO and MTP processes are reported in some literature [183]. We assume that 8% of the GHG emissions from MTO and MTP processes are CH4 emissions (based on Zhao et al. [183]).

• Propane dehydrogenation

PDH technology converts propane into propylene with a significantly higher propylene yield (about 85%) [161,174,184-186]. The process is highly endothermic and is usually carried out at high temperature (480-600°C) and low pressure. The average energy consumption of this process is about 13.5 GJ per tonne of propylene [51].

Metathesis and Superflex

The metathesis reaction is the reaction of butene-2 with ethylene to produce propylene. The ethylene-to-butene feed ratio to the reactor is controlled to minimize by-products and maintain the per-pass butene conversion above 60% [186]. The typical yield from this process ranges between 40% to 99%, depending on the feed ratio. In this study, we assume that the global average propylene yield rate for the metathesis reaction is 70% and the energy consumption is 6.5 GJ per ton of propylene [51].

3.4. Hydrocarbon refining and processing

Most hydrocarbons must be separated and processed from crude oil and natural gas before they are used in plastic production. Key hydrocarbons used in plastic production are light and heavy naphtha, ethane, gas mix, VGO, HCTO, p-xylene, and toluene. Most of these hydrocarbons are exclusively derived from petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants.

• Petroleum refineries

Crude oil requires multiple intermediate steps in refineries to be transformed into petroleum products. The refining process involves the separating, cracking, reforming, treating, and blending of hydrocarbon molecules. Petroleum refinery operations generally start in an atmospheric crude distillation unit (ADU). Crude oil is heated in the ADU tower to 370-380°C and split into compounds of differing molecular structure (fractions) in a distillate tower at atmospheric pressure [187]. This way, the ADU separates lighter hydrocarbons from heavier oils based on their respective boiling points. Naphtha (both light and heavy) and LPG gas mix are two of the initial refinery products that come from ADU units.

Heavier oils, including atmospheric gas oil (AGO) and diesel oil, require further processing. AGO from the bottom of the ADU tower continues to the vacuum crude distillation unit (VDU), where heat of up to 400°C is applied under vacuum conditions to further separate products to VGO [98].

A total of five products from the ADU – light naphtha, heavy naphtha, diesel oil, and gas mix –, and VDU – VGO – then enters the hydrotreating process. Hydrotreating is a process that removes impurities such as nitrogen and sulphur compounds from hydrocarbon streams. During hydrotreating, the products are selectively reacted with hydrogen in the presence of a catalyst at relatively high temperatures and moderate pressures [188]. Diesel oil is further processed in a hydrocracking unit in addition to the hydrotreatment process to be converted to HCTO.

The catalytic reforming process is used in the production of high-octane components of automobile gasolines and light aromatic hydrocarbons –BTX. Catalytic reforming processes involve dehydrogenation of heavy naphtha to yield a mixture of aromatics and paraffins (also called "reformate"). Individual aromatics are then recovered by distillation, washing with nitric acid, and re-distillation [189]. BTX products are also produced by different production routes (see subsection 3.4.2 for details).

Table 9 shows the mass shares of crude oil refinery outputs that are currently used as feedstock in plastic production. The shares are calibrated based on the total feedstock demand from plastic production (modelling output of this study) and total crude oil processed in refineries in 2019 globally (i.e., 4441.5 million tonnes of oil equivalent (Mtoe) crude oil [190]).

Petroleum product	Mass share (%)
Light naphtha	3.5%
Heavy naphtha	1.9%
Share of gas mix	0.7%
Share of Diesel oil	0.1%
Share of AGO	1.2%

Table 9. Mass shares of crude oil refinery outputs used in plastic production, based on calibration

Note: The shares in this table only represent feedstock mass allocation, and do not include fossil fuel use for process energy need.

<u>Natural gas processing</u>

Natural gas goes through a multi-step process to be converted into natural gas liquids (NGLs) such as ethane and gas mix of propane and butane. The main steps of natural gas processing include acid gas removal, dehydration, hydrocarbon recovery via compression, and liquids processing (i.e., fractionation).

The first unit operation in natural gas processing is acid gas removal, which removes hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), a toxic and corrosive gas, prior to further natural gas separation [41]. After acid gas removal, the gas stream is sent to a dehydration unit. In the hydrocarbon recovery unit, CH₄ is separated from NGLs at a low temperature. Electricity is used in the compression stage (to raise pressure) and in the refrigeration stage (to condense NGLs). Liquids processing separates

NGLs into ethane, propane, and butane using fractionation trains composed of a deethanier, depropanizer, and debutanizer. In the depropanizer and debutanizer, heat is provided by combusting natural gas in a reboiler for distillation, and electricity is provided for cooling of condensing products [41].

Table 10 shows the mass shares of natural gas processing and fractionation outputs that are used in plastic production as feedstock in the current production structure. The shares are calibrated based on the total demand from plastic production (modelling output of this study) and total natural gas produced in 2019 globally (i.e., 3905.8 billion cubic meters (bcm) (~2829.8 Mt) natural gas [191]).

Please note that propane can be a product of both petroleum refinery and natural gas processing. Table A.8 provides the shares of global propane production from petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in this analysis.

In addition to ethane and gas mix, natural gas is also used to produce methanol and ammonia. Methanol is used for ethylene (from MTO), formaldehyde (for PU), and acetic acid (for PET) production, and ammonia is required in ABS and PU production.

Table 10. Mass shares of natural gas processing and fractionation outputs used in plastic production, based on calibration

Natural gas product	Mass share (%)
Ethane	2.8%
Gas mix	0.7%

Note: The shares in this table only represent feedstock mass allocation, and do not include fossil fuel use for process energy need.

3.4.1. Energy consumption and GHG emissions from petroleum refineries and natural gas processing facilities

Crude oil refining and natural gas processing processes are energy-intensive, requiring considerable amounts of direct or indirect heat (see Table 11). According to International Energy Agency (IEA) [192], oil and gas operations account for nearly 15% of energy-related global GHG emissions. Table 10 lists the unit energy consumption of oil and gas operations derived from the literature and used in this analysis. Appendix Table A.8 provide more information on fuel use in crude oil refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in this analysis.

Table 11. Energy consumption (GJ/tonne product) of petroleum refinery and natural gas processing plant processes

	Energy consumption (GJ/tonne product)		
	Literature range	This study	
Petroleum refineries			
Atmospheric crude distillation	0.7-1.5 GJ/tonne crude oil	1.02 GJ/tonne crude oil	

Vacuum crude distillation	0.4-0.9 GJ/tonne product	0.7 GJ/tonne product
Hydrotreating	0.7-1.7 GJ/tonne product	0.9 GJ/tonne product
Hydrocracking	1.2-2.7 GJ/tonne product	1.9 GJ/tonne product
Natural gas processing		
Acid gas removal, dehydration, hydrocarbon recovery and compression	1.6-2 GJ/tonne natural gas	1.9 GJ/tonne natural gas
Liquids processing (fractionation)	2.2 GJ/tonne natural gas	2.2 GJ/tonne natural gas

Source: [41,176,193-197]

Crude oil refineries produce process-based GHG emissions in addition to fuel combustion emissions. Figure 22 shows the sources of petroleum refining emissions globally. Natural gas processing for NGLs also releases fugitive natural gas emissions in terms of flared or vented emissions. These emissions can make up to about 10% of total emissions from NGL production globally [41,194,198,199]. Appendix Table A.9 contains the process-based emission rates assumed in this analysis.

It is also assumed that global average efficiency of the petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants are 86% and 95%, respectively, based on DOE [193] and Lacroix et al. [200], respectively.





Notes: The percent shares in the figure represent the recent global average, not a specific refinery. The variations of GHG emissions from refineries is mainly caused by the type of refinery configuration, the type of crude oil, and many other geographical factors. Combustion includes combustion of fossil fuels for processes and onsite electricity generation and distribution losses. Emission shares other than combustion represent process-based emissions. FCC = fluid catalytic cracking; SMR = steam methane reformer. Source: [193,194,201,202]

3.4.2. Benzene, toluene and p-xylene production

BTX refers to mixtures of benzene, toluene, and the three xylene isomers, all of which are light aromatic hydrocarbons used commonly in the production of plastics. P-xylene is one of the xylene isomers used in the production of PET. Toluene is used for PET, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU, while benzene is required for PS, SAN, ABS, and PU production. This section describes the common processes used to produce BTX. Benzene

Approximately 50% of the global benzene supply comes from the catalytic reforming of heavy naphtha, followed by toluene-based processes at 25%, and pygas cut at 25% [203,204]. Toluene-based processes, namely transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene, are often used to convert toluene into benzene along with p-xylene [205-210]. Pygas is a highly aromatic intermediate hydrocarbon produced by the steam cracking of light naphtha and VGO along with ethylene, propylene, and butadiene [211]. It is often used as a highly aromatic hydrocarbon feedstock for the aromatic extraction of benzene, toluene, and p-xylene from a pyrolytic cracking process called "pygas cut."

Table 12 shows the process yields and unit energy consumptions of production technologies used to produce benzene, along with the data assumed in this analysis.

	Yield (%)		Energy consumpt	Energy consumption	
	Literature range	This study	Literature range	This study	
Catalytic reforming	talytic reforming 3-7.8%	5.7%	4.1 GJ/tonne	4.1 GJ/tonne	
Catalytic reforming			benzene	benzene	
Transalkylation and	400/	42%	4.5 GJ/tonne	4.5 GJ/tonne	
disproportionation of toluene	42%		benzene	benzene	
Pygas cut	33%	33%	5.5 GJ/tonne	5.5 GJ/tonne	
			benzene	benzene	

Table 12. Benzene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes

Source: [53,212,213]

• <u>Toluene</u>

Approximately 70% of the global toluene supply comes from the catalytic reforming of heavy naphtha, followed by pygas cut at 25%, and other materials at 5% [214-216]. Even though catalytic reforming is the most common production for toluene, only a small fraction of the reformate is used for isolation of the toluene; the bulk of the unseparated toluene in the reformate is used for gasoline blending [217]. With pygas cut, toluene is isolated from pyrolysis gasoline by distillation, removal of olefins and di-olefins, and redistillation. As mentioned earlier, pygas is a product of steam cracking of light naphtha and VGO.

Toluene can also be obtained as a product during styrene production when ethylbenzene is dehydrogenated, and also from other products such as coal tar and coke-oven light oil. In this analysis, we do not consider toluene production from styrene production as the global share is fairly small. Table 13 shows the process yields and unit energy consumptions of production technologies used to produce toluene, along with the data assumed in this analysis.

 Table 13. Toluene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes

	Yield (%)		Energy consumption	
	Literature range	This study	Literature range	This study
Catalytic reforming	13-26%	20%	2-2.4 GJ/tonne toluene	2.2 GJ/tonne toluene
Pygas cut	19-20%	20%	5.5 GJ/tonne toluene	5.5 GJ/tonne toluene

and coke-oven light oil toluene toluene	Other materials e.g., coal tar	1.00/	18%	2.4-4.4 GJ/tonne	2.4 GJ/tonne
v v	and coke-oven light oil	1070		toluene	toluene

Source: [51,206,212,218]

• <u>P-xylene</u>

Globally, most p-xylene (~79%) is produced by catalytic reforming of heavy naphtha [95,205]. Approximately 17% is produced by toluene-based processes, followed by about 4% from pygas cut [205,219].

Both catalytic reforming and pygas cut have two separate stages when producing p-xylene. In the first stage, xylene isomers are separated along with other aromatics, e.g., benzene and toluene [98]. In the second stage, p-xylene is separated from other isomers by more energy-intensive processes such as adsorption or crystallization processes. The product stream from the catalytic reformer usually consists of 18-20% of mixed xylenes [212]. Mixed xylene usually contains about up to 20% p-xylene [206,207]. Table 14 shows the process yields and unit energy consumptions of production technologies used to produce p-xylene, along with the data assumed in this analysis.

Table 14. P-xylene yields and unit energy consumption from different production processes

	Yield (%)		Energy consumption	
	Literature range	This study	Literature range	This study
Catalytic reforming	3.1-5.3% p- xylene	4.2% p-xylene	14.7 GJ/tonne xylene	14.7 GJ/tonne p- xylene
Pygas cut	4-15% p-xylene	8% p-xylene	14.1 GJ/tonne p- xylene	14.1 GJ/tonne p- xylene
Transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene	~97% p-xylene	97% p-xylene	22.9-31.8 GJ/tonne p- xylene	27.3 GJ/tonne p- xylene

Note: The data on the table includes separating p-xylene from mixed xylene. Mixed xylene usually contains about up to 20% p-xylene and energy intensity of separating p-xylene from mixed xylenes are about 8.56 GJ/tonne p-xylene. Source: [51,96,206,209-214]

3.5. Other chemicals production (non-hydrocarbon)

Methanol, ammonia, acetic acid, chlorine, formaldehyde, phosgene, aniline, and hydrogen peroxide are the main non-hydrocarbon chemicals used in the production of primary plastic polymers discussed in this report. While most of these chemicals are used in the production of only one particular polymer, and in this case are defined in their associated subsections in Section 2, methanol and ammonia are used in production of multiple polymers. In this section, we define methanol and ammonia production in more detail.

3.5.1. Methanol production

Methanol is produced traditionally from natural gas in regions other than China, where its production is dominated by coal. Currently, about 55% of global methanol production is based on coal feedstock and about 35% on natural gas, with the rest using coke gas and other
feedstocks such as [220]. In this study, it is assumed that the share of feedstocks other than natural gas, coal, and coke gas is negligible.

With natural gas-based methanol production, natural gas is transformed into syngas with steam and small amounts of CO₂ at a high temperature, with methanol then being synthesized from syngas. With coal-based methanol production, material coal can be produced into methanol after coal gasification, transformation and purification of crude gas, and methanol synthesis [36]. Methanol production from coal has significantly higher energy consumption (~24 GJ/t methanol) compared to methanol from natural gas (~14 GJ/t methanol) [51]. In addition, methanol production has significantly low conversion efficiency, ranging from 67-75% for natural gas to methanol, and 48-61% for coal to methanol [179,221]. Appendix Table A.10 shows the conversion efficiency rates used in this analysis.

3.5.2. Ammonia

Ammonia is consumed for acrylonitrile (for ABS) and formaldehyde (for PU) production in the plastics industry. While most of global ammonia production is based on steam reforming of natural gas, significant quantities are produced by coal gasification [222,223]. In 2020, of the 185 Mt of ammonia produced, 72% relied on natural gas-based steam reforming, 26% on coal gasification, about 1% on oil products, and a fraction of a percentage point on electrolysis [224]. Steam reforming of natural gas requires high amounts of energy usage mainly due to its high operating temperature (in the range of 400-500°C) and pressure (in the range of 15-30 MPa) [224]. The energy demand of the process is in the range of 15.4 to 40 GJ per tonne ammonia [51,224,211]. Approximately 5% of the natural gas produced globally is utilized for ammonia production via this process [224]. In the steam reforming of natural gas, typically more than 60% of the natural gas inputs are used as feedstock [224]. The energy efficiency of coal gasification-based ammonia production is comparatively higher, in the range of 28 to 50 GJ per tonne ammonia, more than half of which is used as feedstock [51,223]. According to IEA [224], the global average energy intensity of ammonia production today is around 41 GJ per tonne on a net basis.

In addition, a global average of about 0.65 kg natural gas per kg ammonia and about 1.5 kg coal per kg ammonia are used as feedstock during ammonia production [225,226].

3.6. Extraction and mining (of fossil fuels)

Fossil fuels, namely crude oil, natural gas, and coal, are used as feedstock and fuel energy sources of plastic production. Extraction of fossil fuels includes several activities: from exploration, through drilling, fracking, and mining, and then development, production and extraction, to surface processing and transport to refineries and/or processing facilities. Each of these activities causes emissions: direct emissions, like CH₄ leakage and flaring, along with emissions from fuel combustion [227].

To our knowledge, there is no robust literature discussing the energy intensity of global fossil fuel mining and extraction. There are very few comprehensive datasets covering global emissions from crude oil and natural gas production, and coal mining [e.g., 198,199,228-239]. Emissions related to leakage and venting are highly uncertain, due to both a lack of data and the high variability of operations across supply chains. Literature estimates for the global weighted

GHG emissions for crude oil production range from 7.3-13.3 gCO₂e/MJ crude oil [228-233]; for natural gas production range from 7.5-20 gCO₂e/MJ natural gas [198,199,233-236]; and for coal production is about 0.2 kg CO₂e/kg coal [237-239]. In this analysis, we use

- 10.3 gCO₂e/MJ crude oil, (or 0.5 kg CO₂e/kg crude oil with an average heat value of 44.5 MJ/kg crude oil for unit GHG emissions of crude oil production [240]),
- 13.3 gCO₂e/MJ natural gas, (or 0.7 kg CO₂e/kg natural gas with an average heat value of 50 MJ/kg natural gas for unit GHG emissions of natural gas production [240]), and
- 0.2 kg CO₂e/kg coal for unit GHG emissions of coal production.

However, we acknowledge that estimation of non-CO₂ gases, particularly, CH₄ emissions generated during the extraction and mining of fossil fuels, pose a challenge due to uncertainty and variability around exact quantities– as they do for the energy system more broadly [234]. Indeed, more recent literature indicates that greater quantities of CH₄ are emitted from fossil fuel extraction and mining processes than previously thought [241].

4. Scenarios

The plastic industry's current growth trajectory is exponential and plastic production is expected to double or triple by 2050 [8]. In this report, we explore the total GHG emissions and carbon budget impact from primary plastic production from 2019 through 2050 under three main business-as-usual (BAU) scenarios based on three sets of plastic production growth assumptions and assuming the power grid remains constant (see Table 15). We do not model plastic production growth, but instead scale our GHG emissions analysis based on a no growth scenario and two different demand growth scenarios from two different sources, namely OECD [3] and NASEM [9] (Figure 23). The OECD outlook provides individual growth trajectories ranging from 2-2.8% per plastic polymer, with an average growth of 2.5% in total plastic demand between 2019 and 2050. Figure A.2 in Appendix A presents the detailed growth projection used in this analysis by plastic polymer type under a 2.5% annual growth scenario. The NASEM report [9] estimates a 4% annual growth in total plastic demand, without any polymer details. In the 4% annual growth scenario, we assume that all types of plastic polymers grow at a rate of 4% per year. These BAU scenarios reflect continuing the current trends in production and recycling, and assume the current primary plastic production technology portfolio, recycling rate (6.3% in 2019), and the global power sector remain unchanged, represented by the average global grid CO₂ emission intensity, during the modeling period. Although renewable power generation capacity has grown rapidly globally in recent years and there are national renewable power generation targets and policies, there are still uncertainties surrounding the actual pace of power sector decarbonization [235]. However, to assess the potential impact of electric grid decarbonization, in which global electricity grid gets decarbonized in response to power sector policies and targets, three additional sensitivity scenarios showing BAU with a decarbonized power grid were used (see Table 15). Table A.12 and Figure A.3 in Appendix display all the emission factors used in this analysis. It is also important to note that the grid CO₂ emission intensity that we use in our analysis represents global electricity generation, and could differ from the ones used in the regional analyses.

These scenarios do not necessarily present likely projections; instead, they are designed to demonstrate the potential GHG emissions impact of primary plastic production if the current

production structure and consumption trends stay unchanged. We also do not evaluate the broader portfolio of clean technologies and their potential impact on future emissions from plastic production; rather, we provide a picture of the magnitude of the climate problem if current plastic production and consumption trends remains unchanged.

This analysis also assumes that production equals demand. However, we acknowledge that there may be excess production (supply). In this case, GHG emissions and carbon budget estimates by 2050 would be higher.



Figure 23. Projections for plastic demand growth.

Note: 2.5% and 4% annual growth projections are based on OECD [3] and NASEM [9], respectively, and represent the total global plastic demand growth.

Table	15.	BAU	scenarios	used	in	this	report
-------	-----	-----	-----------	------	----	------	--------

	Annual production growth ⁽¹⁾	Global CO ₂ emission intensity of electricity generation ⁽²⁾				
BAU with constant power grid scenarios:						
BAU: No growth	No growth					
BAU: 2.5% growth	2.5% per year	Constant at current levels between 2022 and 2050				
BAU: 4% growth	4% per year					
BAU with decarbonized power grid scenario	S:					
BAU with decarbonized grid: No growth	No growth	Decarbonized grid between 2022 and				
BAU with decarbonized grid: 2.5% growth	2.5% per year	2050 in response to stated power sector-				
BAU with decarbonized grid: 4% growth	4% per year	specific policies and targets				

Notes: Global CO_2 emission intensity of electricity generation is based on average global grid CO_2 emission intensity factors from IEA World Energy Outlook [242]. BAU = Business-As-Usual.

5. Results

This section investigates the global climate impact of primary plastic production in the base year (2019) and in the long term between 2019 and 2050. The results are presented as global total and polymer-specific GHG emissions.

5.1. Global GHG emissions from primary plastic production

Our estimates show that GHG emissions from plastic production (from extraction of fossil fuels to shaping of the final product) could amount to the equivalent of 2.24 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (GtCO₂e) in 2019, representing 5.3% of total global GHG emissions (excluding agriculture and land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF)).¹⁹ In comparison, the global aviation sector generated 0.6 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide (GtCO₂) of CO₂ emissions in 2019, while the global transport sector, including aviation, generated a total of 8.3 GtCO₂ in 2019 [243]. By polymer type, approximately 22%, 21%, and 15% of emissions related to plastic production in 2019 come from all PEs together, PET, and PP, respectively (Figure 24). Other key plastics, i.e., PVC, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU are together responsible for around 23% of global emissions from plastic production. This result is based on global production volumes and differentiated emission intensities of specific processes included in the production value chain for each of the nine major plastic types. For example, PE and PP are produced in higher volumes globally, at 109.9 Mt and 78.8 Mt in 2019 respectively, compared with 74.8 Mt of PET. However, they are significantly less emissions intensive on a tonne-for-tonne basis (Figure 24). The results show that the global average weighted emission intensity of nine primary plastic polymer products ranges between 4.5 and 6.5 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/metric tonne (tCO₂e/t) with the current production structure (Figure 24). GHG emission intensity of "Other plastics" are assumed as the weighted average of nine primary plastic polymers analyzed in this report.

¹⁹ Global GHG emissions (excl., agriculture and land use change) was 42.4 GtCO₂e in 2019 [244].



Figure 24. a) GHG emissions from primary plastic production by polymer type in 2019, b) GHG emission intensity of primary plastic polymers by polymer type.

Notes: GHG emission intensities in the figure represent the global weighted production average for primary plastic polymer products and do not represent emission intensity from a particular production pathway, such as PP production via propylene from steam cracking route versus FCC route. GHG emission intensity of "Other plastics" are assumed as the weighted average of nine key polymers analyzed in this study.

Another important aspect is the contribution of production stages to total GHG emissions from primary plastic production. The results show that most (~75%) emissions from plastic production occur from the steps prior to polymerization (Figure 25). Emissions stem primarily from the production of monomers, hydrocarbons, and non-hydrocarbon chemicals. More than a quarter (26%) of emissions are generated during monomer making (e.g., ethylene, propylene, purified terephthalic acid (PTA), vinyl chloride monomer (VCM), and styrene). Slightly more (29%) are generated from the refining of hydrocarbons (e.g., naphtha, ethane, toluene, and p-xylene) and production of other non-hydrocarbon chemicals (e.g., methanol, ammonia, and chlorine), while 20% of emissions come from the extraction of fossil fuels needed for feedstock and process energy demand of plastic production. The remaining 25% is generated from the polymerization and product-shaping stages together.

Primary plastic production



Figure 25. GHG emissions shares of plastic production stages in 2019.

Figure 26 compares the GHG emissions from iron and steel and cement sectors with primary plastic production. In general, GHG emissions reported from industrial sectors do not include emissions related to the extraction and mining of raw materials (e.g. iron and limestone), as well as the casting or shaping of crude materials into finished products. GHG emissions from the mining and quarrying sector and manufacturing sector are accounted separately. Therefore, we are discounting the GHG emissions related to "extraction and/or mining" and "product shaping" when comparing primary plastic production to iron and steel and cement sectors in Figure 26. As can be seen, production of primary plastics generated about 54% and 62% of the emissions from iron and steel and cement, respectively, in 2019.



Figure 26. GHG emissions from global production of primary plastics, compared to global production of iron and steel and cement sectors.

Notes: Emissions related to iron and steel and cement sectors are from IEA [245,246].

Figure 27 shows our estimates of GHG emissions from global plastic between 2019 and 2050 under the three main BAU scenarios with a constant power grid. GHG emissions from primary plastic production could more than double by 2050, to 4.75 GtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; or almost triple by 2050, to 6.78 GtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. Under these two growth scenarios, cumulative GHG emissions from primary plastic production could amount to 106-126.6 GtCO₂e between 2019 and 2050, equivalent to 21-25% of the remaining carbon budget that offers a 50% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold (Table 16). Plastics' share of the carbon budget increases to 26-31% when considering a smaller carbon

budget that offers a 67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold. If production levels remained constant from 2025 onward (i.e., No growth), primary plastic production would still account for 15% and 19% of these carbon budgets, respectively.

Under the BAU scenarios with decarbonized electric grid, GHG emissions drop to about 3.59 GtCO₂e and 5.13 GtCO₂e in 2050 under 2.5%/yr and 4%/yr plastic production growth, respectively (Figure 28). While the decarbonized grid results in 25% less GHG emissions in 2050, GHG emissions from primary plastic production remain high. Nonetheless, cumulative GHG emissions from plastic production could still account for 17-21% and 22-26% of the remaining carbon budget that offers a 50% and 67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C threshold, respectively (Table 16). In addition, under a constant plastic production (i.e., No growth) scenario with decarbonized grid, plastic production could still account for 13% and 16% of these carbon budgets, respectively.



Figure 27. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019 and 2050 under BAU No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios.

Notes: The figure represents the results under BAU with constant power grid scenarios.



Figure 28. GHG emissions from global primary plastic production between 2019-2050 under BAU with decarbonized grid scenarios, compared to BAU with constant power grid scenarios.

*Note: Please see Table A.12 and Figure A.3 for the global average electricity grid CO*₂ *emission intensity used in this analysis.*

Table 16. Cumulative	GHG emissions from global primary plastic production and associated carbon budget
impact by 2050 under	No growth, 2.5% growth, and 4% growth scenarios.

	Cumulative GHG emissions between 2019 and 2050 (GtCO ₂ e)	50% chance of staying below the 1.5°C temperature increase by 2050	67% chance of staying below the 1.5°C temperature increase by 2050	
	BAU with	constant power grid thro	ough 2050	
BAU: No growth	77.4	15%	19%	
BAU: 2.5% growth	106.0	21%	26%	
BAU: 4% growth	126.6	25%	31%	
	BAU with d	ecarbonized power grid th	rough 2050	
BAU with decarbonized grid: No growth	66.1	13%	16%	

BAU with decarbonized grid: 2.5% growth	88.7	17%	22%
BAU with decarbonized grid: 4% growth	105.0	21%	26%

Notes: Current central estimate of the remaining carbon budget from 2020 onwards for limiting warming to $1.5^{\circ}C$ by 2050 with a probability of 50% has been assessed as 500 GtCO₂e, and for limiting warming to $1.5^{\circ}C$ by 2050 with a probability of 67% has been assessed as 400 GtCO₂e [2]. In the table, carbon budget shares are estimated to with the cumulative emission from global primary plastic production between 2020 and 2050.

In addition, plastic production currently relies heavily on crude oil, natural gas, and/or coal for both feedstock and process energy demand. Our estimates indicate that global primary plastic production accounted for around 527 Mtoe, or 12% of global demand for oil, and around 237 bcm, or 8.5% of global demand for natural gas. Most of this fossil fuel input is consumed as feedstock, representing 9.1% of global oil demand, and 5.2% of global natural gas demand.²⁰ IEA [247] estimates that petrochemical feedstocks, including plastics and non-plastic products, account for 14% of global oil demand. In addition, according to Michaux [248], global oil demand of plastic production for feedstock was approximately 10% in 2018, while according to analysis by Statista [249], it was about 10% in 2019.²¹ While we are not sure what materials and processes are included in IEA's, Michaux's, and Statista's analyses, both are in close proximity to our crude oil result.

Table 17 provides a comparison of our estimates with the previous studies in the literature with a similar scope. Our GHG emission estimates in 2019 are significantly higher than previous estimates due to the increased level of granularity in modeling production processes, technologies, and routes. We also have no "by-product" assumption. Our modeling allocates its share of emissions to each product based on mass allocation, as discussed in Sections 2 and 3. Please also note that most previous literature of similar scope also includes GHG emissions associated with recycled plastic products in total GHG emission levels.

Reference	GHG Emissions from plastic production (GtCO ₂ e)		
This study	2.24 GtCO ₂ e in 2019; 4.75-6.78 GtCO ₂ e in 2050 (under a 2.5-4% demand growth between 2019 and 2050)		
OECD [3]	1.8 Gt CO ₂ e in 2019 to 4.3 Gt CO ₂ e in 2060 (under a 2.5% demand growth between 2019 and 2050, includes recycling)		
Zheng and Suh [17]	~1.6 GtCO ₂ e in 2015; 5.9 GtCO ₂ e in 2050 (under a 4% demand growth between 2015 and 2050, includes recycling)		
Cabernard et al. [18]	1.9 GtCO $_2$ e in 2015 (includes a captive power modeling, includes recycling)		

Table 17. Comparative analysis of the GHG emissions from the global plastic production in different studies with similar scope.

²⁰ Please note that fossil fuel input calculations (1) are based on final energy consumption and do not include fossil fuels combusted for electricity generation, (2) do not cover fossil fuels consumed during the extraction and mining stage. GHG emissions from the "extraction and mining" stage is based on global GHG emissions intensity, not energy intensity. Please refer to Section 3.6 for modeling of the "extraction and/or mining" stage.

²¹ Statista analysis estimates 9 million barrel per day (1.26 Mtoe per day) oil demand for plastics production globally [249]. We assume that production continues every day of the year (365 days).

CIEL [19]	0.86 Gt CO2e in 2019; 2.8 GtCO2e in 2050
	0.00 81 8826 11 2010, 2.0 818826 11 2000

Notes: Please note that Zheng and Suh [17] and Cabernard et al. [18] estimate GHG emissions in 2015 and OECD [3] and CIEL [19] provide GHG emission estimates for 2019. Please also note that this table does not include references such as Stegmann et al. [5], GRID-Arendal [20], Vidal et al. [21], and Meng et al. [22], which based their discussions of GHG emissions to the citations already listed in Table 15.

We describe the primary plastic production system in detail to estimate GHG emission levels from primary plastic production. However, some parameters may have higher uncertainty and variability. Table 18 summarizes results from our sensitivity analysis. The results have the highest sensitivity to the share of MTO-based olefins production, due to the high energy intensity of methanol production, particularly via coal-based production (which accounts for about 55% of current global methanol production). On the other hand, the sensitivity of the results to the GHG emission factors used in the extraction of fossil fuels is low. While sensitivity analysis provides insights into their impact on results, these factors can be further explored in future analyzes with more detailed results.

Parameter in BAU	Change in parameter	GHG Emissions	GHG Emissions (% Change)
Global average GHG emission	7.3 gCO ₂ eq/MJ	2.16 GtCO ₂ e	-3.6%
gCO ₂ eq/MJ	13.3 gCO ₂ eq/MJ	2.32 GtCO ₂ e	3.6%
Global average GHG emission	7.5 gCO ₂ eq/MJ	2.17 GtCO2e	-3.1%
13.3 gCO ₂ eq/MJ	20 gCO ₂ eq/MJ	2.32 GtCO ₂ e	3.6%
Energy consumption for steam	The lowest end of the range for each steam cracking process	2.18 GtCO2e	-2.8%
cracking processes	The highest end of the range for each steam cracking	2.33 GtCO ₂ e	4.0%
MTO global production share	0%	2.1 GtCO ₂ e	-6.3%
in ethylene production - 3.5%	10%	2.6 GtCO ₂ e	16.0%
Global share of natural gas- based methanol production - 35%	100%	2.13 GtCO2e	-5.0%
Global share of coal-based methanol production - 55%	100%	2.34 GtCO ₂ e	4.5%
Energy consumption for	The lowest end of the range for each polymer's polymerization process	2.2 GtCO ₂ e	-1.8%
polymerization	The highest end of the range for each polymer's polymerization process	2.32 GtCO ₂ e	3.6%

Table 19	Sansitivity	of regults to key	naramators C	HC amissions	from the al	ohal primary	plastic	nraduction
I uvie I (5. Sensuivuy	of results to key	parameters, G	110 emissions	ji om ine gu	ουαι μπιπαι γ	pussic p	production.

Please see Appendix A for a comparison of our estimates of process energy consumption for primary plastic production with selected studies in the literature.

5.2. Detailed GHG emission results for individual polymers

Figure 29 provides detailed GHG emission results for each polymer type analyzed in this study within the scope of BAU with constant power grid scenarios. As can be seen from the figure, emission contribution of production stages differs per polymer.





Figure 29. GHG emissions from LDPE, LLDPE, HDPE, PP, PET, PVC, PS, SAN&ABS, and PU production between 2020 and 2050 with production stage details.

Notes: Colored shaded areas in the charts represent production stages under the 2.5% growth scenario. Dotted line in the charts represents total GHG emissions under the 4% growth scenario. Please note that the scale on the y-axis is different for each polymer.

The production of LDPE, LLDPE and HDPE primary plastic polymer products results in emissions of approximately 98.5 MtCO₂e, 148.3 MtCO₂e and 240.4 MtCO₂e in 2019; 69-72% of emissions come from pre-polymerization stages (Figure 29). The monomer production stage has the highest share for all three PE polymers. GHG emissions from LDPE, LLDPE and HDPE production could reach to 228.6 MtCO₂e, 344.8 MtCO₂e and 484.5 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 299.4 MtCO₂e, 451.5 MtCO₂e and 725.4 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. Individually, polymerization, steam cracking of naphtha and ethane, methanol production, crude oil and natural gas productions contributes the most for each PE polymer (Figure 30-32). As can be seen, the ethane-based steam cracking process has a smaller emission impact compared to the naphtha-based steam cracking process. However, the contribution of ethane production in natural gas processing facilities and the extraction of natural gas used as raw materials (for ethane) is much higher than the production of naphtha and crude oil. Ethane-based PE production produces more GHG emissions than naphtha-based production when the entire production value chain is considered. Methanol production also has a significantly high GHG emissions footprint for all three PEs. Methanol is used by MTO for ethylene production

and has a very high energy intensity, particularly through coal-based production (this is approximately 55% of the current global production of methanol). In addition, although film extrusion has relatively low energy consumption compared to other product shaping processes, it generates a higher emission footprint for LDPE and LLDPE. This is due to its larger production share (70% of LDPE and LLDPE production was from film extrusion in 2019). Rotational molding, on the other hand, has a significantly higher production energy intensity, increasing the contribution of this process to LLDPE emissions. Due to the more balanced share of production methods, there is no single product shaping process that provides the highest emissions in HDPE (unlike LDPE and LLDPE).

Appendix Table A.12-14 provides more detail about LDPE, LLDPE, and HDPE production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 30. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global LDPE production in 2019.

Notes: SC = *Steam cracking*, *MTO* = *Methanol-to-olefin*.



Figure 31. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global LLDPE production in 2019.

Notes: SC = *Steam cracking, MTO* = *Methanol-to-olefin.*



Figure 32. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global HDPE production in 2019.

Notes: SC = *Steam cracking*, *MTO* = *Methanol-to-olefin*.

The production of PP primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 333.9 MtCO₂e in 2019 with 68% coming from stages before polymerization (Figure 29). The monomer production stage has the highest share as in PE polymer products. GHG emissions from PP

production could reach to 710.1 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 1,014.8 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. Figure 33 provides a detailed picture of contribution of different processes to the GHG emissions from PP production. Monomer (propylene) production produces the most GH emissions (~28%) in the production process. As can be seen, propylene production from steam cracking (referred to as "SC" in Figure 33) makes a much higher contribution to compared to other propylene production processes. A major contributing factor is the higher energy intensity of steam cracking processes compared to other processes. Steam cracking also has the highest share $(\sim 43\%)$ of global propylene production (see Section 3.3). In comparison, FCC has ~38% of global propylene production with much lower production energy intensity. As can be seen in Table 19, although the production shares of propylene from the steam cracking (~43%) and FCC (~38%) processes assumed in this analysis are similar, emissions from SC are almost twice that of FCC. However, FCC uses crude oil as the feedstock for propylene, which increases demand for crude oil and, in turn, GHG emissions from extraction of crude oil (compared to natural gas). As in PE production, methanol production also has a significantly high GHG emissions footprint in PP production. Methanol is used by MTO and MTP for propylene production (~5% of total global production).

Appendix Table A.15 provides more details about PP production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 33. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PP production in 2019.

Notes: SC = *Steam cracking, MTO* = *Methanol-to-olefin, MTP* = *Methanol-to-propylene.*

Table	19.	Total	GHG	emissions	from	propylene	production	per	production	route a	in .	2019
		200000	~~~		J	p. opjiene	p. ounonon	P * *	p. ounonon			

GHG emissions (MtCO2e)			GHG emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
SC route	78.5	FCC route	40.5
Monomer production	53.1	Monomer production	20.3

Hydrocarbon refining	9.4	Hydrocarbon refining	6.8
Extraction and/or mining	15.9	Extraction and/or mining	13.4
PDH route	22.6	MTO/MTP route	39.7
Monomer production	11.9	Monomer production	3.9
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	5.2	Other chemicals production	18.0
Extraction and/or mining	5.5	Extraction and/or mining	17.9
"Others" route	8.5		
Monomer production	6.2		
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	1.1		
Extraction and/or mining	1.3		

Notes: Others include Metathesis and Superflex. SC = *Steam cracking, FCC* = *Fluid catalytic cracking, PDH* = *Propane dehydrogenation, MTO* = *Methanol-to-olefin, MTP* = *Methanol-to-propylene.*

The production of PET primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 464.5 MtCO₂e in 2019, of which 84% comes from pre-polymerization stages (Figure 29). GHG emissions from PET production could reach to 971.8 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 1,410.3 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. The hydrocarbon production stage has the highest share. Figure 34 provides a detailed picture of contribution of different processes to the GHG emissions from PET production. As can be seen, pygas and p-xylene production are two of highest contributors to GHG emissions from PET production. While the production shares vary largely, all production technologies commonly used for p-xylene production are very energy intensive (14.1-27.3 GJ/tonne p-xylene) (see Section 3.4.2). Pygas is used to produce p-xylene (4% of global p-xylene production) in addition to toluene, which is then used to produce pxylene through toluene-based production processes such as transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene (17% of global p-xylene production). Although the pygas cut (i.e. pyrolytic cracking) of p-xylene and toluene is not high (4% for p-xylene and 25% for toluene see Section 3.4.2 for details), pygas is produced by steam cracking of naphtha and VGO (steam cracking is a very energy and emission intensive production). In addition, more than 70% pxylene and toluene are produced by catalytic reforming of naphtha. The heavy dependence of naphtha in PET production leads to high demand for crude oil (as the feedstock for both light and heavy naphtha production) and the emissions associated with its extraction.

Appendix Table A.16 provides more details on PET production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 34. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PET production in 2019

The production of PVC primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 231.4 MtCO₂e in 2019, 72% of which comes from stages before polymerization (Figure 29). GHG emissions from PVC production could reach to 465 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 690.4 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. The monomer production stage has the highest share of emissions, followed by other chemicals production. As can be seen in Figure 35, the largest contributors to GHG emissions from PVC production are VCM (monomer), ethylene (monomer), and chlorine (other chemicals) productions. Chlorine production is a very energy-intensive process, and all three production technologies used in this analysis for chlorine production (including EDC production) is also an energy- and GHG emission-intensive process, both of which are highly energy- and GHG emission-intensive. In addition, pipes and fittings have a higher emission footprint compared to other product-shaping processes due to their higher production share (45% in 2019).

Appendix Table A.17 provides more details on PVC production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 35. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PVC production in 2019.

Notes: VCM production includes EDC production.

The production of PS primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 131.9 MtCO₂e in 2019, of which 82% comes from pre-polymerization stages (Figure 29). GHG emissions from PS production could reach to 270 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 393.8 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. The monomer production stage has the highest share of emissions, followed by hydrocarbon production. Figure 36 provides a detailed picture of contribution of different processes to the GHG emissions from PS production. As can be seen, the production of almost all monomers (i.e, styrene, ethylene, benzene, and butadiene) except butadiene has a high contribution GHG emissions resulting from PS production. Butadiene is used in very small amounts for HIPS production (see Section 2.5). Pygas is the highest contributors to GHG emissions from PS production. First of all, pygas is used to produce styrene, although the production share is relatively small (less than 15% of global styrene production) compared to dehydrogenation of ethylbenzene. Pygas is also used to produce benzene (25% of global benzene production) in addition to toluene, which is then used to produce benzene through toluene-based production processes such as transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene (25% of global p-xylene production) (see Section 3.4.2 for details). Pygas is produced by steam cracking of naphtha and VGO. Steam cracking is a very energy- and GHG emissionintensive production. In addition, 50% benzene is produced by catalytic reforming of naphtha. Like PET, the heavy dependence of naphtha and VGO in PS production leads to high demand for crude oil (as the feedstock for both light and heavy naphtha production) and the emissions associated with its extraction.

Appendix Table A.18 provides more details about PS production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 36. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PS production in 2019.

The production of SAN and ABS primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 44.5 MtCO2e in 2019, of which 74% comes from pre-polymerization stages (Figure 29). GHG emissions from SAN and ABS production could reach to 98 MtCO2e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 134.5 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. The monomer production stage has the highest share of emissions. Figure 37 provides a detailed picture of contribution of different processes to the GHG emissions from SAN and ABS production. As can be seen, the production of almost all monomers (i.e., styrene, ethylene, benzene, and butadiene) and pygas has a high contribution GHG emissions resulting from SAN and ABS production. Pygas is used to produce styrene, although the production share is relatively small (less than 15% of global styrene production) compared to dehydrogenation of ethylbenzene. Pygas is also used to produce benzene (25% of global benzene production) in addition to toluene, which is then used to produce benzene through toluene-based production processes such as transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene (25% of global p-xylene production) (see Section 3.4.2 for details). Pygas is produced by steam cracking of naphtha and VGO. Steam cracking is a very energy- and GHG emission-intensive production. In addition, 50% benzene is produced by catalytic reforming of naphtha. Like PET and PS, the heavy dependence of naphtha and other crude oilbased products in SAN and ABS production leads to high demand for crude oil (as the feedstock for both light and heavy naphtha production) and the emissions associated with its extraction. Butadiene is used in ABS production, and it is a product of energy- and GHG emission-intensive steam cracking of naphtha, gas mix, and VGO.

Appendix Table A.19 provides more details about SAN and ABS production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.



Figure 37. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global SAN and ABS production in 2019.

The production of PU primary plastic polymer products results in approximately 113.6 MtCO₂e in 2019, of which 73% comes from pre-polymerization stages (Figure 29). GHG emissions from PU production could reach to 240.7 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 2.5%/yr; and to 344.5 MtCO₂e under the growth scenario of 4%/yr. The other chemicals production stage has the highest share of emissions, followed by monomer production. Figure 38 provides a detailed picture of contribution of different processes to the GHG emissions from PU production. Individually, polyol production along with PO production has significant emissions footprint. Polyol is one of the basic materials used in the production of PU, and PO is used in the production of polyol. Both polyol and PO production are energy- and GHG emissions-intensive processes (see Section 2.6 for details). Like PVC production, chlorine production also contributes significantly to the emissions from PU production. Chlorine production is a very energy-intensive process, and all three production technologies used in this analysis for chlorine production have similar energy intensities (9.3-13.3 GJ/tonne chlorine) (see Section 2.4). Similar to other polymers that use pygas, the emissions footprint of pygas is higher than other hydrocarbons. Pygas is used to produce benzene (25% of global benzene production) in addition to toluene, which is then used to produce benzene through toluene-based production processes such as transalkylation and disproportionation of toluene (25% of global p-xylene production) (see Section 3.4.2 for details). Benzene is used along with nitric acid in the production of aniline, and benzene is used in the production of ethylbenzene, which is demanded for the production of PO (See Section 2.6). Pygas is produced by steam cracking of naphtha and VGO. Steam cracking is a very energy- and GHG emission-intensive production. In addition, 50% benzene is produced by catalytic reforming of naphtha. Like in other polymers using any BTX product, the heavy dependence of naphtha and other crude oil products in PU production leads to high demand for crude oil (as the feedstock for both light and heavy naphtha production) and the emissions associated with its extraction. In the production of PU, methanol is not only used for ethylene but also for MDI production, which increases methanol's impact on GHG emissions from PU

production. Similarly, natural gas is used as feedstock for not just ethylene production, but also CO production.



Appendix Table A.20 provides more details about PU production process output volumes, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.

Figure 38. Breakdown of GHG emissions associated with global PU production in 2019.

6. Conclusion

The production of most plastic products is projected to increase exponentially, stressing planetary boundaries through a triple crisis of climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution. Plastics' impact on the climate will only grow in the coming decades, as production is expected by industry analysts to at least double by 2050. This study revealed the following main outcomes;

- The global production of plastics generated about 2.24 GtCO₂e in 2019, representing 5.3% of total global GHG emissions (excluding agriculture and LULUCF). In comparison, the global aviation sector generated 0.6 GtCO₂ in 2019, while the global transport sector, including aviation, generated a total of 8.3 GtCO₂ in 2019 [243].)
- Based on the global production volumes and process-specific emission intensities, approximately 22%, 21%, and 15% of emissions related to plastic production in 2019 came from all PEs together, PET, and PP, respectively. Other key plastics, i.e., PVC, PS, SAN, ABS, and PU are responsible for around 23% of global emissions from plastic production.
- Most (~75%) emissions from plastic production occur from the steps prior to polymerization.

- Global plastic production accounted for around 12% of global oil demand and about 8.5% of global natural gas demand in 2019. Primary plastic production is heavily dependent on fossil fuels for feedstock, with as much as 70% of the fossil fuel input consumed as feedstock. This suggests that future primary plastic production could still be heavily dependent on fossil fuels for feedstock despite decarbonization of the energy system.
- Emissions from plastic production could reach 4.75 GtCO₂e by 2050 under a growth scenario of 2.5%/yr, at which point they would account for 21-26% of the remaining global carbon budget to keep global average temperatures below 1.5°C. At 4% annual growth, emissions from plastic production could hit 6.78 GtCO₂e by 2050, accounting for 25-31% of the remaining global carbon budget to keep average temperatures below 1.5°C. If current production levels remained constant, plastic production would still account for 15-19% of the carbon budget. These results assume that global CO₂ emission intensity of electricity generation (represented by the average global grid CO₂ emission intensity) would stay the same through the analysis period.
- Under a sensitivity analysis of decarbonized electric grid in response to stated power sector policies and targets, GHG emissions could drop to about 3.59-5.13 GtCO₂e in 2050 based on 2.5-4% annual growth. Cumulative GHG emissions from plastic production could still account for 17-22% and 21-26% of the remaining carbon budget to stay below the 1.5°C threshold. Even without future growth, plastic production could still account for 13-16% of the remaining carbon budget by 2050.

The targets set out by the Paris Agreement, in which 195 countries pledged to hold the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2 °C above pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels, reveal the urgent need for near-term and high-impact strategies to reduce emissions of all sectors. To keep global warming below 1.5 °C, it is important to recognize and address the GHG emissions of plastic production in the development of policies and programs in support of global climate and plastic treaties. Currently, proposed efforts to reduce plastic pollution under the global plastics treaty overlook plastics' climate impacts. At the same time, GHG emissions from plastic production are often excluded from consideration, even in climate change-related negotiations.

This report's findings show that plastic production has a significant impact on the climate. It also highlights the importance of granularity in modelling and including all stages of production (i.e. upstream, midstream and downstream) when assessing the climate impact from plastic production. The steps prior to polymerization produced the most GHG emissions. In addition, some monomers, such as ethylene, are used almost exclusively in the production of plastics.

The magnitude of the climate impact will only increase if exponential production growth of 2.5% to 4% per year continues. Most plastic pollution mitigation strategies emphasized in the treaty process thus far (e.g., production reduction, elimination of problematic polymers, recycling, and alternative materials) could have different climate change implications, and should be rigorously investigated before a conclusion can be drawn. Eliminating non-essential use of plastics without alternatives, such as microbeads in cleaning products, could lead to a reduction in global GHG emissions from primary plastic production due to a reduction in production volume. However, the GHG impact could be different if primary plastic production is reduced by using alternative materials or recycling. For instance, mechanical recycling can lead to GHG emissions reductions

but is not applicable to all plastic polymer types. It is mostly used for PET and PE products [3], but collection, contamination, and sorting are challenges that can significantly lower the recycling efficiency [250]. In addition, the quality of the polymer often degrades with repeated recycling, so the final product may not provide the same functionality, limiting recycling to a few cycles [250]. Some chemical recycling processes use chemical processes to recover the petrochemical components in plastics, e.g., monomers and hydrocarbons, and some processes convert plastics to fuels. In order for these products to be converted back into plastic polymers, they must go through additional production stages that increase their carbon footprint. Additionally, current chemical recycling methods can require higher energy inputs than mechanical recycling [251]. Similarly, certain alternative materials to plastics can increase overall GHG emissions when produced through conventional processes. Alternative materials used also need to be recyclable in a sustainable and climate-friendly manner. Designing products with reuse, repair and remanufacturing in mind is another important consideration to reduce climate impacts. There is a need to design strategies with system-wide thinking to ensure that any set of solutions is circular, sustainable, and responsible and do not pose health risks. These demand and supply-side strategies need to consider implications from plastics pollution beyond climate to address environmental and health problems related to plastic from global and local perspectives.

In achieving the overall 1.5°C goal, it is vital to set targets for the growing plastics industry that are coordinated and scalable in the context of a broader national, regional, or international political process. Synergistic actions between global treaties are necessary to maximize the beneficial impacts of global negotiations to address the multifaceted challenges presented by plastics and climate change. The global plastic treaty presents a historic opportunity to tackle plastic pollution and also provide a level playing field to design upstream, midstream, and downstream policies and measures to address GHG emissions from the primary plastic production globally and at scale.

For future work, we plan to expand our modeling framework to include recycling methods and the production of alternative materials to plastic in order to evaluate the climate impact of various mitigation strategies that may include these actions. We also plan to extend the modelling from global scale to incorporate regional details as the improved geographic granularity could help better inform the setting of region or national goals and actions.

References

[1] Chalmin, P. (2019) The history of plastics: from the Capitol to the Tarpeian Rock. *Field Actions Science Reports*, Special Issue 19, 6-11 <u>http://journals.openedition.org/factsreports/5071</u>.

[2] Singh, N., Ogunseitan, O.A., Wong, M.H., Tang, Y. (2022) Sustainable materials alternative to petrochemical plastics pollution: A review analysis. Sustainable Horizons. Volume 2, 100016, ISSN 2772-7378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.horiz.2022.100016

[3] OECD (2022) Global Plastics Outlook: Policy Scenarios to 2060. www.oecd.org/environment/plastics/

[4] Jambeck, J.R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T.R., Perryman, M., Andray, A., Narayan, R., Law, K.L. (2015) Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. Vol 347, Issue 6223, pp. 768-771. DOI: 10.1126/science.1260352.

[5] Stegmann, P., Daioglou, V., Londo, M. et al. (2022) Plastic futures and their CO₂ emissions. Nature 612, 272–276. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05422-5

[6] Kazemi, M., Kabir, Sk.,F., Fini, E.H. (2021) State of the art in recycling waste thermoplastics and thermosets and their applications in construction. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. Volume 174. 105776. ISSN 0921-3449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105776

[7] Levi and Cullen (2018) Mapping Global Flows of Chemicals: From Fossil Fuel Feedstocks to Chemical Products. Environmental Science & Technology 2018 52 (4), 1725-1734.

[8] Bauer, F., Tilsted, J.P., Pfister, S., Oberschelp, C., Kulionis, V. (2023) Mapping GHG emissions and prospects for renewable energy in the chemical industry, Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering, Volume 39, 100881, ISSN 2211-3398, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2022.100881</u>

[9] NASEM (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine) (2022) Reckoning with the U.S. Role in Global Ocean Plastic Waste. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/26132</u>

[10] MacLeod, M., Arp, H. P. H., Tekman, M. B. & Jahnke, A. (2021) The global threat from plastic pollution. Science 373, 61–65. DOI: 10.1126/science.abg5433

[11] Geyer R., Jambeck, J.R., Law, K.R. (2017) Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci. Adv. 3, e1700782. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.1700782

[12] Solomon, C.G., Salas, R.N. (2024) Health Effects of Fossil Fuel-Derived Endocrine Disruptors. Fossil-Fuel Pollution and Climate Change. N Engl J Med 2024;390:922-33. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra2300476

[13] WHO (World Health Organization) Climate change, pollution and health Impact of chemicals, waste and pollution on human health. Report by the Director-General. EB154/24 18 December 2023.

[14] UNEP (United Nations Environment Program) (2023) Chemicals in Plastics - A Technical Report. https://www.unep.org/resources/report/chemicals-plastics-technical-report

[15] De Loughry, T. (2019). Polymeric chains and petrolic imaginaries: world literature, plastic, and negative value. Green Letters, 23(2), 179–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14688417.2019.1650661</u>

[16] Sicotte, D.M. (2020) From cheap ethane to a plastic planet: Regulating an industrial global production network. Energy Research & Social Science. Volume 66. 101479. ISSN 2214-6296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101479</u>

[17] Zheng, J., Suh, S. (2019) Strategies to reduce the global carbon footprint of plastics. Nat. Clim. Chang. 9, 374–378 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0459-z</u>

[18] Cabernard, L., Pfister, S., Oberschelp, C. et al. (2022) Growing environmental footprint of plastics driven by coal combustion. Nat Sustain 5, 139–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00807-2</u>

[19] CIEL (Center for International Environmental Law) (2019) Plastic & climate: the hidden costs of a plastic planet.

[20] GRID-Arendal (2024). Climate impacts of plastics: Global actions to stem climate change and end plastic pollution. Norway.

[21] Vidal, F., van der Marel, E.R., Kerr, R.W.F. et al. Designing a circular carbon and plastics economy for a sustainable future. Nature 626, 45–57 (2024). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06939-z</u>

[22] Meng F, Brandão M, Cullen J (2024). Replacing plastics with alternatives is worse for greenhouse gas emissions in most cases. Environmental Science & Technology, 58, 6, 2716–2727.

[23] IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2022) Climate Change 2022 Mitigation of Climate Change Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

[24] Rosenboom, JG., Langer, R. & Traverso, G. (2022) Bioplastics for a circular economy. Nat Rev Mater 7, 117–137 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-021-00407-8

[25] Vlasopoulos et al. (2023) Life cycle assessment of plastic waste and energy recovery. Energy, Volume 277, 127576.

[26] Li, Q., Dai, T., Gao, T., Zhong, W., Wen, B., Li, T., Zhou, Y. (2021) Aluminum material flow analysis for production, consumption, and trade in China from 2008 to 2017. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 296. 126444. ISSN 0959-6526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126444</u>

[27] Moriguchi, Y., Hashimoto, S. (2016). Material Flow Analysis and Waste Management. In: Clift, R., Druckman, A. (eds) Taking Stock of Industrial Ecology. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20571-7_12</u>

[28] Liang H, Dong H, Zhang C, Geng Y, Liu X, Liu G, Zhong C. (2023) Combining LCA-MFA models to identify China's plastic value chain environmental impact mitigation pathways. iScience. 26(9):107701. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2023.107701. PMID: 37694146; PMCID: PMC10483054.

[29] Hsu, W., Domenech, T., McDowall, W. (2021) How circular are plastics in the EU?: MFA of plastics in the EU and pathways to circularity. Cleaner Environmental Systems. Volume 2. 100004. ISSN 2666-7894.

[30] Liang, C., Ulises R. Gracida-Alvarez, Ethan T. Gallant, Paul A. Gillis, Yuri A. Marques, Graham P. Abramo, Troy R. Hawkins, Jennifer B. Dunn (2021) Material Flows of Polyurethane in the United States. Environmental Science & Technology 2021 55 (20), 14215-14224. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.1c03654

[31] Kuczenski, B.; Geyer, R. (2011) Material Flow Analysis of Polyethylene Terephthalate in the US, 1996–2007. Resour., Conserv. Recycl. 2010, 54, 1161–1169, DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2010.03.013

[32] Ciacci, L.; Passarini, F.; Vassura, I. (2017) The European PVC Cycle: In-Use Stock and Flows. Resour., Conserv. Recycl. 2017, 123, 108–116. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.08.008

[33] Delphine, K., Scheeder, P.R.W., R. W.; Nowack, B. (2018) Probabilistic Material Flow Analysis of Seven Commodity Plastics in Europe. Environmental Science & Technology, 52 (17), 9874-9888CODEN: ESTHAG; ISSN:0013-936X.

[34] Jiang, X., Wang, T., Jiang, M., Xu, M., Yu, Y., Guo, B., Chen, D., Hu, S., Jiang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, B. (2020) Assessment of Plastic Stocks and Flows in China: 1978-2017. Resour., Conserv. Recycl. 161, 104969.DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104969

[35] Heller, M.C., Mazor, M.H., Keoleian, G.A. (2020) Plastics in the US: toward a material flow characterization of production, markets and end of life. Environmental Research Letters (2020), 15 (9), 094034CODEN: ERLNAL; ISSN:1748-9326.

[36] Chen, Q., Min, L.V., Wang, D., Tang, Z., Wei, W., Sun, Y. (2017) Eco-efficiency assessment for global warming potential of ethylene production processes: A case study of China. Volume 142, Part 4. Pages 3109-3116. ISSN 0959-6526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.156.

[37] Chen, J.M., Yu, B., Wei, Y. (2018) Energy technology roadmap for ethylene industry in China. Applied Energy. Volume 224. Pages 160-174. ISSN 0306-2619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.04.051.

[38] Haribal, V.P., Chen, Y., Neal, L., Li, F. (2018) Intensification of Ethylene Production from Naphtha via a Redox. Engineering. Volume 4, Issue 5. Pages 714-721. ISSN 2095-8099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eng.2018.08.001.

[39] Ren, T., Patel, M., Blok, K. (2006) Olefins from conventional and heavy feedstocks: Energy use in steam cracking and alternative processes. Energy 2006, 31 (4) 425–451 DOI: 10.1016/j.energy.2005.04.001.

[40] Layritz, L.S., Dolganova, I., Finkbeiner, M., Luderer, G., Penteado, A.T., Ueckerdt, F., Repke, J. (2018) The potential of direct steam cracker electrification and carbon capture & utilization via oxidative coupling of methane as decarbonization

strategies for ethylene production. Applied Energy. Volume 296. 117049. ISSN 0306-2619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.117049.

[41] Yao, Y., Graziano, D.J., Riddle, M., Cresko, J., Masanet, E.(2015) Understanding Variability To Reduce the Energy and GHG Footprints of U.S. Ethylene Production. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2015, 49, 24, 14704–14716. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03851

[42] Gursel, I.V., Moretti, C., Hamelin, L., Jakobsen, L.G., Steingrimsdottir, M.M., Junginger, M., Høibye, L., Shen, L. (2021) Comparative cradle-to-grave life cycle assessment of bio-based and petrochemical PET bottles. Science of The Total Environment. Volume 793, 2021, 148642, ISSN 0048-9697, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148642</u>.

[43] Agrawal, P., Silva, M.H.A., Cavalcanti, S.N. et al. (2022) Rheological properties of high-density polyethylene/linear lowdensity polyethylene and high-density polyethylene/low-density polyethylene blends. Polym. Bull. 79, 2321–2343 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-021-03635-8

[44] CMI (Coherent Market Insights) (2023) Low-density polyethylene market analysis. Report. <u>https://www.coherentmarketinsights.com/market-insight/low-density-poly-ethylene-ldpe-market-3844</u>

[45] US DOE (Department of Energy) (2017) Bandwidth Study on Energy Use and Potential Energy Savings Opportunities in U.S. Plastics and Rubber Manufacturing.

https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2017/12/f46/Plastics_and_rubber_bandwidth_study_2017.pdf

[46] Nicholson, S., Rorrer, N.A., Carpenter, A.C., Beckham, G.T.(2021) Manufacturing energy and greenhouse gas emissions associated with plastics consumption in the US. Manufacturing energy and greenhouse gas emissions associated with plastics consumption. Joule. Volume 5, Issue 3. Pages 673-686. ISSN 2542-4351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2020.12.027.

[47] Pham, N.T. (2021) Characterization of Low-Density Polyethylene and LDPE-Based/Ethylene-Vinyl Acetate with Medium Content of Vinyl Acetate. Polymers (Basel). (14): 2352. doi: 10.3390/polym13142352

[48] Konstantinov, I.A., Broadbelt, L.J. (2019) Chapter 2 - A Quantum Mechanical Approach for Accurate Rate Parameters of Free-Radical Polymerization Reactions, Editor(s): Masoud Soroush, Computational Quantum Chemistry, Elsevier, 2019, Pages 17-46, ISBN 9780128159835, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815983-5.00002-7</u>

[49] Russo, S.; Valero, A.; Valero, A.; Iglesias-Émbil, M. (2021) Exergy-Based Assessment of Polymers Production and Recycling: An Application to the Automotive Sector. Energies 2021, 14, 363. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en14020363</u>

[50] Alkaya, E., Demirer, G.N. (2015) Reducing water and energy consumption in chemical industry by sustainable production approach: a pilot study for polyethylene terephthalate production. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 99. Pages 119-128. ISSN 0959-6526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.02.087.

[51] IEA (International Energy Agency) (2013) Energy and GHG Reductions in the Chemical Industry via Catalytic Processes: ANNEXES. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/fc71e0ab-aef1-4d06-b9c2-</u> caf293a91c6e/Technology_Roadmap_Catalytic_Processes_Annexes.pdf

[52] Vlachopoulos, J., Sidiropoulos, V. (2001) Polymer Film Blowing: Modeling, Editor(s): K.H. Jürgen Buschow, Robert W. Cahn, Merton C. Flemings, Bernhard Ilschner, Edward J. Kramer, Subhash Mahajan, Patrick Veyssière, Encyclopedia of Materials: Science and Technology, Elsevier,2001,Pages 7296-7301,ISBN 9780080431529, https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043152-6/01299-7

[53] Benchaita, T. (2013) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from New Petrochemical Plants. Inter-American Development Bank Environmental Safeguards Unit TECHNICAL NOTE No. IDB - TN - 562 July 2013.

[54] Worrell, E., Price, L., Neelis, M., Zhou, N.(2008) World Best Practice Energy Intensity Values for Selected Industrial Sectors. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LBNL-62806.<u>https://eta-publications.lbl.gov/sites/default/files/industrial_best_practice_en.pdf</u>

[55] Kim, T., Benavides, P.T., Kneifel, J., Beers, K. Lu, Z., Hawkins, T.R. (2024) Life-Cycle Analysis Datasets for Regionalized Plastic Pathways. Argonne National Laboratory. ANL/ESIA-24/3.

[56] EC (European Commission) (2007) - Reference Document on Best Available Techniques in the Production of Polymers. https://eippcb.jrc.ec.europa.eu/reference/production-polymers [57] GMI (Global Market Insight) (2017) Europe linear low-density polyethylene (LLDPE) market to collect heavy revenue by 2024, high product demand from roto molding applications to positively impact the regional growth. https://www.gminsights.com

[58] Emergen Research (2023) Linear low-density polyethylene industry overview. https://www.emergenresearch.com/industry-report/linear-low-density-polyethylene-market

[59] Felgel-Farnholz, A., Schweighuber, A., Klampfl, C.F., Fischer, J. (2023) Comparative study on the degradation of HDPE, LLDPE and LDPE during multiple extrusions. Polymer Degradation and Stability. Volume 216. ISSN 0141-3910, doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2023.110486.

[60] Emblem, A. (2012) 13 - Plastics properties for packaging materials, Editor(s): Anne Emblem, Henry Emblem, Packaging Technology. Woodhead Publishing. Pages 287-309. ISBN 9781845696658. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857095701.2.287.

[61] Greiner, E.O.C., Inoguchi. Y. (2010) Chemical Economics Handbook Linear alpha-Olefins (681.5030). https://cdn.ihs.com/www/pdf/CEH-Linear-Alpha-Olefins-sample-report-2010.pdf

[62] Okamura, Ta. (2015). Polyethylene (PE; Low Density and High Density). In: Kobayashi, S., Müllen, K. (eds) Encyclopedia of Polymeric Nanomaterials. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-29648-2_252

[63] Prismane Consulting (2021) Linear Alpha Olefins (LAOs) demand to surpass 7800 kilo tons by 2030. Report. https://prismaneconsulting.com/pressrelease-details/linear-alpha-olefins-laos-demand-to-surpass-7800-kilo-tons-by-2030says-prismane-consulting

[64] Jenkins, S. (2013) A solution-based route to LLDPE. Chemical Engineering(Vol. 120, Issue 7)

[65] Syed, F.H., Vernon, W.D. (2002) Status of low-pressure pe process licensing. New generation polyolefins. June/July 2002/Volume 7/Issue No 6 Page 18.

[66] Pladis, P., Meimaroglou, D., Kiparissides, C. (2015) Prediction of the Viscoelastic Behavior of Low-Density Polyethylene Produced in High-Pressure Tubular Reactors. Macromolecul Reaction Engineering. Volume 9, Issue 3. Special Issue: Statistical Modeling Tools and Approaches for Polymerization Reaction Engineering. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mren.201500008</u>

[67] Ceresana Market Research (2019) Polyethylene – HDPE Market Report (5th ed.) <u>https://ceresana.com/en/produkt/polyethylene-hdpe-market-report</u>

[68] MMR (Maximize Market Research) (2024a) High Density Polyethylene Market: Global Industry Analysis and Forecast (2024-2030) Trends, Statistics, Dynamics, Segmentation by Application, End-user Industry, and Regions https://www.maximizemarketresearch.com/market-report/global-high-density-polyethylene-market/22353/

[69] Rangel, E. (2018) Modern Manufacturing: Polymerization of High Density Polyethylene (HDPE)

[70] Rani, M., Meenu, Shanker, U. (2023) <u>Chapter 14 - The role of nanomaterials in plastics biodegradability. Editor(s):</u> Anjana Sarkar, Bhasha Sharma, Shashank Shekhar, Biodegradability of Conventional Plastics. Elsevier. Pages 283-308. ISBN 9780323898584. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89858-4.00012-9

[71] Matthews, B. (2021) Global fibre production doubles in 20 years. Apperal Insider. <u>https://apparelinsider.com/global-fibre-production-doubles-in-20-years/</u>

[72] MMR (2024b) Polypropylene Market: Versatility and Wide Range of Applications to boost market growth. <u>https://www.maximizemarketresearch.com/market-report/polypropylene-market/2055/</u>

[73] GVR (Grand View Research) (2021) Polypropylene Market Size, Share & Trends Analysis Report By Polymer Type (Homopolymer, Copolymer), By Process, By Application, By End-Use, By Region, And Segment Forecasts, 2023 – 2030. Report ID: GVR-4-68038-493-2. <u>https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/polypropylene-market</u>

[74] Eccles, A. (2023) What is Polypropylene. National Tank Outlet. <u>https://www.ntotank.com/blog/what-is-polypropylene#:~:text=Polypropylene%20polymerization%20is%20often%20performed.either%20a%20homopolymer%20or%20copolymer</u>

[75] Vanderreydt, I., Rommen, T., Tenhunen, A. (2021) Greenhouse gas emissions and natural capital implications of plastics (including biobased plastics). Eionet Report – ETC/WMGE 2021/3. Available from: https://www.eionet.europa.eu/etcs/etc-wmge/products/etc-wmge/products/etc-wmge-reports/greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-natural-capital-implications-of-plastics-including-biobased-plastics/@@download/file/ETC_2.1.2.1. GHGEmissionsOfPlastics_FinalReport_v7.0_ED.pdf

[76] Posen, I.D., Jaramillo, P., Landis, A.E., Griffin, W.M. (2017) Greenhouse gas mitigation for U.S. plastics production: energy first, feedstocks later. Environ. Res. Lett. 12 034024. DOI 10.1088/1748-9326/aa60a7.

[77] Benyathiar, P.; Kumar, P.; Carpenter, G.; Brace, J.; Mishra, D.K. (2022) Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) Bottle-to-Bottle Recycling for the Beverage Industry: A Review. Polymers. 14, 2366. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14122366</u>

[78] Pudack, C., Stepanski, M., Fässler, P. (2020) PET Recycling – Contributions of Crystallization to Sustainability. Chemie Ingenieur Technik. Volume 92, Issue 4. Special Issue: Rohstoffinnovationen und Rohstoffeffizienz. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201900085

[79] EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) (2023) Poly(ethyleneTerephthalate). Organic Chemical Process Industry. c06s06-2. Available from: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/ttnchie1/ap42/ch06/final/c06s06-2.pdf</u>

[80] Vouyiouka, S.N., Karakatsani, E.K., Papaspyrides, C.D. (2005) Solid state polymerization, Progress in Polymer Science, Volume 30, Issue 1, 2005, Pages 10-37, ISSN 0079-6700, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2004.11.001</u>

[81] Viscostar (2023) "Solid state polycondensation plant for iV increase and decontamination of polyester pellets and/or flakes to be used after a pelletizing extruder, stand alone, or in front of a production extruder." Starlinger Group. <u>https://www.viscotec.at/our-rpet-product-line/viscostar/</u>

[82] Azarpour, A., Mohamadi-Baghmolaei, M., Hajizadeh, A., Zendehboudi, S. (2022) Systematic energy and exergy assessment of a hydropurification process: Theoretical and practical insights. Energy, Volume 239, Part C, 2022, 122023, ISSN 0360-5442, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122023

[83] Marzcak, H. (2022) Energy Inputs on the Production of Plastic Products. J. Ecol. Eng. 2022; 23(9):146-156. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/151815

[84] Busca, G. (2021) Production of Gasolines and Monocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: From Fossil Raw Materials to Green Processes. Energies 2021, 14(13), 4061; https://doi.org/10.3390/en14134061

[85] Fan, L., Zhao, Y., Chen, L. Chen J., Chen, J., Yang, H., Xiao, Y., Zhang, T., Chen, J., Wang, L. (2023) Selective production of ethylene glycol at high rate via cascade catalysis. Nat Catal 6, 585–595. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41929-023-00977-6

[86] Liu, E. (2023) Acetic acid application field. Hebei Pengfa Chemical Co.,Ltd.

[87] Xu, Y., Zhu, Q. (2008) Research and Implementation of Decreasing the Acetic Acid Consumption in Purified Terephthalic Acid Solvent System. Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering. Volume 16, Issue 4. Pages 650-655. ISSN 1004-9541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1004-9541(08)60136-6</u>

[88] EPA (2023) Terephthalic Acid. Organic Chemical Process Industry. 6.11-1. Available from: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/ttnchie1/ap42/ch06/final/c06s11.pdf</u>

[89] Statista Research Department (Statista) (2023a) Market volume of acetic acid worldwide from 2015 to 2022, with a forecast for 2023 to 2030. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1245203/acetic-acid-market-volume-worldwide/

[90] MMR (2024c) Acetic Acid Market - Global Industry Analysis and Forecast (2023-2029). Technical report.

[91] India Infoline (2023) Organic Chemicals: Acetic Acid. India Infoline Sector Reports.

[92] Plastemart (2021) Global acetic acid market estimated to reach 15.5 million tons by 2020. Technical papers plastics.

[93] Dimian, A.C., Kiss, A.A. (2020) Novel energy efficient process for acetic acid production by methanol carbonylation, Chemical Engineering Research and Design, Volume 159. Pages 1-12, ISSN 0263-8762, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2020.04.013 [94] Mekala, M., Goli, V.R. (2015) Kinetics of esterification of methanol and acetic acid with mineral homogeneous acid catalyst, Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering, Volume 23, Issue 1, Pages 100-105, ISSN 1004-9541, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ciche.2013.08.002.

[95] Bittlinger, E., Feldmann, M., Geltl, A., Kirchner, C., Mieden, O. Vogel, E., Riedmiller, F. (2022) Back on Growth Path -Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC): Specialties Lead to Improvements in Many Areas. Specialist report. Available from: <u>https://en.kunststoffe.de/a/specialistarticle/back-on-growth-path-3201736</u>

[96] Pathare, V. (2016) INSIGHT: The Indian PVC market – the need for a benchmark. Independent Commodity Intellegience Services (ICIS) report. Available from:

https://www.icis.com/explore/resources/news/2016/08/26/10029281/insight-the-indian-pvc-market-the-need-for-a-benchmark/

[97] Iqbal, T., Aziz, A. (2018) Sector Update: Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC). JCR-VIS Credit Rating Company Limited. Available from: https://docs.vis.com.pk/docs/Polyvinyl%20Chloride.pdf

[98] Plastics Europe (2023) Eco-profiles for determining environmental impacts of plastics. <u>https://plasticseurope.org/sustainability/circularity/life-cycle-thinking/eco-profiles-set/</u>

[99] ECVM (European Council of Vinyl Manufacturers) & PlasticsEurope (2005) Eco-profiles of the European Plastics Industry: Polyvinylchloride (PVC) (Suspension Polymerisation). Available from: <u>https://www.inference.org.uk/sustainable/LCA/elcd/external_docs/spvc_60635d04-5246-45d7-90a5-59a203bd9369.pdf</u>

[100] IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans (2008) 1,3-Butadiene, Ethylene Oxide and Vinyl Halides (Vinyl Fluoride, Vinyl Chloride and Vinyl Bromide). Lyon (FR): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2008. (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, No. 97.) Vinyl Chloride. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK321402/

[101] Semeijn, V.P., Shure, K.M. (2020) Decarbonisation options for the Dutch PVC industry. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency. TNO The Hague, 2020. PBL publication number: 3717 TNO project nr. 060.33956 / publication nr. TNO 2019 P11954

[102] Pascault, J.P., Höfer, R., Fuertes, P. (2012) 10.04 - Mono-, Di-, and Oligosaccharides as Precursors for Polymer Synthesis. Editor(s): Krzysztof Matyjaszewski, Martin Möller. Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference. Elsevier. Pages 59-82. ISBN 9780080878621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53349-4.00254-5</u>.

[103] Brandt-Rauf PW, Li Y, Long C, Monaco R, Kovvali G, Marion MJ. Plastics and carcinogenesis: The example of vinyl chloride. J Carcinog. 2012;11:5. doi: 10.4103/1477-3163.93700. Epub 2012 Mar 12. PMID: 22529741; PMCID: PMC3327051.

[104] Statista (2024b) Market volume of chlorine worldwide from 2015 to 2022, with a forecast for 2023 to 2030. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1310477/chlorine-market-volume-worldwide/</u>

[105] US DOE (2006) Advanced Chlor-Alkali Technology. Industrial Technologies Program. U.S. Department of Energy. Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. Available from: https://www1.eere.energy.gov/manufacturing/industries_technologies/imf/pdfs/1797_advanced_chlor-alkali.pdf

[106] Valette, J., Murtagh, C., (2019) Chlorine and Building Materials: A Global Inventory of Production Technologies and Markets Phase 2: Asia. Editors: Michael Dedeo, Teresa McGrath, Rebecca Stamm, Biftu Takele, Bill Walsh. Healthy Building Network.

[107] Euro Chlor (2010) The European Chlor-Alkali industry: an electricity intensive sector exposed to carbon leakage. Available from: <u>https://www.eurochlor.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/3-2-the_european_chlor-alkali_industry_-</u> <u>an_electricity_intensive_sector_exposed_to_carbon_leakage.pdf</u>

[108] https://www.osti.gov/biblio/1418333.

https://dechema.de/dechema_media/Downloads/Positionspapiere/Technology_study_Low_carbon_energy_and_feedstoc k_for_the_European_chemical_industry.pdf

[109] Koerner, G.R., Hsuan, Y.G., Koerner, R.M. (2007) 3 - The durability of geosynthetics, In Woodhead Publishing Series in Textiles, Geosynthetics in Civil Engineering, Woodhead Publishing Pages 36-65, ISBN 9781855736078, https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845692490.1.36 [110] Kelly, G.M., Elman, J.F., Jiang, Z., Strzalka, J., Albert, J.N.L.(2018) . Thermal transitions in semi-crystalline polymer thin films studied via spectral reflectance. Polymer. Volume 143. Pages 336-342. ISSN 0032-3861. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.polymer.2018.04.017

[111] De-LA-Torre, G.E., Dioses-Salinas, D.C., Pizarro-Ortega, C.I., Saldaña-Serrano, M. (2020) Global distribution of two polystyrene-derived contaminants in the marine environment: A review. Marine Pollution Bulletin. Volume 161, Part A. 111729. ISSN 0025-326X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.marpolbul.2020.111729</u>

[112] GME (Global Market Estimates) (2023) Global Polystyrene Market: Insights. GME report. Available from: https://www.globalmarketestimates.com/market-report/polystyrene-market-3359

[113] Hansen, A.P., da Silva, G.A., Kulay, L. (2015) Evaluation of the environmental performance of alternatives for polystyrene production in Brazil. Sci Total Environ. 2015 Nov 1:532:655-68. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.06.049.

[114] Valentini, L.,Lopez-Manchado, M.A. (2020) Chapter 1 - Classification of rubbers and components for harsh environmental systems. Editor(s): Luca Valentini, Miguel Angel Lopez Manchado. High-Performance Elastomeric Materials Reinforced by Nano-Carbons. Elsevier, 2020. Pages 1-14. ISBN 9780128161982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816198-2.00001-3.</u>

[115] EFP (Engineered Foam Products) (2023) Expanded Polystyrene. Available from: https://www.engineeredfoamproducts.com/materials/expanded-polystyrene/

[116] UNEP (2015) Phasing out HCFCs in small and medium-sized foam enterprises. Available from: <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/27065/7722PhoutHCFCs.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>

[117] Olivera , S., Muralidhara, H.B., Venkatesh, K., Gopalakrishna, K., Vivek, C.S. (2016) Plating on acrylonitrilebutadiene-styrene (ABS) plastic: a review. J Mater Sci 51, 3657–3674 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-015-9668-7

[118] Shi, Y., Yan, C., Zhou, Y., Wu, J., Wang, Y., Yu, S., Chen, Y. (2021) Chapter 2 - Polymer materials for additive manufacturing—powder materials. Editor(s): Yusheng Shi, Chunze Yan, Yan Zhou, Jiamin Wu, Yan Wang, Shengfu Yu, Ying Chen. In 3D Printing Technology Series. Materials for Additive Manufacturing. Academic Press. 2021. Pages 9-189. ISBN 9780128193020. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819302-0.00002-X

[119] GIA (Global Industry Analysts) (2024) Global Acrylonitrile Industry. Report ID:5817756. Available from: https://www.reportlinker.com/p05817756/?utm_source=GNW

[120] MRC (Merchant Research and Consulting) (2024) Acrylonitrile (ACN): 2024 World Market Outlook and Forecast up to 2033. Available from: https://mcgroup.co.uk/researches/acrylonitrile-acn

[121] Flannery, B.P., Mares, J.W. (2022) Greenhouse Gas Index for Products in 39 Industrial Sectors: Synthetic Rubber. NAICS CODE 325212. Working Paper 22-16 M23 September 2022. Available from: https://media.rff.org/documents/WP_22-16_M23.pdf

[122] Vink, E.T.H., Davies, S., Kolstad, J.J.(2010) The eco-profile for current Ingeo® polylactide production. Industrial biotechnology. Vol. 6, no. 4.

[123] file:///C:/Users/nkara/Downloads/jrc109279_lvoc_bref2017(1).pdf

[124] Gupta, R., Uslu, H., Majumder, S.(2022) Production of Styrene from Dehydrogenation of Ethylbenzene. Chem. Eng. Tech. Volume 45, Issue 5. Pages 817-823. May 2022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ceat.202100577</u>

[125] National Toxicology Program. 15th Report on Carcinogens [Internet]. Research Triangle Park (NC): National Toxicology Program; 2021 Dec 21. Styrene: CAS No. 100-42-5. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK590797/

[126] Morales-Mora, M.A., Rosa-Dominguez, E., Suppen-Reynaga, N., Martinez-Delgadillo, S.A. (2012) Environmental and eco-costs life cycle assessment of an acrylonitrile process by capacity enlargement in Mexico. Process Safety and Environmental Protection. Volume 90, Issue 1, Pages 27-37. ISSN 0957-5820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2011.10.002

[127] Trangwachirachai, K., Lin, Y.C. (2023) Light hydrocarbon conversion to acrylonitrile and acetonitrile – a review. DOI: 10.1039/D2DT03795E (Perspective) Dalton Trans., 2023, 52, 6211-6225.

[128] Sampson, I.E. (2020) International Journal of Advanced Academic Research | Sciences, Technology and Engineering | ISSN: 2488-9849 Vol. 6, Issue 4. Design of ammoxidation process for the production of fifty thousand tons per annum of acrylonitrile.

[129] Akindoyo, J.O., Beg, M.D.H., Ghazali, S., Islam, M.R., Jeyaratnam, N., Yuvaraj, A.R. (2016) - Polyurethane types, synthesis and applications – a review. RSC Adv., 2016,6, 114453-114482 [118] Gama, N.V., Ferreira, A., Barros-Timmons, A. (2018) Polyurethane Foams: Past, Present, and Future. Materials (Basel). 2018 Oct; 11(10): 1841. doi: 10.3390/ma11101841

[130] Tessman, M., Kuntasal, B., Modi, M. (2023) Chapter 5 - Polyurethane processing and degradation: The analytical chemistry. Editor(s): Robert S. Pomeroy.In Emerging Issues in Analytical Chemistry. Rethinking Polyester Polyurethanes. Elsevier. Pages 127-151. ISBN 9780323999823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-99982-3.00009-2</u>

[131] DOW (DOW Chemical Company) (2024) Propylene Oxide. Technical Data Sheet. DOW Chemical Company. Form No. 117-01528-303EC. Available from: https://www.scribd.com/document/156497503/DOW-Propylene-Oxide

[132] DataM Intelligence Analysis (2023) Propylene Oxide Market Size, Share, Industry, Forecast and outlook (2023-2030). DataM Intelligence Report. SKU : CH4882

[133] Franklin Associates (2023a) Cradle-to-gate life cycle analysis of toluene diisocyanate (TDI). Final Report. Submitted to: American Chemistry Council (ACC) Plastics Division. Available from: https://www.americanchemistry.com/better-policy-regulation/plastics/resources/cradle-to-gate-life-cycle-analysis-of-toluene-diisocyanate-resin-precursor

[134] Hobson, S.T., Richieri, R.A., Parseghian, M.H.(2021) Phosgene: toxicology, animal models, and medical countermeasures, Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods, 31:4, 293-307, DOI: 10.1080/15376516.2021.1885544

[135] S&P Global (2021) Phosgene. Chemical economics handbook. S&P Global Commodity Insights report. Available from: https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/ci/products/phosgene-chemical-economics-handbook.html

[136] US Department of Labor (DOL) (2008) Phosgene -(Organic Method #61). Available from: <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-07/documents/osha-method61.pdf</u>

[137] Russo, V., Tesser, R., Santacesaria, E., Di Serio, M. (2021) Chemical and Technical Aspects of Propene Oxide Production via Hydrogen Peroxide (HPPO Process). Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 52, 3, 1168–1178. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie3023862

[138] Lervold, S., Lødeng, R., Yang, J., Skjelstad, J., Bingen, K., Venvik, H.J. (2021) Partial oxidation of methanol to formaldehyde in an annular reactor. Chemical Engineering Journal. Volume 423. 130141. ISSN 1385-8947. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.130141

[139] Puhar, J., Vujanović, A.; Awad, P., Čuček, L. (2021) Reduction of Cost, Energy and Emissions of the Formalin Production Process via Methane Steam Reforming. Systems 2021, 9, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/systems9010005</u>

[140] Andersson, A., Holmberg, J. & Häggblad, R. (2016) Process Improvements in Methanol Oxidation to Formaldehyde: Application and Catalyst Development. Top Catal 59, 1589–1599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-016-0680-1</u>

[141] Millar, G.J., Collins, M. (2017) Industrial Production of Formaldehyde Using Polycrystalline Silver Catalyst. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2017, 56, 33, 9247–9265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.7b02388</u>

[142] Grande, C.A., Andreassen, K.A., Cavka, J.H., Waller, D., Lorentsen, O.-A., Øien, H., Zander, H.,-J., Poulston, S., García, S., Modeshia, D. (2018) Process Intensification in Nitric Acid Plants by Catalytic Oxidation of Nitric Oxide. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 57, 31, 10180–10186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.8b01483</u>

[143] US DOE (2017) Bandwidth Study on Energy Use and Potential Energy Savings Opportunities in U.S. Plastics and Rubber Manufacturing. Available from:

https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2017/12/f46/Plastics_and_rubber_bandwidth_study_2017.pdf

[144] Kent (2009) What's Your Process Energy Fingerprint? Article adapted from the book "Energy Management in Plastics Processing, 2002". Available from: <u>https://www.ptonline.com/articles/whats-your-process-energy-fingerprint</u>

[145] Kent, R. (2018) Chapter 2 - Energy benchmarking. Editor(s): Robin Kent. Energy Management in Plastics Processing (Third Edition), Elsevier. Pages 33-78. ISBN 9780081025079. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102507-9.50002-7</u>

[146] BPF (British Plastics Federation) (2023) Base and variable loads. Booklet: Energy Management in Plastics Processing. Available from: <u>https://www.bpf.co.uk/plastipedia/energy/Base_and_variable_loads.aspx</u>

[147] Ebnesajjad, S.(2016) Fluoroplastics. Volume 2: Melt Processible Fluoropolymers - the Definitive User's Guide and Data Book. Book. Second Edition. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/C2012-0-05998-4</u>

[148] Khripko, D., Schlüter, B.A., Rommel, B., Rosano, M., Hesselbach, J. (2016) Energy demand and efficiency measures in polymer processing: comparison between temperate and Mediterranean operating plants. Int J Energy Environ Eng 7, 225–233 (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40095-015-0200-2</u>

[149] Marczak (2022) - Energy Inputs on the Production of Plastic Products. J. Ecol. Eng. 2022; 23(9):146-156. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/151815

[150] Elias, S. (2021) Chapter 6 - Impacts of Chemical Pollution on Marine Ecosystems. Editor(s): Scott Elias. Threats to the Arctic. Elsevier. Pages 93-121. ISBN 9780128215555. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-821555-5.00010-3.

[151] van der Velden, N.M., Patel, M.K. & Vogtländer, J.G. (2014) LCA benchmarking study on textiles made of cotton, polyester, nylon, acryl, or elastane. Int J Life Cycle Assess 19, 331–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0626-9</u>

[152] Matyjaszewski, K., Möller, M. (2012) Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference. 1st Edition. 978-0-08-087862-1.

[153] Najari, S., Saeidi, S., Gallucci, F., Drioli, E. (2021) Mixed matrix membranes for hydrocarbons separation and recovery: a critical review. Reviews in Chemical Engineering, vol. 37, no. 3, 2021, pp. 363-406. https://doi.org/10.1515/revce-2018-0091

[154] Rostovtseva, V., Faykov, I., Pulyalina, A. (2022) A Review of Recent Developments of Pervaporation Membranes for Ethylene Glycol Purification. Membranes. 12(3):312. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12030312</u>

[155] Gelder, A. (2023) Refinery/petrochemical integration disrupts gas-based cracker feedstock advantage. Available from: <u>https://www.gpca.org.ae/2023/05/22/refinery-petrochemical-integration-disrupts-gas-based-cracker-feedstock-advantage/</u>

[156] Smedt, P.-d., (2017) Long term prospects for petrochemicals and its feedstocks. Session : Future of special refined products. Available from: https://www.concawe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Session-4-Presentation-4-Philip-de-Smedt-Petrochemicals-Europe.pdf

[157] Xiang, N., Li, S., Shu, C., Xu, F. (2023) Dynamic material flow analysis of Chinese ethylene production processes and optimal pathway exploration with potential environmental-economic impacts. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 392. 136282. ISSN 0959-6526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.136282</u>

[158] Asiachem (2022) Green methanol - one of the most important downstream applications of green hydrogen. Available from:

https://www.asiachem.org/en/efcv_20220628#:~:text=Due%20to%20China's%20resource%20characteristics.which%20 accounts%20for%20over%2090%25

[159] Alzamly, A., Bakiro, M., Ahmed, S.H., Siddig, L.A., Nguyen, H.L. (2022) Linear α-olefin oligomerization and polymerization catalyzed by metal-organic frameworks. Coordination Chemistry Reviews. Volume 462. 214522. ISSN 0010-8545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2022.214522</u>

[160] Meiswinkel,A., Wöhl, A., Müller, W., Bölt, H. (2011) Developing Linear-alpha-Olefins Technology – From Laboratory to a Commercial Plant. Catalysis – Innovative Applications in Petrochemistry and Refining DGMK Conference October 4-6, 2011, Dresden, Germany. Available from: <u>https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/servlets/purl/21520580</u>

[161] Wagner da Silva, M. (2022) Turning the Propylene Production Gap in a Competitive Advantage. Available from: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/turning-propylene-production-gap-competitive-da-silva-mba/

[162] Monai, M., Gambino, M, Wannakao, W., Weckhuysen, B.M. (2021) Propane to olefins tandem catalysis: a selective route towards light olefins production Chem. Soc. Rev., 2021, 50, 11503–11529, <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CS00357G</u>

[163] Arranca (2022) Special Report Propane Dehydrogenation (PDH) Available from: <u>https://www.aranca.com/assets/pdf/PropaneDehydrogenationPDH.pdf</u> [164] Posch, W. (2011) 3 – Polyolefins. Editor(s): Myer Kutz. In Plastics Design Library. Applied Plastics Engineering Handbook. William Andrew Publishing. Pages 23-48. ISBN 9781437735147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-3514-7.10003-0</u>

[165] Zhao, Z., Chong, K., Jiang, J., Wilson, K., Zhang, X., Wang, F. (2018) Low-carbon roadmap of chemical production: A case study of ethylene in China. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. Volume 97. Pages 580-591. ISSN 1364-0321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.08.008</u>

[166] Neal, L.M., Haribal, V.P., Li, F. (2019) Intensified Ethylene Production via Chemical Looping through an Exergetically Efficient Redox Scheme. iScience. Volume 19. Pages 894-904. ISSN 2589-0042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.08.039

[167] TSE (Thunder Said Energy) (2023) Gas fractionation: NGL economics? Thunder Said Energy report. Available from: https://thundersaidenergy.com/downloads/gas-fractionation-ngl-economics/

[168] Akah, A., Williams, J. & Ghrami, M. (2019) An Overview of Light Olefins Production via Steam Enhanced Catalytic Cracking. Catal Surv Asia 23, 265–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10563-019-09280-6

[169] Marcos (2016) Modelling of Naphtha Cracking for Olefins Production. Master's Thesis, Technical University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, 2016.

[170] Haghighi, S.S., Rahimpour, M.R., Raeissi, S., Dehghani, O. (2013) Investigation of ethylene production in naphtha thermal cracking plant in presence of steam and carbon dioxide. Chemical Engineering Journal. Volume 228. Pages 1158-1167. ISSN 1385-8947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.05.048</u>

[171] Young, B., Hawkins, T.R., Chiquelin, C., Sun, P., Gracida-Alvarez, U.R., Elgowainy, A. (2022) Environmental life cycle assessment of olefins and by-product hydrogen from steam cracking of natural gas liquids, naphtha, and gas oil. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 359. 131884. ISSN 0959-6526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.131884</u>

[172] Levi, P.G., Cullen, J.M. (2018) Mapping Global Flows of Chemicals: From Fossil Fuel Feedstocks to Chemical Products. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2018, 52, 4, 1725–1734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b04573</u>

[173] Akah, A., Al-Ghrami, M. (2015) Maximizing propylene production via FCC technology. Appl Petrochem Res 5, 377–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13203-015-0104-3

[174] Wagner da Silva, M. (2021) Conventional x Petrochemical FCC – Achieving Higher Profitability in the Refining Hardware Exploring the Whole Potential of the FCC Technologies. Available from: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/conventional-x-petrochemical-fcc-achieving-higher-da-silva-mba/

[175] John, Y.M., Patel, R. & Mujtaba, I.M. (2018) Maximization of propylene in an industrial FCC unit. Appl Petrochem Res 8, 79–95 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13203-018-0201-1</u>

[176] Szklo, A., Schaeffer, R. (2007) Fuel specification, energy consumption and CO2 emission in oil refineries, Energy, Volume 32, Issue 7,2007, Pages 1075-1092, ISSN 0360-5442, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2006.08.008

[177] Bergmann, M., Schmitz, A., Hayden, M., Kosonen, K. (2007) Imposing a unilateral carbon constraint on European energy-intensive industries and its impact on their international competitiveness – data & analysis. European economy: Economic papers. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/pages/publication11768_en.pdf</u>

[178] Griffiths, S., Sovacool, B.K., Kim, J., Bazilian, M., Uratani, J.M. (2022) Decarbonizing the oil refining industry: A systematic review of sociotechnical systems, technological innovations, and policy options. Energy Research & Social Science. Volume 89. 102542. ISSN 2214-6296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2022.102542

[179] Matzen, M., Alhajji, M., Demirel, Y. (2015) Technoeconomics and Sustainability of Renewable Methanol and Ammonia Productions Using Wind Power-based Hydrogen. J Adv Chem Eng 2015, 5:3 DOI: 10.4172/2090-4568.1000128

[180] Xiang, D., Yang, S., Li, X., Qian, Y. (2015) Life cycle assessment of energy consumption and GHG emissions of olefins production from alternative resources in China. Energy Conversion and Management. Volume 90. Pages 12-20. ISSN 0196-8904. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2014.11.007</u>

[181] Lu K, Huang J, Ren L, Li C, Guan Y, Hu B, Xu H, Jiang J, Ma Y, Wu P. (2020) High Ethylene Selectivity in Methanol-to-Olefin (MTO) Reaction over MOR-Zeolite Nanosheets. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl.; 59(15):6258-6262. doi: 10.1002/anie.202000269. Epub 2020 Feb 18. PMID: 31981394.

[182] Jasper, S., El-Halwagi, M.M. A. (2015) Techno-Economic Comparison between Two Methanol-to-Propylene Processes. Processes. 3, 684-698. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr3030684</u>

[183] Zhao, Z., Liu, Y., Wang, F., Li, X., Deng, S., Xu, J., Wei, W., Wang, F. (2017) Life cycle assessment of primary energy demand and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions of four propylene production pathways in China. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 163. Pages 285-292. ISSN 0959-6526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.099</u>

[184] Kahn (2014) A project report on production of propylene via metathesis. Roll No.1008251016. Moradabad Institute of Technology, Moradabad. U.P. Technical University (U.P.T.U).

[185] Rodríguez-Vallejo, D.F., Gonzalo Guillén-Gosálbez, and Benoît Chachuat (2020) What Is the True Cost of Producing Propylene from Methanol? The Role of Externalities. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2020, 8, 8, 3072–3081. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b05516

[186] Xiang, D., Li, P., Yuan, X. (2022) Process optimization, exergy efficiency, and life cycle energy consumption-GHG emissions of the propane-to-propylene with/without hydrogen production process. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 367. 133024. ISSN 0959-6526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133024</u>

[187] Soares, C. (2015) Chapter 7 - Gas Turbine Fuel Systems and Fuels. Editor(s): Claire Soares. Gas Turbines (Second Edition). Butterworth-Heinemann. Pages 317-411. ISBN 9780124104617. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-410461-7.00007-9

[188] Cao, N.Y.P., Celse, B., Guillaume, D., Guibard, I., Thybaut, J.W. (2019) Assessment of the dominant factors during hydroprocessing stabilization. Editor(s): Anton A. Kiss, Edwin Zondervan, Richard Lakerveld, Leyla Özkan. Computer Aided Chemical Engineering. Elsevier. Volume 46. Pages 1129-1134. ISSN 1570-7946. ISBN 9780128186343. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818634-3.50189-2

[189] Martínez, J., Zúñiga-Hinojosa, M.A., Ruiz-Martínez, R.S. (2022) A Thermodynamic Analysis of Naphtha Catalytic Reforming Reactions to Produce High-Octane Gasoline. Processes 10, no. 2: 313. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr10020313</u>

[190] Statista (2023c) Oil consumption worldwide from 1970 to 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/265261/global-oil-consumption-in-million-metric-tons/</u>

[191] Statista (2023d) Natural gas consumption worldwide from 1998 to 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/282717/global-natural-gas-consumption/</u>

[192] IEA (2024) Fossil Fuels. Available from: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/fossil-fuels

[193] US DOE (2015) Bandwidth Study on Energy Use and Potential Energy Saving Opportunities in U.S. Petroleum Refining. Available from: https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2015/08/f26/petroleum_refining_bandwidth_report.pdf

[194] US DOE (2022) Industrial Decarbonization Roadmap. DOE/EE-2635. Available from: https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-09/Industrial%20Decarbonization%20Roadmap.pdf

[195] Cruz, P.L., Iribarren, D.; Dufour, J. (2019) Life Cycle Costing and Eco-Efficiency Assessment of Fuel Production by Coprocessing Biomass in Crude Oil Refineries. Energies. 12, 4664. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12244664

[196] Vatani, A., Mehrpooya, M., Tirandazi, B. (2013) A novel process configuration for co-production of NGL and LNG with low energy requirement. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification. Volume 63. Pages 16-24. ISSN 0255-2701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cep.2012.10.010</u>

[197] Laciak, Sztekler, K., Szurlej, A., Włodek, T. (2019) Possibilities of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) use for power generation. Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 214 012138. IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science 214. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/214/1/012138

[198] EPA (2024) Draft Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2022. U.S. Environmental Protection 8 Agency, EPA 430-D-24-001. <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/draft-inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-9 and-sinks-1990-2022</u>.

[199] EPA (2024) Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program (GHGRP). Supply, Underground Injection, and Geologic Sequestration of Carbon Dioxide. https://www.epa.gov/ghgreporting/supply-underground-injection-and-geologicsequestration-carbon-dioxide

[200] Lacroix, K., Goldberg, M. H., Gustafson, A., Rosenthal, S. A., Leiserowitz, A. (2020). Should it be called "natural gas" or "methane"? New Haven, CT: Yale Program on Climate Change Communication.

[201] Byrum, Z., Dellesky, C. (2021) A Low-Carbon Future in the US Depends on Decarbonizing Petroleum Refineries. Available from: https://www.wri.org/insights/technologies-decarbonize-petroleum-refineries

[202] EPA (2022) Petroleum refineries - 2011-2021 Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program Industrial Profile: Petroleum Refineries Sector. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2022-11/refineries 2021 sector profile.pdf

[203] Meng, O., Yan, J., Wu, R. et al. Sustainable production of benzene from lignin. Nat Commun 12, 4534 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24780-8

[204] Richardson, J.(2021) Benzene, the need for a new global Industrial Revolution and the big challenges that lie ahead. Independent Commodity Intellegience Services (ICIS) report. Available from: https://www.icis.com/asian-chemicalconnections/2021/11/benzene-the-need-for-a-new-global-industrial-revolution-and-the-big-challenges-that-lieahead/#:~:text=THE%20CHART%20BELOW%20shows%20that,referred%20to%20collectively%20as%20reformate.

[205] Albahar, M.Z. (2018) Selective toluene disproportionation over ZSM-5 zeolite. PhD Thesis School of Chemical Engineering and Analytical Science. Available from:

https://pure.manchester.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/75067313/FULL_TEXT.PDF

[206] ThyssenKrupp (2020) TyssenKrupp industrial solutions market report. Available from: https://ucpcdn.thyssenkrupp.com/ legacy/UCPthyssenkruppBAIS/assets.files/products services/chemical plants pr ocesses/tkis aromatics.pdf

[207] EPA (2016) Xylenes (Mixed isomers) - o-xylene, m-xylene, p-xylene. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2016-09/documents/xvlenes.pdf

[208] Tsai, T.-C., Chao, P.-H., Zeng, W.-L. (2007) Selective naphthene cracking over cascade dual catalyst in heavy aromatics transalkylation. Editor(s): Ruren Xu, Zi Gao, Jiesheng Chen, Wenfu Yan. Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis. Elsevier. Volume 170. Pages 1611-1616. ISSN 0167-2991. ISBN 9780444530684. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2991(07)81038-X

[209] Chakinala, N., Chakinala, A.G. (2021) Process Design Strategies To Produce p-Xylene via Toluene Methylation: A Review. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2021, 60, 15, 5331-5351. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.1c00625

[210] Ashraf, M.T., Chebbi, R., Darwish, N.A. (2013) Process of p-Xylene Production by Highly Selective Methylation of Toluene. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 52, 38, 13730-13737. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie401156x

[211] Gutierrez, A., Castaño, P., Azkoiti, M.J., Bilbao, J., Arandes, J.M. (2011) Modelling product distribution of pyrolysis gasoline hydroprocessing on a Pt-Pd/HZSM-5 catalyst. Chemical Engineering Journal. Volumes 176-177. Pages 302-311. ISSN 1385-8947. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.cei.2011.04.061

[212] Pujadó, P.R., Moser, M. (2008). Catalytic reforming. In: Jones, D.S.J.S., Pujadó, P.R. (eds) Handbook of Petroleum Processing. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-2820-2_5

[213] Nova Chemicals (2016) Product risk profile - pygas (aromatic concentrate/c5). Available from: https://www.novachem.com/wp-content/uploads/AromaticConcentrateGrade1_RP_AMER_EN.pdf

[214] Niziolek, A.M., Onel, O., Floudas, C.A. (2016) Production of benzene, toluene, and xylenes from natural gas via methanol: Process synthesis and global optimization. Volume62, Issue5. Pages 1531-1556. https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.15144

[215] National Library of Medicine (2024) Compound Summary - Toluene. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/1140

[216] American Chemical Society (ACS) (2019) Molecule of the Week Archive - Toluene. Available from: https://www.acs.org/molecule-of-the-week/archive/t/toluene.html

[217] NIHS (1989) IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Some Organic Solvents, Resin Monomers and Related Compounds, Pigments and Occupational Exposures in Paint Manufacture and Painting. Lyon (FR): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1989. (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, No. 47.) Toluene. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK524840/</u>

[218] Ayuso, M., Navarro, P., Moya, C., Moreno, D., Palomar, J., García, J., Rodríguez, F. (2022) Extractive Distillation with Ionic Liquids To Separate Benzene, Toluene, and Xylene from Pyrolysis Gasoline: Process Design and Techno-Economic Comparison with the Morphylane Process. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2022, 61, 6, 2511–2523. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.1c04363

[219] Al-Khattaf, S.S., Ali, S.A., Osman, M.S., Aitani, A.M. (2015) Influence of toluene-tetramethylbenzene transalkylation on heavy aromatics conversion to xylenes. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry. Volume 21. Pages 1077-1088. ISSN 1226-086X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2014.05.018</u>

[220] Harris, K., Grim, R.G., Huang, Z., Tao, L. (2021) A comparative techno-economic analysis of renewable methanol synthesis from biomass and CO2: Opportunities and barriers to commercialization. Applied Energy. Volume 303. 117637. ISSN 0306-2619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.117637</u>

[221] Corbett, J.J., Winebrake, J.J. (2018) Lifecycle analysis of the use of methanol for marine transportation. Prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation Maritime Administration. Available from: <u>https://www.maritime.dot.gov/sites/marad.dot.gov/files/docs/innovation/meta/11056/marine-methanol-report-</u>20180810final-002.pdf

[222] Ghavam, S., Vahdati, M., Wilson, I.A.G., Styring, P.(2021) Sustainable Ammonia Production Processes. Front. Energy Res. Sec. Hydrogen Storage and Production. Volume 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2021.580808

[223] Pattabathula V., Richardson, J. (2016) Introduction to Ammonia Production. American Institute of Chemical Engineers (AUCHE). Available from: <u>https://www.aiche.org/resources/publications/cep/2016/september/introduction-ammonia-production</u>

[224] IEA (2021) Ammonia Technology Roadmap Towards more sustainable nitrogen fertiliser production. Available from: https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/6ee41bb9-8e81-4b64-8701-2acc064ff6e4/AmmoniaTechnologyRoadmap.pdf

[225] IEA (2011) Coal Conversion and CO₂ Utilization. China Coal Research Institute presentation. Available from: <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/imports/events/90/15_Shihua.pdf</u>

[226] Huang, W.-y. (2007) Impact of Rising Natural Gas Prices on U.S. Ammonia Supply. A Report from the Economic Research Service. United States Department of Agriculture. Approved by USDA's World.Agricultural Outlook Board. Available from:

https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/outlooks/40459/11717 wrs0702 1 .pdf?v=389#:~:text=Natural%20gas%20is%20t he%20primary.produce%201%20ton%20of%20ammonia.

[227] Meng F, Wagner A, Kremer AB, Kanazawa D, Leung JJ, Goult P, Guan M, Herrmann S, Speelman E, Sauter P, Lingeswaran S, Stuchtey MM, Hansen K, Masanet E, Serrenho AC, Ishii N, Kikuchi Y, Cullen JM. Planet compatible pathways for transitioning the chemical industry (2023). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (PNAS), 120 (8), e2218294120

[228] Masnadi, M.S., El-Houjeiri, H.M., Schunack, D., Li, Y., Englander, J.G., Badahdah, A., Monfort, J.C., Anderson, James E., Wallington, Timothy J., Bergerson, Joule A., Gordon, Deborah, Koomey, Jonathan, Przesmitzki, Steven, Azevedo, Inês L., Bi, Xiaotao T., Duffy, James E., Heath, Garvin A., Keoleian, Gregory A., McGlade, Christophe, Meehan, D. Nathan, Yeh, Sonia, You, Fengqi, Wang, Michael, and Brandt, Adam R. (2018) Global carbon intensity of crude oil production. Science. Vol 361, Issue 6405. pp. 851-853. doi:10.1126/science.aar6859.

[229] Masnadi, M.S., El-Houjeiri, H.M., Schunack, D. et al. Well-to-refinery emissions and net-energy analysis of China's crude-oil supply. Nat Energy 3, 220–226 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0090-7</u>

[230] Jing, L., El-Houjeiri, H.M., Monfort, JC. et al. (2020) Carbon intensity of global crude oil refining and mitigation potential. Nat. Clim. Chang. 10, 526–532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0775-3</u>

[231] NOIA (National Ocean Industries Association) (2023) GHG Emission Intensity of Crude Oil and Condensate Production. Available from: <u>https://www.noia.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/NOIA-Study-GHG-Emission-Intensity-of-Crude-Oil-and-Condensate-Production.pdf</u>
[232] IEA (2023), Emissions from Oil and Gas Operations in Net Zero Transitions, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/emissions-from-oil-and-gas-operations-in-net-zero-transitions, Licence: CC BY 4.0

[233] Wang, S., Tang, X., Wang, J., Zhang, B., Sun, W., Höök, M. (2021) Environmental impacts from conventional and shale gas and oil development in China considering regional differences and well depth. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. Volume 167. 105368. ISSN 0921-3449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105368</u>

[234] EPA (223) Understanding greenhouse gas emissions from natural gas — EPA 2023 inventory (1990–2021). Available from: <u>https://www.aga.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/AGA-Report_Understanding-GHG-Emssions-from-Natural-Gas_2023.pdf</u>

[235] Stephenson, T., Valle, J.E., Riera-Palou, X. (2011) Modeling the Relative GHG Emissions of Conventional and Shale Gas Production. Environmental Science & Technology 2011 45 (24), 10757-10764. DOI: 10.1021/es2024115

[236] Nie, Y., Zhang, S., Liu, E., Roda-Stuart, D.J., Ravikumar, A.P., Bradley, A., Masnadi, M.S., Brandt, A.R., Bergerson, J., Bi, X.T. (2020) Greenhouse-gas emissions of Canadian liquefied natural gas for use in China: Comparison and synthesis of three independent life cycle assessments. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 258. 120701. ISSN 0959-6526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120701

[237] Ivanova, S., Vesnina, A., Fotina, N., Prosekov, A. (2022) An Overview of Carbon Footprint of Coal Mining to Curtail Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Sustainability 2022, 14(22), 15135; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215135</u>

[238] Sasan Power Limited (2010) Greenhouse gas emissions for coal mine. Sasan Coal Mine Report. Available from: <u>https://www.banktrack.org/download/green_house_gas_emissions_for_coal_mine/110608_sasan_mine_ghg_study_0.pd</u> <u>f</u>

[239] Fiehn, A., Kostinek, J., Eckl, M., et al. (2020) Estimating CH4, CO2 and CO emissions from coal mining and industrial activities in the Upper Silesian Coal Basin using an aircraft-based mass balance approach. Volume 20, issue 21. ACP, 20, 12675–12695, 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-20-12675-2020</u>

[240] WNA (World Nuclear Association) (2023) Heat Values of Various Fuels. Available from: <u>https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/facts-and-figures/heat-values-of-various-fuels.aspx</u>

[241] IEA (2024a) Global Methane Tracker 2023. Available from: https://www.iea.org/reports/global-methane-tracker-2023

[242] IEA (2023b) World Energy Outlook 2023. Available from: <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/86ede39e-4436-42d7-ba2a-edf61467e070/WorldEnergyOutlook2023.pdf</u>

[243] IEA (2024b) Transport. Available from: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport

[244] WRI (World Resources Institute) (2022) World Greenhouse Gas Emissions: 2019. Available from: www.wri.org/data/world-greenhouse-gas-emissions-2019

[245] IEA (2024) Iron & Steel. Available from: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/industry/steel

[246] IEA (2023a) Cement. Available from: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/industry/cement

[247] IEA (2018) The Future of Petrochemicals, IEA, Paris. License: CC BY 4.0. Available from: <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-petrochemicals</u>

[248] Michaux, S. (2019) Oil from a critical raw material perspective. Geological Survey of Finland. http://tupa.gtk.fi/raportti/arkisto/70_2019.pdf

[249] Statista (2023e) Oil demand for plastics production worldwide in 2019, 2050, and 2060. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/664933/oil-demand-plastics-production-globally/</u>

[250] Schyns, Z.O.G., Shaver, M.P. (2021) Mechanical Recycling of Packaging Plastics: A Review. Macromol. Rapid Commun.2021, 42, 2000415. Special Issue: Polymers for a Sustainable Future.

[251] Rahimi, A., García, J. (2017) Chemical recycling of waste plastics for new materials production. Nat Rev Chem 1, 0046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-017-0046</u>

[252] Elduque, A., Elduque, D., Pina, C., Clavería, I., Javierre, C. (2018) Electricity Consumption Estimation of the Polymer Material Injection-Molding Manufacturing Process: Empirical Model and Application. Materials, 11, 1740. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma11091740

[253] Matarrese, P., Fontana, A., Sorlini, M., Diviani, L., Specht, I., Maggi, A. (2017) Estimating energy consumption of injection moulding for environmental-driven mould design. Journal of Cleaner Production. Volume 168, Pages 1505-1512, ISSN 0959-6526, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.07.144

[254] Abhyankar, N., PMohanty, P., Deorah, S.M., Karali, N., Paliwal, U., Kersey, J., Phadke, A.A. (2023) Pathways to Atmanirbhar Bharat: Harnessing India's Renewable Edge for Cost-Effective Energy Independence by 2047. LBNL report. Available from: <u>https://eta-publications.lbl.gov/publications/pathways-atmanirbhar-bharat</u>

[255] Keoleian, G., Miller, S., De Kleine, R., Fang, A., Mosley, J. (2012) Life Cycle Material Data Update for GREET Model. A report of the Center for Sustainable Systems. Report No. CSS12-12.

[256] Renewable Carbon Initiative (2024) Products made from crude oil have a significantly higher CO2 footprint than previously assumed. Renewable Carbon Initiative, original text, 2024-02-22. Available from: <u>https://renewable-carbon.eu/news/products-made-from-crude-oil-have-a-significantly-higher-co2-footprint-than-previously-assumed/</u>

[257] Ecoinvent Version 3.10. Available from: https://support.ecoinvent.org/ecoinvent-version-3.10

Climate Impact of Primary Plastic Production

Nihan Karali, Nina Khanna, Nihar Shah

Sustainable Energy and Environmental Systems Department Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDICES

Appendix A

Data and assumptions







Figure A.1. Distribution of global finished plastic products in 2019, by polymer and application type.

Notes: LDPE = Low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = Linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = High-density polyethylene, PP = Polypropylene, PET = Polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = Polyvinyl chloride, PS = Polystyrene, SAN = Styrene Acrylonitrile, ABS = Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene, PU = Polyurethane. PET in chart includes polyester fibers in addition to films and other PET products used for packaging such as PET bottles. Source: [3]

Table A.1. Energy intensity of different product shaping processes assumed for plastic products in this analysis.

Product	Process type	Energy intensity (GJ/tonne)
LDPE	Injection molding	9.2

Climate Impact of Primary Plastic Production | 92

r		
	Blow molding	7.0
	Film extrusion	5.3
	Other extrusion	13.7
	Others	12.1
	Injection molding	9.2
	Rotational molding	21.2
	Film extrusion	4.7
	Others	12.9
	Injection molding	10.1
	Blow molding	8.0
HDPE	Film extrusion	4.1
	Other extrusion	13.7
	Others	12.1
	Injection molding	9.2
	Blow molding	7.0
PP	Extrusion	5.5
	Fiber	6.3
	Others	8.3
	Film	5.3
PET	Solid state (injection, blow molding, and extruding)	7.8
	Fiber	6.2
	Films and sheets	5.6
PVC	Pipes and fittings	8.6
1.00	Profiles and tubes	9.5
	Others	7.5
	GPPS	8.2
PS	HIPS	6.5
	EPS and XPS	6.8
	XPS	6.8
PS	ABS	4.8
SAN and ABS	Others	6.6
	Rigid foam	6.5
	Flexible foam	4.8
PUR	Flexible foam slabstuck	4.8
	Molded foam	7.2
	Elastomer	7.8
	Others	6.2

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, GPPS = general purpose polystyrene, HIPS = high impact polystyrene, EPS = expanded polystyrene, XPS = extruded polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane.

Source: [45,131,142-146,148,149,252,253]

Table A.2. S	hares of fuels	used in ma	nufacturing	of finished	plastic	products	by ma	nufacturing	type,	assumed in
this analysis	5									

Process type	Electricity	Heating Oil	Natural gas
Injection molding	81%	7%	13%
Blow molding	92%	3%	5%
Film extrusion	79%	15%	6%
Other extrusion	80%	11%	10%
Others	79%	6%	15%

Notes: Shares only represent fuels used for process energy for heat and electricity. "Other extrusion" include profile and sheet extrusion, monofilament extrusion, etc. "Others" include compression molding, thermoforming, fiber extrusion, and etc.

Source: [75,148]

Table A.3. Energy intensity of polymerization processes assumed for plastic polymers in this analysis.

Plastic product	Energy intensity (GJ/tonne)
LDPE	5.2
LLDPE	3.6
HDPE	3.25
PP	3.7
PET	3.5
PET with solid state	3.9
PVC-suspension	3.4
PVC-emulsion	8.4
PVC-bulk	Assumed same as suspension PVC
GPPS	2.5
HIPS	2.7
EPS	2.9
XPS	Assumed same as HIPS
Other PS	Assumed same as HIPS
SAN	Assumed same as ABS
ABS	3.5
PUR	1.5
Polybutadiene	5.1

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, GPPS = general purpose polystyrene, HIPS = high impact polystyrene, EPS = expanded polystyrene, XPS = extruded polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane. Source: [49-55]

Table A.4. Type of fuels used in polymerization by polymer type, assumed in this analysis (UPDATE)

Plastic product	Electricity	Heating Oil	Natural gas
PE	100%		
PP	100%		

PET	10%	45%	45%
PVC-suspension	29%	71%	
PVC-emulsion	19%	81%	
PVC	36%	64%	
GPPS	59%	41%	0%
HIPS	36%	64%	0%
ABS	57%	16%	27%
Other PS	25%	51%	25%
PUR	100%		
Polybutadiene	13%	43%	43%

Notes: LDPE = low-density polyethylene, LLDPE = linear low-density polyethylene, HDPE = high-density polyethylene, PP = polypropylene, PET = polyethylene terephthalate, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, PS = polystyrene, GPPS = general purpose polystyrene, HIPS = high impact polystyrene, EPS = expanded polystyrene, XPS = extruded polystyrene, SAN = styrene acrylonitrile, ABS = acrylonitrile butadiene styrene, PU = polyurethane. Source: [31,46,52,110]

Table A.5. Type of fuels used in VCM and chlorine production, assumed in this analysis

	Electricity	Heating oil	Natural gas
VCM	33%	1%	66%
Chlorine	100%		

Notes: VCM = *vinyl chloride monomer. Source:* [49,98]

Table A.6. Process yields, energy consumption, and fugitive emissions from other light hydrocarbons and distillate fuel oils-based steam cracking

"Gas mix" based steam cracking		
	Literature range	This study
Ethylene (Yield (%))	37-46.5%	42.5%
Propylene (Yield (%))	12.5-19%	17.0%
Butadiene (Yield (%))	1.8-4.8%	3.3%
Benzene (Yield (%))	2.4-3%	2.7%
Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC)	16-19.2 GJ/tonne HVC	17.6 GJ/tonne HVC
Fugitive CH4 emissions (tCO2eq./t HVC)	0.09tCO2eq./t HVC	0.09 tCO2eq./t HVC
VGO-based steam cracking		
	Literature range	This study
Ethylene (Yield (%))	25-28%	26.5%
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%))	25-28% 14%	26.5% 14.0%
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%)) Butadiene (Yield (%))	25-28% 14% 5-5.8%	26.5% 14.0% 5.4%
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%)) Butadiene (Yield (%)) Benzene (Yield (%))	25-28% 14% 5-5.8% 5-5.5%	26.5% 14.0% 5.4% 5.3%
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%)) Butadiene (Yield (%)) Benzene (Yield (%)) P-xylene (Yield (%))	25-28% 14% 5-5.8% 5-5.5% .8%	26.5% 14.0% 5.4% 5.3% 0.8%
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%)) Butadiene (Yield (%)) Benzene (Yield (%)) P-xylene (Yield (%)) Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC)	25-28% 14% 5-5.8% 5-5.5% .8% 12-20.1 GJ/tonne HVC	26.5% 14.0% 5.4% 5.3% 0.8% 16.1 GJ/tonne HVC from VGO
Ethylene (Yield (%)) Propylene (Yield (%)) Butadiene (Yield (%)) Benzene (Yield (%)) P-xylene (Yield (%)) Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC) Energy consumption (GJ/tonne HVC)	25-28% 14% 5-5.8% 5-5.5% .8% 12-20.1 GJ/tonne HVC 12-20.1 GJ/tonne HVC	26.5% 14.0% 5.4% 5.3% 0.8% 16.1 GJ/tonne HVC from VGO 18.2 GJ/tonne HVC from HCTO

Notes: Yields are on mass basis. Please see Appendix Table A.6 for other hydrocarbon-based steam cracking data. Source: [38-41,49,54,114,158,165-171]

	Electricity	Residual oil/VGO/Heating	Natural gas	Coal
Steam cracking of light	2%	98%	0%	
Steam cracking of ethane	3%	0%	97%	
Steam cracking of Gas mix	3%	58%	39%	
Steam cracking of VGO and HCTO	2%	98%	0%	
МТО	23%	0%	77%	
СМТО	23%	0%	0%	77%

Table A.7. Shares of fuels used in steam cracking process, assumed in this analysis

Notes: VGO = *Vacuum gas oil, HCTO* = *hydro cracking tail oil, MTO* = *methanol to olefin, CMTO* = *coal-based methanol to olefin. Source:* [40,48,157,180]

 Table A.8. Type of fuels used in petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in this analysis

	Electricity	Residual oil/VGO/heating oil	Natural gas	Refinery gas	Petroleum coke	Offsite steam
Petroleum refinery	4.5%	1.4%	26.0%	51.6%	12.7%	3.8%
Natural gas processing plant	61.4%	3.4%	35.2%			

Source: [41,167,178,193,194]

Table A.9. Distribution of GHG emissions from global petroleum refineries and natural gas processing plants assumed in the analysis

	Fuel combustion (%)	Process emission (%)		
	CO ₂	CO ₂	CH ₄	N ₂ O
Refinery emissions for production of Light and Heavy Naphtha, Gas mix, VGO, HCTO	87.0%	12.2%	0.5%	0.3%
Refinery emissions for FCC process	71.3%	27.9%	0.5%	0.3%
Natural gas processing emissions for production of ethane and gas mix	91.0%		9.0%	

Notes: VGO = *Vacuum gas oil, HCTO* = *hydro cracking tail oil, FCC* = *fluid catalytic cracking. Source:* [41,148,200,202,207]

Table A.10. Methanol production conversion efficiency by feedstock assumed in this analysis

	Natural gas	Coal	Coke gas
Process conversion efficiency	71%	55%	55%

Source: [179,221]

Table A.11. Emission factors by fuel type assumed in this analysis

Emission factor (kgCO ₂ /GJ)
--

Coal	94.6
Gas	56.1
Oil (gas, diesel, other)	73.3
Refinery gas	57.6
Petroleum coke	97.5
Coke oven gas	52.6
Residual fuel oil	77
Gasoline	69
Electricity	128
Offsite steam	56.1

Notes: Emission factor for "Electricity" presents the CO_2 emission intensity of the power grid in 2022. Source: [242,254]



Figure A.2. Plastic demand between 2019 and 2050 per polymer type, assumed in the 2.5% annual growth scenario.

Source: [3].



Figure A.3. CO₂ intensity of electricity generation between 2019 and 2050 under decarbonized grid assumed in this analysis.

Source: CO₂ emissions intensity trend in this chart are based on IEA's projections for Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS) [242].

Appendix **B**

Detailed plastic results

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	20.9	149.9	17.8
->Injection molding	1.4	12.9	1.5
->Blow molding	0.4	2.7	0.3
->Film extrusion	14.6	77.2	9.2
->Other extrusion	2.0	27.1	3.2
->Others	2.5	30.1	3.5
Polymerization	21.1	110.0	12.7
->LDPE polymer	21.1	110.0	12.7
Monomer production	21.5	368.2	28.2
->Ethylene production	21.5	368.2	28.2
->from SC of Light Naphtha	7.7	142.5	11.8
->from SC of Ethane	8.4	142.8	9.8
->from SC of Gas mix	3.4	60.6	4.6
->from SC of HCTO	0.1	2.1	0.2
->from SC of VGO	1.1	17.9	1.5
->from MTO of methanol	0.8	2.3	0.3
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	22.4	76.5	7.5

->Light naphtha production	7.3	17.2	1.3
->Ethane production	10.2	43.5	4.9
->Gas mix production	3.5	10.9	1.0
->HCTO production	0.4	1.6	0.1
-> <u>VGO</u> production	1.1	3.3	0.2
Other chemicals production	3.8	134.2	12.1
->Methanol production	3.8	134.2	12.1
Extraction and/or mining	39.8		20.2
->Crude oil production	16.1		7.4
->Feedstock	10.8		5.0
->Energy	5.2		2.4
-> <u>Natural gas</u> production	17.6		11.7
->Feedstock	12.9	IN.A	8.5
->Energy	4.7		3.1
-> <u>Coal</u> production	6.2		1.2
->Feedstock	3.37		0.64
->Energy	2.8		0.5

Table A.13. Details of global LLDPE production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	31.3	238.4	28.9
->Injection molding	3.9	36.0	4.3
->Rotational molding	3.9	83.1	10.5
->Film extrusion	22.4	105.8	12.6
->Others	1.0	13.4	1.6
Polymerization	31.6	114.8	13.3
->LLDPE polymer	31.6	114.8	13.3
Monomer production	36.2	576.5	44.5
-> <u>Ethylene</u> production	33.3	570.6	43.7
->from SC of Light Naphtha	12.0	220.9	18.3
->from SC of Ethane	13.0	221.3	15.2
->from SC of Gas mix	5.3	93.8	7.1
->from SC of HCTO	0.2	3.2	0.3
->from SC of VGO	1.7	27.8	2.3
->from MTO of methanol	1.2	3.6	0.4
-> <u>LAO</u> production	2.8	5.9	0.8
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	34.7	118.5	11.7
->Light naphtha production	11.3	26.7	2.0
-> <u>Ethane</u> production	15.8	67.4	7.6
->Gas mix production	5.4	16.9	1.5
-> <u>HCTO</u> production	0.6	2.5	0.2
-> <u>VGO</u> production	1.7	5.1	0.4
Other chemicals production	5.9	208.0	18.7

->Methanol production	5.9	208.0	18.7
Extraction and/or mining	61.5		31.2
->Crude oil production	24.8	-	11.4
->Feedstock	16.8		7.7
->Energy	8.0		3.7
-> <u>Natural gas</u> production	27.1	N.A	18.0
->Feedstock	19.9		13.2
->Energy	7.2		4.8
-> <u>Coal</u> production	9.6		1.8
->Feedstock	5.2		0.99
->Energy	4.3		0.8

Table A.14. Details of global HDPE production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	51.2	447.1	53.7
->Injection molding	9.3	93.8	11.1
->Blow molding	12.5	99.9	12.6
->Film extrusion	14.3	58.7	7.0
->Other extrusion	7.7	105.1	12.4
->Others	7.4	89.6	10.5
Polymerization	51.7	168.0	19.5
->HDPE polymer	51.7	168.0	19.5
Monomer production	54.2	915.7	68.3
->Ethylene production	53.4	914.1	68.1
->from SC of Naphtha	19.2	353.8	28.1
->from SC of Ethane	20.8	354.5	24.4
->from SC of Gas mix	8.5	150.3	11.0
->from SC of HCTO	0.3	5.2	0.4
->from SC of VGO	2.7	44.5	3.6
->from MTO of methanol	1.9	5.8	0.5
->LAO production	0.8	1.6	0.2
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	55.7	189.9	18.8
->Light naphtha	18.1	42.7	3.2
-> <u>Ethane</u>	25.3	107.9	12.2
-> <u>Gas mix</u>	8.7	27.1	2.4
-> <u>HCTO</u>	0.9	4.1	0.3
-> <u>VGO</u>	2.7	8.1	0.6
Other chemicals production	9.5	333.2	29.9
->Methanol	9.5	333.2	29.9
Extraction and/or mining	98.8		50.2
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	39.7		18.2

->Feedstock	26.9	12.3
->Energy	12.7	5.8
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	43.9	29.1
->Feedstock	31.9	21.2
->Energy	11.9	7.9
-> <u>Coal</u>	15.3	2.9
->Feedstock	8.37	1.59
->Energy	6.9	1.3

Table A.15. Details of global PP production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	74.8	583.3	69.5
->Injection molding	28.5	263.0	31.2
->Blow molding	10.3	72.0	9.1
->Extrusion	8.0	44.1	5.2
->Fiber	14.1	89.6	10.6
->Others	13.9	114.6	13.4
Polymerization	75.6	282.0	37.2
->PP polymer	75.6	282.0	37.2
Monomer production	88.5	1,162.1	95.4
->Propylene production	85.2	1105.8	91.2
->from SC	41.3	675.3	53.1
->from FCC	29.3	272.6	20.3
->from PDH	8.5	114.3	11.9
->from MTO/MTP of methanol	3.9	28.6	3.9
->from Others (e.g.,Metathesis and Superflex)	2.3	15.0	2.0
->Other Olefins production	3.3	56.3	4.2
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	75.1	217.6	22.5
->Light naphtha	20.9	49.2	3.9
-> <u>Ethane</u>	1.6	6.7	0.8
-> <u>Gas mix</u>	20.2	63.0	10.3
-> <u>HCTO</u>	0.1	0.3	0.0
-> <u>VGO</u>	32.4	98.5	7.5
Other chemicals production	18.0	628.5	56.0
-> <u>Methanol</u>	18.0	628.5	56.0
Extraction and/or mining	125.3	-	54.2
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	73.6		33.7
->Feedstock	65.4		30.0
->Energy	8.1] IN.A	3.7
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	22.6]	15.0

->Feedstock	15.6	10.4
->Energy	6.9	4.6
-> <u>Coal</u>	29.1	5.5
->Feedstock	15.80	3.00
->Energy	13.3	2.5

 Table A.16. Details of global PET production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019
 Percentage

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	71.7	477.6	56.0
->Film	1.6	8.3	1.0
->Solid state	21.4	166.7	19.5
->Fiber	48.8	302.5	35.5
Polymerization	72.4	261.7	18.7
-> <u>PET polymer</u>	72.4	261.7	18.7
Monomer production	102.9	883.4	66.9
-> <u>PTA</u> production	61.6	456.7	30.6
-> <u>EG</u> production	25.4	153.2	10.8
-> <u>Ethylene</u> production	16.0	273.5	25.6
->Pygas production	289.9	2,348.5	180.9
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	64.4	105.9	92.2
-> <u>P-xylene</u>	48.2	807.0	52.9
-> <u>Toluene</u>	34.6	105.9	6.7
->Naphtha (light+heavy)	121.0	181.0	22.4
->Ethane	7.6	32.3	3.5
-> <u>Gas mix</u>	2.6	8.1	0.7
-> <u>HCTO</u>	0.3	1.2	0.1
-> <u>VGO</u>	11.3	34.4	2.4
Other chemicals production	12.8	338.0	30.5
-> <u>Acetic acid</u>	3.3	7.1	0.8
->Methanol	9.5	330.9	29.7
Extraction and/or mining	237.6		111.6
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	189.9		87.0
->Feedstock	134.2		61.5
->Energy	55.7		25.5
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	32.6	NI/A	21.6
->Feedstock	12.2	N/A 8.1	8.1
->Energy	20.4		13.5
-> <u>Coal</u>	15.1]	2.9
->Feedstock	8.32]	1.62
->Energy	6.8		1.3

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	48.5	387.9	46.5
->Film and sheets	8.5	47.6	5.7
->Pipes and fittings	21.8	188.2	22.6
->Profiles and tubes	7.8	74.0	8.8
->Others	10.4	78.1	9.4
Polymerization	49.0	189.5	18.2
->PVC polymer	49.0	189.5	18.2
Monomer production	78.0	954.3	75.1
-> <u>VCM</u> production	53.4	533.6	43.8
->Ethylene production	24.6	420.7	31.3
->from SC of Light Naphtha	8.8	162.9	12.9
->from SC of Ethane	9.6	163.1	11.2
->from SC of Gas	3.9	69.2	5.1
->from SC of HCTO	0.1	2.4	0.2
->from SC of VGO	1.2	20.5	1.6
->from MTO of methanol	0.9	2.7	0.2
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	25.6	87.4	8.4
->Light naphtha production	8.3	19.7	1.5
->Ethane production	11.6	49.7	5.6
->Gas mix production	4.0	12.5	0.9
-> <u>HCTO</u> production	0.4	1.9	0.1
-> <u>VGO</u> production	1.2	3.7	0.3
Other chemicals production	84.5	448.2	52.7
-> <u>Chlorine</u>	26.7	294.9	38.9
-> <u>Methanol</u>	4.4	153.3	13.8
Extraction and/or mining	53.2		30.4
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	23.6		10.8
->Feedstock	12.4		5.7
->Energy	11.2		5.1
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	22.6		18.3
->Feedstock	9.7		9.7
->Energy	12.9	1	8.5
-> <u>Coal</u>	7.0	1	1.3
->Feedstock	3.85	1	0.73
->Energy	3.2	1	0.6

Table A.17. Details of global PVC production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	20.6	141.3	17.0
->GPPS	2.7	21.8	2.6
->HIPS	7.2	46.9	5.6
->EPS	7.4	50.4	6.1
->XPS	2.1	14.0	1.7
->Others	1.2	8.1	1.0
Polymerization	20.9	60.4	7.3
-> <u>PS polymer</u>	20.8	57.2	7.0
Monomer production	0.2	3.2	0.2
-> <u>Styrene</u> production	60.1	545.3	41.0
-> <u>Ethylene</u> production	23.8	228.1	18.0
->Benzene production	11.9	203.6	15.2
-> <u>Pygas</u> production	24.3	110.4	7.6
->Butadiene production	0.2	3.2	0.2
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	56.9	362.6	28.9
-> <u>Naphtha</u> production	14.9	273.3	21.4
-> <u>Toluene</u> production	31.1	48.7	3.6
->Ethane production	2.6	7.8	0.5
-> <u>Gas mix</u> production	5.6	24.0	2.7
-> <u>HCTO</u> production	1.9	6.0	0.4
-> <u>VGO</u> production	0.2	0.9	0.1
Other chemicals production	0.6	1.8	0.1
->Methanol	2.1	74.2	6.7
Extraction and/or mining	2.1		6.7
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	64.0		31.0
->Feedstock	49.9		22.9
->Energy	33.0		15.1
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	16.8	74.2	7.7
->Feedstock	11.4	N/A	7.5
->Energy	7.2		4.7
-> <u>Coal</u>	4.2		2.8
->Feedstock	2.7		0.7
->Energy	1.17		0.38

Table A.18. Details	s of global PS production	n and associated energy	demand and GHG emissi	ons in 2019

Table A.19. Details of global SAN and ABS production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO ₂ e)
Product shaping	8.9	42.5	5.0
->SAN, ABS	8.9	42.5	5.0

Polymerization	10.8	65.8	6.5
->SAN, ABS polymer	9.0	31.7	4.0
Polybutadiene production	1.8	34.1	2.5
Monomer production	18.4	165.8	12.3
-> <u>Styrene</u> production	4.9	46.8	3.7
->Ethylene production	2.4	41.8	3.1
->Benzene production	5.0	22.7	1.6
-> <u>Pygas</u> production	1.8	33.3	2.4
->Butadiene production	2.1	2.3	0.3
->Acrylonitrile production	2.2	18.9	1.4
->Propylene production	46.8	85.1	6.7
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	3.1	56.1	4.4
-> <u>Naphtha</u> production	40.0	15.9	1.2
-> <u>Toluene</u> production	0.5	1.6	0.1
->Ethane production	1.2	4.9	0.5
-> <u>Gas mix</u> production	1.6	5.0	0.3
->HCTO production	0.0	0.2	0.0
-> <u>VGO</u> production	0.5	1.5	0.1
Other chemicals production	2.0	43.4	3.5
->Methanol production	0.4	15.2	1.4
->Ammonia production	1.6	28.2	2.1
Extraction and/or mining	22.1	N/A	10.5
-> <u>Crude oil</u>	15.6		7.1
->Feedstock	10.4		4.7
->Energy	5.2		2.4
-> <u>Natural gas</u>	4.5		3.0
->Feedstock	2.7		1.8
->Energy	1.8		1.2
-> <u>Coal</u>	2.0		0.4
->Feedstock	1.09		0.21
->Energy	0.9		0.2

Table A.20. Details of global PU production and associated energy demand and GHG emissions in 2019

	Demand (Mt)	Energy consumption (PJ)	GHG Emissions (MtCO2e)
Product shaping	19.18	115.7	13.6
Rigid foam	4.80	31.4	3.4
Flexible foam slabstuck	5.95	28.2	4.2
Molded foam	2.11	15.2	1.5
Elastomer	1.15	8.8	0.8
Others	5.18	32	3.7
Polymerization	28.9	200.2	16.4
PU polymer	19.4	29.7	5.3

Polyol polymer	9.6	170.5	11.1
Monomer production	36.4	381.2	28.0
MDI production	6.0	25.1	1.9
Pure MDI production	2.3	9.6	0.7
TDI production	2.4	27.0	1.6
Benzene production	6.2	10.0	0.7
PO production	7.9	203.6	14.3
EO production	1.0	10.2	0.6
Propylene production	6.0	52.4	3.9
Ethylene production	2.0	34.6	3.3
Ethylbenzene production	2.5	8.6	1.0
Hydrocarbon refining and processing	20.7	97.3	7.6
Pygas production	3.8	62.0	4.8
Naphtha production	14.0	25.5	1.9
Toluene production	1.4	4.3	0.3
Ethane production	1.0	4.1	0.5
Gas mix production	0.3	1.0	0.1
HCTO production	0.0	0.2	0.0
VGO production	0.1	0.3	0.0
Other chemicals production	25.2	298.6	29.8
Formaldehyde production	2	15.0	1.2
Aniline production	4.4	8.2	0.7
Phosgene production	7.1	3.4	0.2
Nitric acid production	1.3	2.1	0.2
Methanol production	2.1	62.5	5.6
Ammonia production	1.5	27.0	2.0
Chlorine production	8	88.6	11.7
CO production	1.9	59.7	3.9
Hydrogen peroxide production	0.6	32.0	4.2
Extraction and/or mining	36.8		17.8
Crude oil	22.0		10.1
Feedstock	14.4		6.6
Energy	7.7		3.5
Natural gas	10.3	N/A 6.9	6.9
Feedstock	2.6		1.7
Energy	7.8		5.2
Coal	4.4		0.8
Feedstock	2.6]	0.5
Energy	1.8		0.3

Energy consumption of primary plastic production estimated in this study

This section compares our estimates of energy consumption for primary plastic production with selected studies in the literature. Our energy demand results for some primary plastics (including feedstock and process energy) are close to some analyzes in the literature, while others are significantly different (Table 17). However, most of these analyzes are not direct points of comparison. For example, although analysis boundary of Nicholson et al. [46] is similar to ours, their energy results include different items, for example, energy for electricity generation and transportation. Our energy consumption estimates represent final energy and do not include transportation of intermediate products between facilities. Plastics Europe [98] and Marczak [149] provides energy consumption for resin, which is the energy combusted up until polymer production and does not include product shaping. Product shaping processes would bring about an additional 4-21 GJ/tonne product, depending on the process and polymer type.

As can be seen from Table 17, none of the analyses listed has a global scope, but they represent production in a particular region (namely, US and Europe). As mentioned earlier in the report, a production route that is indicative of a primary plastic polymer production in a particular region may not be representative of other regions. For example, ethane-based steam cracking in the U.S. versus naphtha-based steam cracking in Europe will have very different emission factors despite producing the same monomers and polymers. Nicholson et al. [46] and Keoleian et al. [255] focused exclusively on US manufacturing, which is mostly based on steam cracking of ethane for ethylene production. Similarly, Plastics Europe [98] and Marczak [149] represented Europe, which mainly uses steam cracking of naphtha for ethylene production, in their analysis. In addition, none of these analyses consider MTO as a production process for ethylene (so for PEs), which has significantly higher total production chain energy consumption and emissions compared to steam cracking-based production processes. Similarly, none of these analyses include PDH, MTO, MTP, and other propylene production routes for PP production in their energy consumption estimates.

Additionally, there is not enough transparency regarding production processes and materials in the existing literature. Some products may be considered as by-products of other materials' production streams. For example, we notice that pygas (a hydrocarbon used for heavily for PET, and PS production) is often called a by-product of steam cracking process for ethylene production in most of the literature. If we remove the energy consumption associated with pygas from our analysis, the energy intensity levels of PET and PS drop to levels much closer to those presented in Table 17. Similarly, some of these literature does not discuss any toluene-based p-xylene production in their background information.

This is in line with recent discussions about the need to re-examine the carbon footprint of products made from fossil fuels, including plastics [256]. Discussions are based on the latest updates from Ecoinvent and Plastic Europe.²² The latest version of Ecoinvent improves data presentation and transparency for essential chemical precursors and their derivatives, such as ethylene, propylene, butadiene, benzene, toluene, and xylenes, ethylene oxide, and ethylene glycol, in terms of technological and geographical coverage. Plastics Europe [98] statistics in

²² Ecoinvent is a sectoral database. Ecoinvent Version 3.10 is the newest version (March 12, 2024). Industry database for plastics production for European conditions was provided by Plastics Europe to Ecoinvent [257].

Table 17 are based on chemical representations in previous versions and do not include the latest updates.

	Energy demand (for both feedstock and fuel)
	GJ/tonne LDPE
Our analysis - Global	97.4 (for product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	82-97 (for product)*
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	94.8 (product)
Marczak [149] - EU	64.6-92 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	81.5 (resin)
	GJ/tonne LLDPE
Our analysis – Global	99.1 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	79-91 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	86.1 (product)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	78.3 (resin)
	GJ/tonne HDPE
Our analysis - Global	98 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	73-80 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	89.5 (product)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	79.3 (resin)
	GJ/tonne PP
Our analysis - Global	92.2 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	92-96 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	89.1 (product)
Marczak [149] - EU	64-111.5 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	77.9 (resin)
Russo et al. [44] – EU	85.2 (resin)
	GJ/tonne PET
Our analysis - Global	154.2 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	107-125 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	78.5 (product)
Marczak [149] - EU	109.2-115.2 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	71.2 (resin)
	GJ/tonne PVC
Our analysis - Global	65.7 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	70-72 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	63.4 (product)
Marczak [149] - EU	52.4-79.5 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	57.8-61.1 (resin)

Table A.21. Comparison of energy demand of our analysis with literature

	GJ/tonne PS
Our analysis - Global	147.7 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	74-86 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	88.6-89.4 (resin)
Marczak [149] - EU	70.8–118 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	82.8-84.2(resin)
	GJ/tonne ABS
Our analysis - Global	114.3 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] - US	90 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	112.4 (product)
Plastics Europe [98] - EU	92.6 (resin)
	GJ/tonne PU
Our analysis – Global	99.7 (product)
Nicholson et al. [46] – US	64-153 (product)
Keoleian et al. [255] - US	74.7-79.9 (resin)
Russo et al. [43] – EU	82.4 (resin)
Plastics Europe [98] – EU	82.5-105.5 (resin)